


Sinister Sex Group Leader
Breaks His Silence In This
Exclusive Interview...

Recently I sat down with a man who B
taught me more about having sex with 2 s
attractive women in a couple hours than = .
all the "seduction masters" combined F s

have in the past 4 years. Let's call him

"Anton" - Anton does NOT have movie

is:'.tar good looks, a fat bank account, or
ame.

In fact he's in his 50's, his hair is grey
I(’I\.mrhat's left of it), and he routinely
angs out with people half his age.

When I first saw himoutataclub I
thought to myself "This guy must be a
real loser..." 1 couldn't have been more
wrong!
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Turn Extra Time Into
Extra Income!

Earn $5 138 an Hour

[Boyeronmbess

lets you

Sharpen Saws

garden and shop tools
for home and industry

Start Earning FAST—No Experience Necessary.

With SHARP-ALL it’s easy to start your own
business. No selling is involved, no inventory.
People bring in their work...you take in year
round CASH Profits and keep 90¢ out of every
dollar you earn. Work sparetime or fulltime
right at home in your garage, basement or tool
shed. Work the hours you want— FREE Book
tells how to start your own business even while
working at your regular job.

Big PROFITS In Sharpening.

Every home and business has saws and tools that need
periodic sharpening. There’s plenty of business waiting
for the man who can sharpen saws, planer knives, jointer
blades, wood chisels, scissors, pinking shears, snips, lawn-
mowers, axes and other garden, shop and home tools.
SHaRrP-ALL does ALL these jobs and more. .. quickly, and
at a big profit. You will be sharpening headquarters for
carpenters, builders, lumberyards, factories, home work-
shops and hobbyists...hundreds of jobs right in your
own neighborhood.

SEND FOR FREE FACTS TODAY!

You risk nothing by accepting this offer to see how easily you
can turn your spare time into Big CASH Profits with your own

Complete Sharpening Shop. Send coupon or _
mail postcard for full details on our exclusive

FREE Booklet gives full details— | §

Our Free Book tells

how to start a profit- Send for
able, lifetime home Bkl
sharpening business, RGN
how we helpyou grow, ELUEIIHN
how we’ll finance you.

Sharp-All

BELSAW SHARP-ALL Co.. 3851 Field Bidg., K.C., MO 64111
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Send for FREE Book “Lifetime Security. Do It Today!

ACT NOW!

Coupon
Brings
Full Details!

There is NO OBLIGATION and
NO SALESMAN Will Call!

No Obligation . .. No Salesman
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COMPLETE FISHING OUTFITS _imes

7 NATIONALLY ADVERTISED 1977 MODELS “W
4/ LOADED TACKLE BOX - 66 DEADLY LURES s

Everything you need to go fishing at once!

3 Expertly Balanced Rods and Reels
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t AUTOMATIC o ; s :

STAR DRAG . NATURAL BAIT LURES
SURE SHOT 'ACTION WITH SHRIMP,
MINNOWS, GRASSHOPPERS, MAYFLIES,
BUMBLEBEES, CRI LEECH

INSTRUCTION
BOOKLET
INCLUDED

MONEY BACK GUARANTEE!
NIRESK DISCOUNT SALES DEpT F7-9 ]

\ El NOTHiNG ELSE TO BUY! 210 S. DESPLAINES, CHICAGO, ILL. 60606 i
SELECTED FOR YOU BY EXPERTS. This choice fish-getting tackle, used by thousands 1 order T°g’y’ Ityou are not t‘lo?% pleased, we'll refund g
throughout the Unift?d and' Canada. Each itlerril csn;atully chosen—everything you | Your purchase price promptly: o
need for all types of fishi y-lures that are all time favorites. Aveteran angleroran "
occasional fisherman can d ot this precision=built kit, You can gofishing atonce. F FRee TACKLE BOX IS YOURS TO KEEP REGARDLESS.

Compare! You may not find gain like this anywhere.

LOOK! YOU GET EVERYTHIN %w& Super “88” Spincast Resl » Comet X3C Bait Cast -
-Reel ¢ Argosy Direct Drive ng * 5 fi. 2 pc. Fiber Glass Spin Cast Rod s 4 fi. Fiber Glass
Bait Cast Rod +.3% fN. Fiber Glass Trolling Rod + 88 proven Deadly Lures * 5 pc. Furnished 1. residents add 5% sales tax {7 Send C 0.D 1 enciose $2 depost. I
Line & Floating Tackie Box with removable trays « Fish Scaler » 28 pc. Popping Lure Kit » Dip Net,

Stringer, Split Shot, Clinicher Sinkers, Snap Swivsis, Assorted Hooks, Snelied Hooks, 3 Plastic | name
Floats; 8 — 3 way Swivels, 8 Snaps, 12 — 36" Leader Strands (8 Test), and complete instructions,

411 pieces in il o ADDRESS

Serving over )

NiRESk DISCOUNT SALES % Slatomans Jory STATE 2P

> - ’—M»-‘ ide,. TO CANADA $18.95—Includes postage and duty.
CHICAGO, itl. 60608 A division of ‘Robert: Kahn Enterprises, Inc. - . - . S G N -.- d—m— -

l YES! Please rush the 3 complete fishing outfits (411 pieces). l
| am enclosing $12.95 plus $2 for postage and handling l
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| Get in on the PROF!
in SMALL ENGINE 2
service and repair

. tart your own

In just a short time, you can be ready
to join one of the fastest growing indus-
tries in America...an industry where
qualified men are making from $10.00 to
$15.00 per hour...and that’s just for labor.
Parts, engines and accessories add even
more to the profits.

Because the small engine industry has
grown so quickly, an acute shortage of
qualified Small Engine Professionals exists
throughout the country. In fact, it’s not
unusual for a good small engine man to be
three to four weeks behind in the summer
and at least a week behind in the winter.
When you see how many small engines
are in use today, it’s easy to understand
why qualified men command such high
prices—as much as $17.50 for a simple
tune-up that takes less than an hour!

{/ PLUS
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HORSEPOWER
CLINTON ENGINE . ..

money

46-million small engines
‘are in service today!

That’s right—there are over forty-six
million 2-cycle and 4-cycle small engines
in service across the U.S.A. That’s the
official count from the Engine Service
Assn., and new engines are being built at
a rate of one-million per month! With
fully accredited and approved Belsaw
training, you can soon have the skill and
knowledge to make top money servicing
these engines. Homeowners and busi-
nessmen will seek you out and pay you
well to service and repair their lawn-
mowers, tillers, edgers, power rakes,
garden tractors, chain saws, mini-bikes,
go-carts, snowmobiles, generators, Snow-

most endless.

No experience necessary.

You don’t need to be a ‘born mechanic’
or have prior experience. If you can read,
you can master this profitable trade right
at home, in your sparetime, without miss-
ing a single paycheck. Lessons are fully
illustrated — so clear you can’t go wrong.

T T rupeee Send TODAY
equipment with your course
—and it's Yours to KEEP!

for this
fact-filled

FREE

BOOKLET!

.

Tells how you quickly
train to be your own boss
in a profitable Sparetime
or Fulltime business of
your own PLUS let

blowers, paint sprayers...the list is al-

Cash inon the
huge demand for
small engine repair.

Work part time, full time

& right at home- we help you

every step of the way.

You receive trade secrets
and business plans.

We guide you every step of the way,
including tested and proven instructions
on how to get business, what to charge,
how to get free advertising, where to get
supplies wholesale...all the “tricks of
the trade”. .. all the inside facts you need
to assure success right from the start.

Increased Income

“I've had about
8 years experi-
ence repairing
small engines . ..
but repairs were
only minor . ..un-
til 1 started the
Belsaw Course.”

Walter H. Strick
Campbell, California

With our famous ‘learn-by-doing’ train-
ing method, you get practical ‘hands-on’
experience with specialized tools and
equipment that you’ll receive with your
training plus a brand-new 4HP engine—
all yours to keep !

SEND FOR FREE FACTS!

You risk nothing by accepting this of-
fer to find out how Belsaw training can
give you the skills you need to increase
your income in a high-profit, recession-
proof business of your own.

Just fill in and mail coupon below (or
send postcard) to receive full information
and details by return mail. DO IT TODAY!

BELSAW INSTITUTE OF

SMALL ENGINE REPAIR
408B Field Bldg., Kansas City, MO. 64111

There is NO OBLIGATION and
NO SALESMAN Wil Cal—ever:
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BELSAW INSTITUTE, 4088 FIELD BUILDING
KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI 64111

[ YES, please send me the FREE booklet that *

0

Joriva,

and that no salesman will call.

gives full details about starting my own business i‘ril% -
Small Engine Repair. | understand there is no obligation

Address.

details on our 10-Day
NO RISK Trial Offer!




“The first thing | knew,” Mrs. Christl lsmair
told detectives about'her sexual encounter.
with the first choirboy, “he had his hand
under my skirt...He was very clever at it”

”W”W

In one of the most unusual scandals of the decade
incredulous probers had to consider two options:

APE: The sexual violation either
ttilr%ough force or through in-
imidation of a person, with

the victim usually being female.

Contributing to the Delinquency of a
Minor: The inciting or permitting of anil-
legal or immoral act on the part of a per-
son below the age of 18 by an adult.

Inspector Boris Krembayer, chief of
the Deggendorf Police Vice Squad, clos-
ed the regulations book and leaned back
in his swivel chair.

“And there,” he said, “you have it—
the official definitions. Now, was it rape
or was it contributing to the delinquency
‘of minors—or was it both?”

“‘Below the age of eighteen’ is a
stupid definition of a minor today,”
remarked his assistant, Sergeant Max
Borsen. “When you're teaching sex prac-
tice in the grade schools and when any
ten-year-old kid can lay his hands on
hard-core pornography at almost any
newsstand, what is an immoral act for a
seventeen-year-old?” .

“Granted,” said the inspector, settling
his square body a little deeper in the chair
and locking his stubby fingers behind his
massive, close-trimmed blond head.
“The definition is no longer relevant to-
day. However, that does not help us off
the hook. Relevant or not, rape and con-
tributing to the delinquency of a minor
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remain as offenses in the book and we
have one charge of each, the second, to be
sure, in seven instances, but, of course, all
identical.”

“I am not naive,” said the sergeant,
who actually looked very naive indeed,
with his large, innocent blue eyes and
very light blond hair parted on the side,
“but I do not see how she could possibly
have had intercourse with seven boys
simultaneously.”

“She must have been hard-pressed,
agreed the inspector. “There would
scarcely have been enough natural
orifices to go around. Still, young boys
like that are pretty quick on the trigger. I
don’t suppose that it really took very
much at all.’

“The whole thing seems fantastic,”
commented the sergeant, getting up and
going to the window to look down into
the town square of Deggendorf with the
flower boxes stretching along in front of
the late gothic town hall. “The cleaning
woman at a youth center, a Catholic boy’s
youth center of all things, and practically
the entire back row of the parish boys
choir. The people in Bodenmais find it
hard to believe, too.”

“Ah,” said the inspector, “but a young
cleaning woman, a twenty-six-year-old
cleaning woman, living on the premises
alone while her husband was away at

»

GANG
RAPE?
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you can actually hold in your hand!
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Space-age miniaturization makes the SL-2000 a miracle of
compact portability...but the only small thing about it is its size.

Take the SL-2000 along! Everyone who sees this radio says, “I've never seen anything fike it.”

But turn it on and the real excitement begins. You'll hear sound so big it's aimost
unbelievable coming from a radio so compact. You'll hear sound no other portable
this size can deliver. Except the SL-2000. it's years ahead of its time.

Here’s why. The receiver itself is a master-work of electronic miniaturization
designed to bring you drift-free AM radio programs from your favorite stations. It's
powered by a 9-volt battery (included) to play your favorite stations no matter
where you are. Golden oldies. Hard rock. Soothing background music. News
programs...sports...weather...talk shows. )

The handsome separate speaker enclosures have a matching look of walnut
finish with modern black grille cloth to look just like full-size stereo components.
Yet you can hold this go-anywhere twin speaker radio in the palm of your hand.

Hear it foryourself. See it for yourself. Send for yours today. Just mail the coupon
to receive your own SL-2000.

Credit Card ors call Toll Free 800/621-8318 lllinois residents call Toll Free 800/972-8308
q i p

FREE MYSTERY GIFT

We have made a special purchase

of quality merchandise—and with

each order received, we will send

you a bonus gift. We believe you

will be pleasantly surprised,
Enjoy sound as big as
the great outdoors no
matter where you go.

The SL-2000 travels
from room to room...
anywhere!
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Shown above with her 5-year-old daughter, Christl and husband
Siegfried (photo right) were caretakers of the new village
youth center. While her husband was away working during the

day, she sold refreshments at the center, but that wasn't the
reason the place became so popular with those eager choirboys

work the entire day in Regen. As for the boys, well, one is seven-
teen and the others are all fifteen and sixteen. By your own defini-
tion, made just a moment ago, these are scarcely minors.”

“Perhaps not,” said the sergeant glumly, coming back to his
desk, “but I must say Bodenmais has seen a lot of activity this year
for a place that size.”

This was very true. Bodenmais is a village in the Bavarian
Forest, only a stone’s throw from the West Germany border with
Czechoslovakia, and numbers no more than 3,500 inhabitants. It
is a beautiful place, located at the foot of Mount Arber, at 1,456
meters and highest peak in the Bavarian Forest, and was chosen
earlier in 1976 as the meeting place for the discussions between
US Secretary of State Henry Kissinger and South African
Premier John Vorster.

Mainly due to the efforts of Father Wilhelm Guentner, the
parish priest of Bodenmais, the large new youth center had been
created on the edge of the village. A modern building with alarge
library, game rooms, gym and auditorium, it had, of course, re-
quired a full-time caretaker and cleaning woman,; these had been
found in the persons of 28-year-old electrician Siegfried Ismair
and his wife, 26-year-old Christl. The Ismairs had a 5-year-old
daughter and Siegfried worked in Regen, a somewhat larger
town seven miles to the south.

Nor were the Ismairs strangers. Both were born and bred in
Bodenmais and had spent their entire lives there. Although the
caretaker’s job did not pay very much, it provided a fine, four-
room apartment rent-free, and it did not interfere with
Siegfriend’s regular job in Regen. '

There was also a modest profit to be made in the sale of
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refreshments, soft drinks, candy, salt sticks and, typically for
Germany where children start with alcoholic drinks at an early
age, beer. :

Christ] handled the sale of refreshments and did the cleaning
and Siegfried did whatever maintenance needed doing after
working hours or on the weekends. It was a good arrangement
for the young couple until they could save up enough money to
build their own house.

A village the size of Bodenmais has no Vice Squad, of course,
and it was in Deggendorf, a medium-sized town on the Danube
river, nearly 20 miles to the south, that Inspector Krembayer and
Sergeant Borsen were pondering the most sensational case which
the Vice Squad had ever had to deal with.

“If she even looked sexy, it would make the thing seem more
realistic,” said the sergeant, “but she looks just exactly like a nice,
healthy farm girl.”

“Which is what she is,” said the inspector. “A nice, clean,
healthy farm girl and that’s what she talks like too. Have you
listened to the tape of her statement?”

“Not yet,” said the sergeant. “I thought we were going to
now.

“Let’s listen to the boys first,” said Inspector Krembayer,
leaning forward in the chair and bringing a box of cassettes for
the small tape recorder on the corner of the desk out of the side

" drawer. “Here. We'll start with Klaus Luebbich, age fifteen, choir

boy. By the woman’s statement and by his own admission, he’s
the one who started the whole thing.”

“He’s under the legal age for prosecution,” remarked
Sergeant Borsen. “Is his statement worth anything?”

“Oh yes,” said the inspector, dropping the tape into the
machine. “He can make a legal statement and, in any case, it has
been confirmed by Mrs. Ismair. Actually, it is quite vital for
the ‘contributing to the delinquency of a minor’ case.”

He tapped the switch and, after a few squeaks and gratings,
the sound of a boy’s voice issued from the machine.

“I went to the caretaker’s apartment to buy a beer,” the recor-
ding began without preamble. “Christl was alone and I sat beside
her on the sofa to drink my beer. Then, I thought, ‘Why not ——
[vulgar German word for sexual intercourse] her?’ so I put my
hand on her breast.

“She looked surprised and said, ‘Don’t do that! What's the
matter with you?’

“I didn’t say anything, but while she was trying to take my
hand off her breast, I put my other hand up under her skirt and
felt of her —— [vulgar German word for the female sex organ|
She made a sort of a gasping noise and then I put my finger up in-

-
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GRAND PRIZE!

100 RUNNER-UP
PRIZES!
1st $1,977.00 CASH
2nd $1,000.00 CASH
3rd $750.00CASH
4th $500.00CASH
S5th $300.00 CASH
6th $200.00CASH
7th $100.00CASH
8th-25th  $50.00
26th-50th $30.00
51st- 100th TROPHY

AWARDS
AND THESE ARE JUST SOME OF THE

PRIZES THAT WILL BE OFFERED IN
THIS YEAR'S COMPETITION!

YES! Picture Yourself with one of the fantastic prizes totaling over $50,000.00
that are being offered by the American Gift House in this year’'s competition. You
can get in on all the fun and excitement and, who knows. your nhame could join
the list of the hundreds of happy winning contestants. IMAGINE how YOU
could use one of those BIG CASH PRIZES of up to $7,777.77! That's right!
SEVEN THOUSAND, SEVEN HUNDRED,SEVENTY-SEVEN DOLLARS
AND SEVENTY-SEVEN CENTS!!! And that’s not all.

SAMPLE Besides having the opportunity to win cash prizes and
valuable gifts, you’'ll have more FUN than you ever thought
possible when you solve our simple and interesting puzzies. Are
you ready for an exciting hobby? Then look over the easy
numbers puzzle and draw a straight line in any direction,

(up, down, across or from corner to corner), thru three
number boxes that add up to the highest total. Write

your answer in the space provided on your application and send
%@ it along with 25¢, postage and handling, for additional '
| information as to rules, fees and prizes. Then watch for your E g ﬂ
mailman around the 10th of next month for the exciting news! There is
absolutely no obligation, except of course to have a lot of fun! So don’t wait, mail
the application TODAY to: A.G.H. P.O. Box 1077 Las Vegas, NV 89101 n H ﬂ

IT'S EASY! JUST CLIP & MAIL APPLICATION!
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side her pants and into her.

“I started to tickle her tickler [the
common German word for the clitoris]
and she got very wet and was allred in the
face. I thought she was probably going to
have an orgasm so I stopped tickling.”

Now the inspector’s voice spoke out
of the tape recorder.

“How do you come to know about
‘ticklers’ and ‘orgasms™™” he asked. “Did
Mrs. Ismair discuss this with you later?”

“I learned it in school,” said the boy.
“The book says you have to be very
careful with the tickler because it is so
sensitive. Mrs. Ismair didn’t know much
about sex. We had to teach her
everything.” .

He sounded ‘extremely proud.

“I see,” said the inspector. “And what
happened then?”

“She was very excited,” said Klaus,
“and she wanted it so I pushed up her skirt
and took down her pants and then I did it
to her. I did it to her twice. She had an
orgasm both times and maybe once
before.”

“Clear cut case of contributing to the
delinquency of a minor,” said Inspector
Krembayer, switching off the tape
recorder. “The woman had two or three
orgasms and made no attempt to stop the
}k})oy from having sexual intercourse with

er.

“According to his statement,” said
Sergeant Borsen. “What about her? Does
she admit this?”

“She doesn’t deny what took place or
even that she had one or more orgasms,”
said the inspector, “but she makes herself
out more of a victim and less of a
pushover than the gallant Klaus, who, 1
am afraid, does not quite fit the role of
the geneleman-lover.”

“Who loves and keeps silent about it,”
added the sergeant, completing a popular
German witticism regarding lovers.

“Right,” said the inspector. “Klauslov-
ed, but he bawled like a calf about it to
everybody who would listen. Vanity and
pride were his downfall. Now, let us
listen to Karl-Heinz Schuhmacher, seven-
teen years old and the oldest of our group,
and the first person to whom Klaus told
his adventure.”

He studied the tapes, selected one
and, after exchanging it with the one in
the machine, pressed the start button.

“My name is Karl-Heinz Schuhmach-
er, presently unemployed, residing at
Forty-one Hiller Street in Bodenmais,”
said a deep voice, which had obviously
already changed. “On June fourteenth,
nineteen-seventy-six, I was engaged in
conversation with Klaus Luebbich at the
Boy’s Recreation Center in Bodenmais
when he stated that he had had sexual in-
tercourse with the center cleaning
woman, Christl Ismair, on the preceding
day.

“I told him he should stop mastur-
bating so much because he was beginning
to believe his fantasies. He said that it was
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Asked why she hadn't told anyone about
her predicament at the outset, Christl
replied, “l was ashamed...Nobody would
believe that | hadn't encouraged them!”

true and that Mrs. Ismair had had several
orgasms. I said I should come with him
and we would both have intercourse with
Mrs. Ismair.

“I thought he was playing some kind
of a joke and I went with him to the
caretaker’s apartment. We rang the bell
and when Mrs. Ismair opened the door, 1
said we would like two beers.

“We went inside and Mrs. Ismair got
the beer. Then, I said, ‘I understand there
is also other entertainment to be had.’

“Mrs. Ismair got very red in the face,
but didn’t way anything. She was stan-
ding facing me and Klaus went around
behind her and pulled her skirt all the way
up around her waist.

“She acted as if she was trying to stop
him, but he put his hand inside her pants
and I thought he was tickling her.

“I realized then that Klaus was maybe
telling the truth and I came forward and
helped him pull her pants down over her
feet. We then sort of led her over to the
sofa and I did it to her first and then Klaus.
By the time he was finished, I was excited
from watching them and I did it to her
again. Klaus then tried a second time also,
but could not have his climax.

“Mrs. Ismair was very wet and had

" several orgasms to my knowledge. When

we left, she was lying on the sofa with her
skirt up around her waist and her legs still
wide apart. We had also opened her
blouse and her breasts were exposed.

“We had not paid for the beer and she
did not say anything about it then, but did
ask us the next day and we paid for what
we had drunk.”

There was a short pause and then the
inspector’s voice said, “How was Mrs.
Ismair dressed when you came in? Was
she wearing anything unusual?”

“The boy answered: “No, just the
things she always wears. A shirt and a
blouse. She had on ordinary white cotton
pants and brassiere. . . stockings, shoes.”

“And did she act seductively, fondle
you or the other boy?” asked the inspec-
tor. “What did she say?”

“She didn’t say anything,” said Karl-
Heinz. “When she was doing it, she made
sort of little grunting noises and when she
had her orgasms, she moaned a little, but
she didn’t touch Klaus or me either with
her hands. Not that day.”

“Not that day,” repeated Inspector
Krembayer, flipping off the machine.
later on, Mrs. Ismair was going to find
that she had to use everything at her dis-
posal and even that would not be enough.
Karl-Heinz was no more discreet than
Klaus and, as the business people say,
word of mouth publicity by satisfied
customers is the best advertising of all.”

“Customers?” asked Sergeant Borsen.
“She was charging for it?”

“Not a penny,” replied the inspector.
“It was all free. The beer, the candy and
the potato chips had to be accounted for
to the last cent, but Mrs. Ismair herself
was, so to speak, on the house.”

“Small wonder she was popular,” said
the sergeant. “So what happened next?
She was gang-banged by the entire pop-
ulation of Bodenmais?”

“Nothing so dramatic,” said the in-
spector. “You must remember that part of
the population of Bedenmais is made up
of women, babes in arms, elderly menno
longer capable of the walk out to the
Youth Recreation Center—which is, in-
cidentally, not open to girls on the
grounds that potentially immoral
situations might arise.”

“A reasonable assumption,” said the
sergeant, nodding. “Do we hear Mrs.
Ismair’s statement now? AllI've heard so
far is support for the contributing to the
delinquency of minors charges.” ,

“Well, not quite yet,” said the inspec-
tor, switching tapes. “Let’s listen to a few
more of the minors themselves before we
call the witness for the defense. This is a
particularly good one. He watches televi-
sion too much.”

“The tape began with the inspector’s
voice: “Your name is Julius Wagner, you
are sixteen years old and reside with your
parents at Twelve Auer Street. Is that cor-
rect?”

“Figure it out for yourself, cop!”
replied a voice that started out as a
baritone rasp and ended up an almost
soprano squeak.

“Reply to the question!” snapped the
inspector’s voice.

“It’s correct,” answered the boy sulki-
ly, then sighing audibly.

“Describe what happened in the
caretaker’s apartment of the Boys
Recreation Center at Bodenmais on June
sixteenth, nineteen-seventy-six or

thereabouts.”
(Continued on page 54)



that will help you...

» produce all the money and luxury you want!
e travel invisibly into homes and offices!

This exciting Kit is yours FREE with your 90-day trial copy of “The Mystic Grimoire of Mighty Spells and Rituals”

“Now You Can Issue the Secret Spells and

« win games of chance whenever you wish!
» restore health, beauty and potency!

— YOURS ABSOLUTELY FREE —
This amazing MYSTIC GRIMOIRE TALISMAN AND AMULET KIT

.

possess supreme power over others!
develop ultra-potent sex_appeal!

Rituals that will Command the Invisible
Cosmic Beings to Automatically Fulfill

Your Every
Desire...

Yes, Dear Friend:

it's true! You are about to discover the
miracle-working secrets of a mighty grimoire—
the personal handbook of a practitioner of magic.

You will see how its powerful spells and potent rituals can com-
mand the Cosmic Beings of the Universe to bring you exactly what
you want from life—money, health, love and power can be yours
for the asking, easily and automatically!

How? “Just carry out the simple instructions T've given you and
you will see your most secret wishes come true with startling and
joyful ease,'” says gifted mystic and occult researcher, Frater
Malak.

What's more, when you send for your 90-day no-risk copy of
Malak’s incredible book called THE MYSTIC GRIMOIRE OF
MIGHTY SPELLS AND RITUALS, you'll receive absolutely
FREE one of the most powerful magical tools ever revealed—
“The Mystic Grimoire Tallsman and Amulet Kit.” By combining
the cosmic energy vibrations charged into your kit with the invin-
cible spells and rituals in the book, you will be ready to work your
personal miracles, transforming your life into an existence of glori-
ous ecstasy!

Maybe you'd like to have a sackful of $1,000 bills, find glowing
health and vitality, win any lottery you wish, know the innermost
secrets of others, or hurl your enemies into a pit of frustration
and despair.

You Can Do All 0f This And More! Countless
Others Have Already Achieved Fantastic
Results Using The Same Spells And Rituals
You Will Soon Be Issuing—

« one mid-western housewife, whose family was hard hit by infla-
tion, used the great Money-Spinning Ritual and turned $5 into
$50,000—twice!

o another .woman, who lived with agonizing kidney and liver
problems for 25 years, turned to the secret Disease-Banishing
Ritual and a week later was told by an astonished specialist that
she was completely cured! :

_ e one poverty-stricken man accidentally discovered the Know-
the-Unknown Spell and the next day received $100,000 plus an
incredible income for the rest of his life!

o another man started out with $20 and the Good-Luck-Is-Mine
Ritual, and walked away from the track at the end of the day with
over $400,000!

The uitimate power is literally at your fingertips—power to bring
exactly what you want. Says Frater Malak, “Somewhere in the
pages of this book is a spell or ritual that will change any and all
parts of your life into what you wish them to be. Try it—you're
going to be surprised, delighted and blessed beyond your wildest
dreams with health, wealth and happiness!”

*Vacations In The Sun At Exclusive Resorts, My
Own Private Plane, A Swimming Pool, A Yacht,
_Servants—1 Never Have Yo Lift A Finger Anymore!”

That’s the kind of life Christine L. leads, but it wasn’t always
so good. She grew up in a dingy tenement building with-an alco-
hotic father who barely supplied her with enough money for
clothes. One day, while searching through the pockets of an old
coat she discovered a crumpled piece of paper with the miracu-
lous Gold-Creating Ritual written on it—Christine’s life has never
been the same!

She decided to follow the hand-written instructions and minutes
later learned that she was to receive a $500 share of an anonymous
donation. The very next day her lottery ticket was picked, winning
her $150,000! A few months later she sold her share of a business
she had invested in for just under $1,000,000! Today the money
just keeps rolling in!

And when you start using these amazing spells and rituals you
will see the same kind of results raining down on you in a veritable
deluge of good fortune—riches, happiness. vibrant health, secret
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You receive All
these Talismans
and Amulets
FREE in the
Bonus-Gift Kit

that accompanies
this startling book!

Yes, every one

is yours FREE! |
Yours to KEEP,
even if you return
the hook itself

for every cent

of your money back!

knowledge and supreme power fly to you irresistibly, as a needle is
pulled to a magnet!

Just Take A Look At How These Contented
Miracle-Workers Have Used This Potent
Magic To improve Their Lives:

« Betty J. used to suffer from anemia, excruciating back pains,
a childhood shoulder injury, blinding migraines and spreading ar-
thritis. After dragging herself from clinic to clinic, the doctors all
told her she was incurable and must learn to accept. it. Not Betty.
She discovered the supreme Back-To-Health Ritual and in practi-
cally no time at all was bursting with good health and vitality.
Says Betty, “I've come back to a new life and my relatives are
amazed!”

o Graham D, a small-time guitar player who had made it only as
far as dark little clubs and small dance halls, was just about 1o
give up trying to make it big in show business. Tired and hungry,
he managed to learn about the thrilling secrets of the I-Can-Wow-
Them Ritual from a top recording star whose jnitials cannot even
be revealed. Literally overnight, Graham signed his first contract—
for $1,000,000—and that was only a fraction of what he received
later on!

e Floyd Y. had used magic before and was constantly seeking
to help others as well as himself with the marvelous powers it gen-
erated. When news reached him that the 8-year old son of a wealthy
oil tycoon had been kidnapped, he decided to use the See-Where
Ritual to come up with some answers. Floyd saw in his mind that
the boy was alive and also where the kidnappers had taken him—
he even told the police what was written on the ransom note that
was about to be sent! The kidnappers were quickly arrested and
Floyd received a $100,000 reward for his information. Not bad
for simply working the See-Where Ritual!

Now YOU are going to name it and IT SHALL BE SO! With
this Mystic Grimoire in your possession, the benevolent Cosmic
Beings will obey your every command. You can accomplish exactly
what you desire and nothing can stand in your way!

It's your turn to discover the awesome magical powers that
helped unattractive Joseph W. to make a beautiful, vivacious girl
fall madly in love with him, or that turned William K.’s almost-
bankrupt business into a million doilar operation—along with doz-
ens of others who have performed miracles restoring health, build-
ing fortunes and winning the love mates of their choice!

“Such Knowledge Must Be Spread Around!
Work It For Yourself And See Its Powerful Results!”

That’s what Victor G. advises, and you'll probably be saying the
same thing in a short while. Victor used one of the special health-
returning rituals to completely cure a disease that was causing ex-
cruciating pain and permanent exhaustion. Today he lives a life
that’s full and satisfying—he’s one person who know’s the power
of magic!

And so is Evelyn P., who went from a life of downtrodden
misery to one of ultimate luxury. The day after performing the
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dazzling Ticket-Come-To-Me Ritual, a complete stranger walked
up to her and put a state Jottery ticket in her hand. Even Evelyn
thought it might be coincidence, but when she won the grand
prize of $500,000 she had no doubts about how it happened. When-
ever she finds herself running short of cash she just performs the
ritual again and lets her chauffeur take care of the details.

Just remember, results are what this thrilling wizard’s handbook
has to offer you. Results that will make others yours to command,
bring money cascading to you in glittering showers, revitalize you
with vibrant good health and vanquish your enemies forever!

Best of all, using this magic is as simple and easy as tying your
shoelace—and just as mechanical. The correct gestures, materials
and words will transmit the invisible commands of your spells and
zituz;(l,s—and every last thing you need to know is contained in this

ook!

Perform These Miraculous Spells And Rituals
Without Financial Risk For 90 Full Days!

1f you’d like to sec for yourself how easy it is, simply fill out and
mail the No-Risk Coupon, and a copy of The Mystic Grimoire Of
Mighty Spells And Rituals will be sent to you at once. When you
receive it, just issue the potent commands according to the secret
spells and rituals. Then sit back, relax, and watch this powerful
method go to work! It’s as simple as that!

After 90 days, if you like the book and want to keep it, it's yours.
Otherwise, simply return it and receive every cent of your money
back at once!

But Whatever You Decide, The FREE Talisman

And Amulet Kit Is Yours To Keep Permanently.
" l\;lail the coupon now—and prepare yourself for a glorious new
11e.

wm = = = MAIL NO RiSK COUPON TODAY! -——=-1

PROGRESS BOOKS, LTD., Dept. MG-21
3200 Lawson Bivd., Oceanside, N.Y. 11572

Gentlernen: Please rush me a copy of The Mystic Grim-
oire of Mighty Spells and Rituals by Frater Malak. I enclose
$8.98 in full payment. I understand that I may examine this
book for a full 90 days entirely at your risk or money back
and whatever I decide the FREE Kit is mine!

[0 Check here if you wish your order sent C.O.D. En-
¢lose only $1 good-will deposit now. Pay postman balance,
plus C.O.D. postage and handling charges. Same money-
back guarantee, of coursc.

NAME

Please print
ADDRESS

CITY

STATE Z1P

N.Y. res. please add appropriate safes tax.
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by PADRAIC DILLON

For San Diego investigators, a
strange missing person case
became a homicide probe
when they took the top off a

playroom bar and exposed the
- EALTHY San Diego travel agent Ed Tubach in-
dulged in three compulsions. He loved to travel to
Mexico, South America and Europe. He favored
' having numbered bank accounts in foreign vaults. And he was in
the habit of marrying and discarding wives. His sixth marriage
and his last was to a former South American fashion model nam-
ed Isabel Zerda Beltran. It lasted only about one year and turned
out to be Tubach’s stormiest and most fateful misalliance.

On December 8, 1976, a San Diego Superior Court judge
granted Tubach, 47, a final interlocutory divorce decree from
found his body, stabbed more than a dozen times and sealed in-
side a serving bar in the travel agent’s swanky home.

sw " Ed Tubach’s travel-oriented lifestyle forced detectives to
follow leads that covered three continents and called for
cooperation from police in other nations.

Although he was compulsive, Ed Tubach was also reliable.

When he left his travel agency in plush LaJ olla the evening of
December 10th, a Friday, his employes expected him to be back

It takes 20 minutes to drive from La Jolla to Tubach’s rambl-

ing home on Lowell Way on a hillside overlooking the city of San
Diego and its fine harbor filled by day with sleek sailboats and
hulking Navy ships and tuna seiners. Tubach wheeled his 1974
Buick into his garage, locked the car and the garage door behind
him and strode briskly up a dozen flagstone steps to the house. It
had been his home for 10 years. More than one wife had lived in it
during Tubach’s succession of marriages. But now it was empty.

Tubach didn’t stop to notice the city lights, brilliant in the

As murder probe reachéd a crucial stage, Federico Frank, here
with Dets. Moller (I.) and Giaquinto, was_taken into custody . ..
Isabel. Sixteen days later, on Christmas Eve, homcide detectives
to work on the following Monday. Tubach told them he would.
clear winter air. He was anxious to get inside, particularly since

. Slils someone had jumped him on his entry porch one night more than
Detective David Ayers worked with other officers on the * alittle more than a month before. The man had thrust a knife to

weird case which found the victim entombed in his own bar his throat, hit him repeatedly and demanded money. Tubach
12 :



SYNOMETRICS....an Olympic Champion’s Discovery!

Turn Belly Fat into a

k-Hard Lean Stomach

lke Berger Today.

Introducing IKE BERGER
Olympic Champion
Olympic Gold medal winner (U.S. team)
weightlifting « World Champion (three
times) ¢ Pan American Games Cham-
pion {twice)  National Champion (12
times) « Elected to Hail of Fame.
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“I’'m over 50 and | thought my fat and
flab was with me for life...SYNO-
METRICS “burned” it off in only 7
days. In fact results came so fast |
had to cut my daily 7 minute workout
to 5 minutes to slow down the slim-
ming process. It’s the most amazing
method I've ever tried. .. and I've tried
just about every gadget and gimmick
I've seen in magazines and TV.”

Exclusive
TENSION RING!
Lels You Adjust
Tension Control

To Speed Results!
Great for Any Age!

Exclusive
TENSION RING!
Lets You Adjust
Tension Control
To Speed Resuits!
Great for Any Age!

IN JUST 7 SHORT MINUTES A DAY with the “miracle” of
SYNOMETRICS (scientific concept of ISOMETRIC +1SOTONIC)
...the fantastic new discovery for speed shaping away ugly,
embarrassing fat and flab...to reveal a brand new rock-hard,

lean, trim, handsome body!

IKE BERGER explains
SYNOMETRICS™...the new
EASY speed method for figure
beauty

What is SYNOMETRICS? You've prob-
ably heard about the |sotonic and Iso-
metric principle of body dynamics for
years. Each method has its own be-
lievers and supporters. | used BOTH
methods in my daily training. Finally, |
developed a special exercise unit that
employed BOTH methods AT THE SAME
TIME in one device. The effect was sim-
ply amazing. | was able to keep in trim,
slim shape in only a fraction of the time
| previously needed!

The Science of SYNOMETRICS

| later learned the scientific reason for
this amazing result. it's called SYNER-

GISM—meaning that when you combine
two methods the result is greater than
the both of them separately. | now called
my new discovery SYNOMETRICS and
developed a special exercise unit | call
the SPEED SHAPER. And that’s just what
it is...a speed method to give you re-
sults in minutes, NOT hours! Now. .. build
yourself a “fantastic looking body’' with
the incredible SYNOMETRICS —the in-
vention that works on the exciting new
scientific concept of ISOTONIC + 1SO-
METRIC.

What is the SPEED SHAPER?

Ingeniously designed, in an amazingly
compact slimming & shaping discovery.
® No doorknobs needed ® Adjust tension
to your own needs, for any age ® Slip
into pocket or purse (5 oz.)—fits any-
where!

Iron Clad Money Back Guarantee

In just a few days you must actually begin
to see measurable, real results...or your
money back promptly and without any
question.

*No diet needed if daily caloric intake does not add
to your present body weight.

i " SEND TODAY! 1
= Complete kit only $9.95 I

I
} I

Speed Shaper, Inc., Dept. RS-2652
380 Madison Avenue New York, N.Y. 10017

If the SPEED SHAPER unit can really start |
shaping me up in just days, and | mean
| ALL OVER (legs, thighs, hips, waist), | will |
| keep it and use it... otherwise, | will want |
] a full refund. Rush SPEED SHAPER to me.

l NAME

| ADDRESS

| city STATE ZiP

I 1 enclose $9.95 (plus $1.00 for postage & ]
| hdlg). NY residents add sales tax: NYC 8%, I
I NYS 5%. Save $1.00! Order 2 and send

18.90. i
| $18.90 !
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remembered the words: “Give me money
for your wife and child.”

He had no child, Tubach told the
assailant. He had no child—no money—
only $10 in his pocket. The man took the
money, grabbed it out of his hand,
withdrew the blade and fled into the
night. Tubach shuddered at the recollec-
tion as he punched the numbers on a 10-
digit combination lock he had installed on
the front door right after the $10 robbery.

While he pushed the final digits,
someone waited in the bushes near the
house—someone with a knife.

Monday came and went. Ed Tubach
did not appear at his office, nor did he
check into his other office in Spring
Valley, a 15-minute drive east of San
Diego.

By Tuesday afternoon, employes at
Ed Tubach’s LaJolla office began to fret.
They had called his house almost every
hour from Monday afternoon on, and no
one answered.

Finally, Tubach’s secretary went to
the San Diego Police Department and
filed a missing persons report. The case
was assigned to the department’s
homicide division, a normal procedure.
Detectives David Ayers and Ken Moller
drew the assignment. Their combined
homicide experience was less than three
years. This would be their first major
" case.

Accompanied by the secretary, the
pair of detectives visited the Tubach
home. The secretary, a trusted employe,
had a key to the back door and the three
entered the home. It didn’t take much
detective work for Ayers and Moller to
discover that obvious signs of foul play
pervaded the interior of Tubach’s home.

14

Investigation ranged as far as Mexico, where
victim's ex-wife Isabel and her two daughters,
Gloria (1.) and Patricia, came under suspicion

Chairs were overturned, blood was
smeared on the walls. There had been a
struggle. Moller- entered Tubach's
bedroom and discovered splotches of
blood on the floor, the walls, on an over-
turned night stand. He also found an air-
line credit card covered with blood. It
belonged to Ed Tubach.

Avyers, meanwhile, had searched the
home and started out the front door. He
noticed blood in the entry hall and on the
porch. Below the home, the garage door
was open—the Buick was gone.

The detectives returned to their office
in the old stucco and tile downtown
police station and began compiling a list
of Tubach acquaintances, relatives and
business associates.. On Wednesday,
December 15th, the case took its first ma-
jor twist.

An employe at the La Jolla travel
agency received a telegram from Mexico
City; sheread it and called the police. The
message was signed by Tubach, saying
that he unexpectedly decided to “spend
three to four weeks” in Mexico and re-
quested that his mail be forwarded to
Mexico City. A code name was to be used
and a post office box number was provid-
ed instead of a street number for a return
address.

Ed Tubach loved Mexico. His
employes knew that. But, while he was
compulsive about some things, he
wouldn’t just pick up and jet off without
telling his staff. They believed Tubach
would have notified them of his inten-
tions when he left the office on December

10th. Or, he would have called someone
during the weekend and notified them of
his plans.

Detectives Ayers and Moller in-
structed Tubach’s secretary to send a
wire seeking information to the Mexico
City post office box. No response was
received.

The next day, something even
stranger happened. One of Tubach’s
lifelong friends, at attorney in the
Southern California desert community of
Brawley where Tubach grew up, receiv-
ed a telephone call.

The caller claimed she was Isabel
Tubach, and, in broken English, told him
not to worry, Ed was with her in Mexico.
The attorney, who handled Tubach’s
numerous Southern California real estate
holdings, did not know his friend had
even been reported missing when he
received the telephone call.

He didn’t know Isabel Tubach.
Although he had helped with some of the
couple’s divorce proceedings, he had
never met the woman. Thus, he couldn’t
recognize her voice. But, the news that
she and Ed apparently had patched
things up struck him strangely.

He called friends in San Diego and
learned that the travel agent had been
reported missing. Then, Schmidt called
the police.

Meqgnwhile, Ayers and .Moller had
returned to the Tubach home. Lab ex-
perts also had gone over the house, inside
and out, taking photos, dusting for prints,
hoping to uncover a telltale sign that
might start the chain of investigation
moving—the procedures, step by step,
that make fact out of mystery.

(Continued on page 67)



IF YOU LIVE TO BE 100 — YOU’'LL NEVER FIND AN EASIER WAY T0 GET GIRLS ... BELIEVE IT OR NOT — IT'S TRUE!!!

How To Get Girls Through Hypnotism!

Give Us 5 Days — And We'll Give You A New Modernized Method of Getting Girls
That Works Like Nothing You've Ever Seen Before — Let Us Prove It

IT'S the newest ...
getting girls.

It's called S/4 Hypnotism. And thousands
of men like yourself have already begun to
use this easy-to-master principle to meet,
date and even seduce girls.

S/A Hypnotism works. It works like noth-
ing you've ever seen before. And we’ll
prove it.

We'll show you exactly how to use this
principle to meet more beautiful girls than
you ever dreamed possible.

It doesn’t matter how many times you’ve
failed with girls before. Nor does it matter
why you failed. That’s all in the past now.

GIRLS WILL BE NATURALLY
ATTRACTED TO YOU

When you begin to use S/A Hypnotism,
you will have one of the most powerful
Jorces known to man working for you. Most
girls will see you as a man who they’d like to
get to know better ... much better. Many
will be instantly attracted to you. Some will
simply not be able to resist you.

Don’t get us wrong. We're not going to
give you any magical or super-natural pow-
ers.

All we are going to do is teach you how to
use a highly effective, little-known princi-
ple — a principle that is available to any
man who 1s willing to make the small effort
required to leamn it.

R. C., Mich., says: “‘I tried every trick |
knew 1o meet girls. Butl seldom succeeded.

I used just about every pick-up technique
ever invented. And I still came up empty-
handed.

I was quite lonely — to say the least.

Then I heard abour SIA Hypnotism.

I'll admit ... had my doubts at first. But I
took a chance and gave it a try. I had noth-
ing tolose.

Well, I'll tell vou ... It didn’t take me long
to see that I had stumbled onto something
big. Really big!

Within just 4 or 5 days, I was meeting
more beautiful girls than I knew what to do
with.

[ started making dates with more girls
than I really had time for.

But that’s nothing. You should see some
of the sexy girls who were actually eager to
sleep with me!

Honestly, I haven't had this much fun in
vears. Thanks 1o SIA Hypnotism!"

And now, you too, can learn to use S/4
Hypnotism to meet, date and even seduce
beautiful girls.

In a matter of days, you too, will be able
to walk up to a girl (any girl), and within
seconds, have her name, address and phone
number.

And that will only be the beginning. Be-
cause from that point on, she will agree with
practically ahything you suggest (within
reason).

most modern way of

That's the kind of power S/4 Hypnotism
will give you. It puts you “*in control’ at all
times.

DON’T SELL YOURSELF SHORT

Now maybe this sounds like a bunch of
“mumbo-jumbo’” to you. If so — let us
suggest this:

Put your doubts aside for awhile and give
yourself a chance.

Notice we said *“give yourself”’achance.

This principle works .. . and all the doubts
in the world won’t change that. But if you let
your doubts get in your way — and you
don't at least give it a try — you'll be selling
yourself short and robbing yourself of the
success with girls you want so badly.

You don’t need any special education or
talent to learn /4 Hvpnotism. There are no
complicated courses to take.

Simply follow the steps in our easy-to-
read, easy-to-understand book called ...
The Easv Way To Get Girls: Through S/A
Hypnotism.

Read the book through just two or three
times (with a reasonable amount of concen-
tration)...and you’ll be well on your way to
getting all the beautiful girls you ever
wanted.

And remember — it doesn’t matter what
you look like or how old you are. These
things mean nothing when you use §/4 Hyp-
notism.

MOST UNUSUAL GUARANTEE
IN HISTORY OF ADVERTISING

S/A Hypnotism is working for thousands,
of men — and it will work for you. We
guarantee it.

In fact, we're going to go ahead and make
you one of the most unusual guarantees in
the history of advertising. And here it is:

Try out the principle of S/4 Hypnotism for
amonth. Then ... if you haven’t met, dated
and even slept with more beautiful girls in
those four weeks than you have in the past
year, return the material. We’ll rush you a
full refund and more.

We will send you:
® 10 dollars (the original amount you
payed for our material)

Plus:

® ]3¢ (the cost of the stamp you used to
send us your order)

® 2¢ (the cost of the envelope you sent
your order in)

¢ 5¢ (for the time it took you to fill out
the coupon)

® 10¢ (for your trouble)

Think. about that for a second.

Once again: S/A Hypnotism works. And
like we said before: “We'll prove it to you.”
All you have to do is send in the coupon
now.

Every man who is popular with girls has
his own special technique he uses to get
them. If you are lucky enough to be one of
these successful gentlemen, you don’t need
us or S/A Hypnotism.

On the other hand — if you're seriously
looking for a reliable, no-nonsense method
of getting girls; a method ‘that will work
anywhere, anytime ... maybe you should
give S/A Hypnotism an honest try. You may
soon find yourself with more girls than any
ten men put together!

964 Third Avenue
New York, N.Y. 10022

Sounds almost too good to be true — but
you've got a deal. What have 1 got to lose?
Here's my 10 dollars. Send me The Easy Way
To Get Girls; Through S/A Hypnotism.

After trying your material for a month, |
must be meeting. dating and even sleeping
with more girls than I have in the past year. Or
I may return the material for a full refund and
more. :

I understand my material will be sent in a
plain wrapper.

Name

Address

City

State Zip

e e e s i o o o o e o ]



Seattle homicide sleuths have seen a lot of brazen
criminals, but none to compare with the cool

cat they tagged for the

by ANDY STACK

NE OF THE age-old questions that homicide probers

must deal with is, “How do you tell the good guys from

the bad guys?” Sometimes it’s easy; sometimes it is far
more difficult, as it was in a traggic murder that took place on a
sunny September afternoon on Seattle’s Capital Hill. Even to-
day, the killer's reasons seem inexplicable and there are not
enough words to ease the pain of the victim’s loved one. One
minute 8-year-old Kelly Ann Emminger was alive and
laughing. . .and safe. The next, she was dead, murdered,
although she was so close to help that it seems she surely could
have been saved.

On Setpember 28, 1976, blonde, blue-eyed Kelly Ann lived
with her mother and her seven-year-old brother in the Hillcrest
Apartments on East Howell Street. Her parents had been divorc-
ed for a few years, but the separation was amicable and she often
saw her father, who lived nearby. The Hillcrest is a four-story
building of brick built in the architectural style of the ‘30s, solid,
with bay windows and large, high-ceilinged apartments.

Except for the fact that the crime rate (rapes, burglaries,
muggings, et al) has soared on Capital Hill in the past 10 years, it
was a good place to raise youngsters. The rent was reasonable,
there were other children nearby, and there were even some an-
cient fir trees and a tire-swing out in the back yard. Nobody com-
plained when youngsters shouted in high-spirited games through
the halls and in the alley that ran adjacent to the building and
Denny Street. Childish screams were part of the lifestyle.
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DARING DAVLIGHT
SLAUGHTER OF
A LITTLE GIRL

Kelly’s mother picked up her and her brother from a child
care center after she left her day’s work on that Tuesday. It was
shortly before five when the two youngsters ran outside to play.
Kelly wore a short-sleeved pullover blouse with black-and-white
trim, blue denims and sneakers. She was pleased to see that two
neighbors were enjoying the 71-degree Indian Summer weather
and had taken their babies out on the front porch. The winsome
youngster loved babies and she begged to be allowed to take
them for a walk around the building. Since both she and her
brother were known as extremely dependable children, the
mothers agreed. Molly Sheldon had twins, 18 months old, and
Kelly took first the boy and then the girl hand-in-hand for walks
around the building through the alley and into the back yard.
There was no reason to worry. The whole area was alive with
people and apartment dwellers had their windows wide open.
The alley was only 16 feet wide, and, although cars parked there,
it was far too narrow to allow automobiles to drive through at
more than a snail’s pace.

The babies loved it and eagerly awaited their turn to toddle
along besideKelly. But, suddenly, the mothers realized that K elly
and the little girl had been gone for a much longer time than it
took to circle the apartment house. They felt apprehensive and
were just about to walk through the alley to check on the children
when 10-year-old Lisa Janis ran up to them. “Come
quick. . Kelly’s been hit by a car!” she shouted.

Molly Sheldon reached the alley first. There was no sign of



Sheet-covered form of little Kelly Emminger
(insert) lies in yard of her home where medics
tried in vain to save her. The eight-year-old
child was suddenly and ferociously slashed to
death while playing in an alley near her home

Kelly, but her own tiny daughter was standing next to a huge
puddle of blood in the walkway adjacent to the alley.

There was a butcher knife in the center of the blood splotch!

It had all happened so quickly, and none of it seemed to make
sense. Ms. Sheldon and the other mother ran to the back yard and
there they saw Kelly lying on the ground. A stranger, a tall husky
white man, covered with blood, started to walk toward them.
Kelly’s mother, alerted by Lisa Janis, was already bending over
her fallen child, and the other two young mothers grabbed
children and Kelly’s brother and took them into the apartment
house away from the scene.

Another apartment resident was trying to comprehend what
he had seen in the last few minutes. Lance Markham, an actor
who lived with his wife and baby daughter in the Hillcrest
Apartments on the second floor on the alley side, had seen Kelly
on the front steps only 15 minutes before when he’d left to drop
off some laundry. When he returned, he checked on his sleeping
baby and lay down on the couch to take a nap. Almost im-
mediately, he’d heard piercing screams coming from his open
balcony door. He had disregarded them at first; kids were always
screaming. But the screams were different somehow, and he’d
gone out to the balcony to look down into the alley.

He recognized Kelly. He did not recognize the man who
seemed to be holding her from behind, his arms pinioning hers.
The child was flailing with her legs, although her screams had
diminished. While Markham watched, the stranger picked Kelly

up and carried her out of sight into the back yard at the east side

of the building. Markham ran to another window but could not

see the pair.

When he returned to his first vantage point, he saw the pool of
blood and the knife where he had seen the man holdingKelly.

The mind cannot fathom such shocking realities quickly; all
Markham knew was that Kelly Emminger must have been in-
jured in some fashion. He ran to the back stairway which led
down to the yard area. The man was there, at the bottom of the
stairs, holding Kelly in his arms, gulping and gasping for breath as
would a person in deep shock.

“Do you need help?” Markham asked. X

“Call'an ambulance. . .she’s been hurt bad,” the man pleaded.
Now, Markham could see that the stranger was more aboy thana
man, although he was over six feet tall, and must have topped 210
pounds.

Markham ‘whirled and ran to his phone where he dialed 911
and requested emergency aid. He still did not know how Kelly
had been injured, but he had seen so much blood in the walkway
and on the carpet at the bottom of the stairs, and K elly had seem-
ed unconscious as the youth cradled her in his arms.

The stranger himself, clad in blue shirt and pants, was
covered with blood, Kelly’s blood. )

While Medic I aides raced to the scene, Kelly’s mother looked
at the still form on the grass. The child’s clothing was so dis-
arrayed that she was almost naked, and there was one terrible
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Killer dropped soft drink cup at steps near splotch of blood

wound in the left breast area. The youngster’s eyes were half
closed, and there was no reassuring rise and fall of her chest to in-
dicate that she still breathed.

Mrs. Emminger knew Kelly was dead, that realization mer-
cifully dulled by shock, and she stared up uncomprehendingly at
the tall, husky youth who stood near her daughter.

“Don’t worry,” he told her. “We called the aid car. Everything
will be all right.

He went on to tell her that he’d seen the man who'd hurt K elly,
“a black man.”

By this time, Kelly’s father had been summoned, and he too
was at the child’s side. Medic units were there in what seemed
like a minute or two, but it did no good. Thelittle girl was dead.

Seattle Police Officers Fred Aesquivel, E. Maser, and C.
Danielson had received a call onradio—“rape and stabbing” and
arrived just as the fire department medics were shaking their
heads over the tiny body.

The child’s clothing was almost off. Her jeans and panties
were down around her ankles, turned inside out over her
sneakers. Her black top had been yanked up to her armpits. King
County Medical Examiner Donald Reay arrived at the scene and
confirmed that she had suffered a single stab wound in the left
chest, a wound that had probably penetrated her heart. Beyond
that, there was only a shallow defensive wound at the base of her
left thumb. Although the condition of her clothing suggested a
rape attempt, Reay could find no indication that it had been con-
summated.

Sergeants P. Hurd and A. Zampardo arrived to help contain
the crime scene and protect it from the crowd which had

gathered almost immediately. Officer Danielson stayed with the

butcher knife, warning the man in the blue pants and shirt not to
touch it. It had been guarded until the officers’ arrival by Jane
Jariis, aneighbor who had once worked as a dispatcher on the 911
line and knew that it must not be disturbed.

At Homicide Unit headquarters, Detective Sergeant Jerry
Yates and Detectives George Marberg and Bill Baughman were
alerted and headed toward the neighborhood atop Capital Hill.
It was the kind of case that detectives and patrolmen everywhere
dread. No matter how much experience they may have in deal-
ing with the violence and tragedy peculiar to the human race,
they never become accustomed to the death of a child.
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Officer Maser attempted to interview the young man who
had carried Kelly to the grassy lawn near the tire swing. The
youth seemed confused and disturbed, which was to be ex-
pected; the little girl’s blood still glistened on his shirt and
trousers.

“I found her in the back, but I moved her because I didn’t
want her to have to lie in the dirt.”

The youth, who said his name was Michael Charles Green,
said he’d seen her attacker, chased him, but was unable to
catch him. He had returned to the fallen child to be sure she was
all right, and then carried her until he found someone who would
call for an aid car.

It seemed that Green was the only eyewitness to the actual
murder, and he told Maser that he hoped they could get finger-
prints from the knife. Maser asked him if he had touched it at all,
and he said he hadn’t. He agreed to be transported to the
homicide offices to give a statement. On the way in, he told Of-
ficer Doug Vaughn that he sure hoped they would catch the
killer.

Officer Aesquivel described for Marberg, Baughman, Yates,
and R.I. McAvoy (a patrolman temporarily assigned to
homicide) the scene that the first officers had viewed. He told
them that Michael Green had seen the suspect and a description
of a tall black male wearing purplish clothing was broadcast at
once to all units.

The call for Medic I had gone out at four minutes after five,
and they had arrived four minutes later.

The homicide detectives could see all too well the trail that
led from the pool of blood in the walkway under Markham’s
balcony next to the apartment house and around to the back
stairs. Marberg sketched the details, while Baughman took
photographs. The butcher knife was bagged into evidence; it
was an “Old Hickory” brand with an eight-inch blade.

Sections of the green rug covering the alcove floor where

Markham had first encountered Green as he carried Kelly were
cut away and retained, along with a paper “Slurpee’ cup froma7-
11 store. There was still some melting ice and yellow liquid in the
cup.
They found two cars parked in the alley—a green squareback
Volkswagen and a blue Chrysler station wagon with a Wisconsin
license. Further on, near the back yard, there were two garbage
bins and a full garbage can. The detective pair examined the con-
tents of these bins but found nothing of evidentiary value.

Beyond, there were a row of garages and the alley-way
sloped upward so that its far end was obscured to the sight of an
individual standing near the garages.

The white sheet that had been placed over Kelly’s body by
the firemen medics was removed. She lay on her back, alook of
utter calm on her face. But there was blood on her face, neck,
chest, abdomen and legs. Her skin was still warm to the touch, in-
dicating that she had been dead only a short time.

Dr. Reay examined her for any signs of strangulation but
found no trauma or petechiae consistent with death by throttling
or ligature. The body was removed by cornoer’s deputies to
await a post mortem examination.

While at the crime scene, Detective Marberg was approached
by a 15-year-old white girl who said she lived at 17th and E.
Madison, nearby. She told him that she had been approached by
a black male about 20 minutes before Kelly Emminger was
stabbed. “He tried to talk me into getting into her car so we could
go smoke some marijuana. I wouldn’t do it—butI think he might
be a good suspect because he was acting weird, you know...”

Then the girl pointed out a man who was lingering at the edge
of the police cordon. Marberg approached the man, who thought
he was being questioned because Officer Danilson had earlier
warned him to stand back from the knife, which he was attemp-
ting to look at. He seemed at ease, and had no traces of blood on
his person or clothing. While Marberg suspected he probably
had tried to pick up the teenager, he was inclined to believe that
the rest of her suspicions were prompted by her obvious disturb-
ed mental state. He noted she had numerous slash marks inside
both wrists from her hands to the midpoint of her forearms, and



realized that her address was a half-way house for those with
emotional problems. The man was asked for his identification,
address, and released.

Marberg and Baughman also talked with the woman, Jane
Janis, who had guarded the knife weapon. She was the mother of
the little girl, Lisa, who had run screaming that K elly had been hit
by a car. Ms. Janis had seen the man in the blue shirt carryingKel-
ly, too. He had put her down on the ground and then knelt beside
her, pounding his fist on the ground in panic or frustration or,
perhaps, grief.

At headquarters, Homicide Detective Al Gerdes talked with
Michael Green while every available patrolman and detective
pressed their canvass of the neighborhood surrounding the
Hillcrest Apartments.

“Green, still clad in his blood-soaked clothing, seemed ill at
ease and nervous. He explained that he’d been in the area
because he’'d been headed to see a friend with whom he had
formerly lived. He'd bought a “Slurpee” (banana) at the 7-11 and
then walked east on Denny until he’d come to the alley. He said
that as he turned into the alley, he’d seen a black male lying on top
of a small white girl as if he was raping her.

Green said he figured the rapist had heard his footsteps on the
gravel, because he looked up, and then jumped off the girl and
started to run toward Howell Street and the front of the apart-
ment house. Green said he’d chased him to the end of the alley,
and the man had turned west and then north and vanished.

“I came back to check thelittle girl. I never got closer than fif-
teen feet from the guy.”

Green was able to give a detailed description of themanhe’'d
seen. He said that he was six feet to six feet, one inches tall, weigh-
ed between 170 and 175, and had a four inch “natural.” He'd
worn a purple pullover knit shirt, and purplish-black flared pan-
ts, with black wing-tipped shoes. The shoes had had two-inch
heels. Green said that he had also noticed a scar on the man’s
cheek “three-quarters of an inch to an inch long.”

The witness had amazing eyesight and keen observation.
Most witnesses, in moments of extreme stress, have great dif-
ficulty with detail, but Michael Green evidently was blessed with
“iedetic imagery,” or total recall.

Gerdes asked Green if he could have his shirt and pants to
analyse for blood type. “We'll give you coveralls.”

Detectives stand on balcony where resident looked down, witnessed Kelly struggling with stranger in alley (r.)

As the 18-year-old youth took his trousers off, Gerdes noticed
that he alse had bloodstains on his shorts, and, after examining
the trousers, the detective saw that there had not been enough
blood on them to have conceiveably soaked through to his shorts.

As he was pondering this, he received a phone call from
Sergeant Yates at the scene. Yates said that several witnesses had
observed a long-haired white male apparently struggling with
Kelly Emminger as she screamed.

There was Markham, but there was also 10-year-old Billy
Koch, who said he’d seen Kelly struggling with a big white man.
He said she’d broken loose from his once and had run
northbound into the alley near the dumpsters where the man
caught her again. “He grabbed her and held her with his arms.
After they crossed the alley, she “fainted” and the man picked
her up and disappeared around the corner with her. When I
walked out my door, I saw the baby standing by the knife.”

Billy’s sister, who was Kelly’s best friend, had seen something,
too—but she was too hysterical to be interviewed.

Gerdes pointed out to Green that his version of the tragedy
did not seem to agree with that of the witnesses. He now in-
formed the hulking youth with the long hair that he was a suspect-
in the killing and advised him of his rights under Miranda.
Green refused to sign the Miranda form and said he wanted his
attorney.

However, as Green began to give personal information, he
thought better of maintaining complete silence and volunteered
to Gerdes that he must have got blood on his shorts because his
fly had been open. (Something witnesses had commented on
when they first encountered him.)

Green said that he was from Ellensburg, Washington and had
lived at his present address for about two weeks. Hegave Gerdes
the name of his-attorney in Ellensburg.

Michael Charles Green was the son of a prominent Ellensburg
family. His father was Dean of Education at Central Washington
University in the small city east of the Cascade Mountains. Green
himself had only attended school through the 11th grade. He had
attended a Youth Corps facility from December of 1974 until
March of 1975.

The six foot, two inch, 220-pound suspect was booked into
jail by Officers Maser and Aesquival after his interview with
Detective Gerdes. He displayed no emotion when told he was
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One youth told detectives he saw a man attack the little girl,
adding that he pursued him down this road until he disappeared

under arrest; indeed, he was quite amiable, and the officers who
escorted him to jail were puzzled as he snickered and joked,
either unaware of the seriousness of the situation or unconcerned.

Swabs were taken from Green’s genitals for the purpose of
acid phosphatase tests to determine the presence of semen. Lab
analysis showed there had been none. And Dr. Reay’s more
thorough examination of little Kelly’s body absolutely ruled out
rape or sodomy. Whatever her killer’s intent, it had not been ac-
complished.

Jane Janis told Marberg and Baughman that her daughter,
hearing of the description of a black male in his 20s, had said she
saw a man who looked like that in the area sometime during the
day Kelly was killed. She said he’d had fluffy black hair and was
wearing a purple shirt and brown pants. Officers Vaughn and
Fernandez were also contacted by a woman who lived nearby
who said she knew of two black men who habitually wore purple
shirts and dark pants.

The consensus was that Lisa Janis was entirely too upset
to think clearly; the address she gave for “her” purple-shirted
man proved to have no residents answering her description. The
merf mentioned by the other woman were both cleared of any
complicity in the stabbing, :

By midnight, with the tragic killing having been featured on
both the six and 11 o’clock TV news, the detectives were begin-
ning to get calls from kooks who had«no real information but
seemed to feel a compulsion to claim inside knowledge.

It was after 3:30 a.m. when Marberg and Baughman finally
cleared their office after placing all evidence gathered in the
property room and requesting lab tests.

Detectives Duane Homan and Benny DePalmo took over the
probe four hours later as they reported to the day shift. They
called first on Kelly’s bereaved mother, only to find her apart-
ment overrun with members of the news media. They had to
wade through reporters, who were looking for a new “personal”
angle, to rescue the stricken woman and remove her to a quiet
room. She was distraught because early editions had mistakenly
stated that her daughter had been raped and stabbed repeatedly.
A printed retraction the next day helped little. .

Mrs. Emminger had never seen Michael Green before. She
repeated how he told her he’d tried to catch the killer, and
assured her that everything wquld be all right. She could only say
that her child had been laughmg and healthy at 4:45, had run out
to play with the neighbors’ babies, and, 15 minutes later, was ly-
ing dead in her own backyard.
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The detective team went to the post mortem examination.
Kelly had died of a single stab wound near her left nipple. It had
perforated the anterior pericordial sack, the left ventricle, nicked
the right ventricle and the aorta and ended at the seventh thoracic
vertebrae. The total depth was three and a half inches, one and
half inches wide— consistent with the butcher knife found at the
scene. An almost instantly fatal wound.

Kelly’s father, who had seen the suspect, Green, too, recalled
him as very large, covered with blood, and “spaced out” as he
stood over his daughter’s body.

Homan and DePalmo talked again with Lance Markham and
Billy Koch. Both were good, positive witnesses. Markham was
convinced that Kelly was alive and kicking to get free when he
first saw the long-haired man in the blue clothes holding her. He
recalled that he had mentioned they should try mouth-to-mouth
resuscitation on the child while they waited for the aid car. Green
had replied that he was a welder, had learned the technque, but
that he knew it would do no good.

The only local information on Michael Green was a small beef
concerning obstructing an officer at a Seattle sports event when
Green had attempted to crowd into line and others had objected
and called police.

But Green’s actual history was considerably more chilling.
Contact with Lieutenant Tom Pratt of the Ellensburg Police

Department elicited information about an incident in that city on

April 22, 1976.

A young mother was driving that evening with her four-year-
old daughter standing up in the back seat. She became aware of a
battered bluish-green Volkswagen that was following her,
although she was not particularly alarmed. As she pulled over to
park, the “bug” drew abreast of her about 10 feet away. She
assumed the driver needed instructions on how to find an ad-
dress.

But, as she turned to help, she found herself looking into a gun
barrel. In an instant the gun fired, striking her car in the driver’s
door and penetrating both the outer and inner shell and bouncing
off a seat cushion—narrowly missifig both the young matron and
her daughter.

And then the car with the gunman inside roared off. Sergeant
Don Morrison arrived to take the shaken woman’s report. A
bystander volunteered that he had seen the whole thing. The
driver of the Volkswagen had been a white male, about 20— with
long hair and sideburns. The witness had seen the car drive away,
but he had also seen it circle back before the police arrived.

A description of the car had been broadcast on the police
radio and Officer Lee Noyes spotted a similar car a few minutes
later, speeding. He pulled it over and told the driver it was for a
speeding violation. But he saw a holster protruding from beneath
the seat.

Noyes asked the husky young driver if he could have permis-
sion to search his car. “No,” the youth said. “Get a search
warrant.”

At that time, Michael Green’s (for the driver was the same
Michael Green) mother drove by and stopped. They conferred,
but young Green was adament that he did not want his car
searched, claiming that he had personal items inside.

“Do you have a gun in the car?” Noyes asked.

Green said that he had, that it was on the passenger seat under
his jacket. He said he'd get it.

Noyes hastily said he would prefer to get it himself.

The .22 caliber gun was loaded. Green said he had no permit
for it and carried it only to protect himself from hitchhikers. He
was arrested for carrying a concealed weapon and for being a
minor in possession of a firearm. Noyes read him his Miranda
Warning and Green volunteered that he’d been in nearby Yakima
all day, and had not fired the gun for two weeks—and certainly
not that day.

Michael Green was not charged in Ellensburg, Arrangements
were made for him to go to the mental health center. Before he
did so, however, he freely answered Lieutenant Pratt’s questions
about the shooting incident. On May 4th, he admitted to Pratt
that he had followed the young mother, but that he didn’t know



why. He recalled being angry because she wasn’t frightened at
his following her. When he pulled up alongside, he’d intended to
kill her. He didn’t know her; he had no reason to pick that par-
ticular woman.

Asked if he knew the difference between aiming a gun and
getting a bead on his target with the sun sights, he said that he
did—but that he had merely aimed at the woman. At the last
minute—as he was pointing it at her head—he changed his mind
and felt he couldn’t kill her. But the gun had gone off, he said, as
he jerked his hand away. .

The tragic skein unraveled. Michael Green was released
almost immediately from the mental health center. His parents,
people who had spent their lives dealing with young people, sent
him to Seattle, where it was intended that he live in akind of half-
way house.

Supervision was lax, but he seemed to be doing all right—
save for the incident at the sports arena. He had called home the
day before Kelly Emminger died and seemed in good spirits and
rational. . .

On October 1st, little Kelly Emminger was buried following a
Mass of the Angels at St. Catherine’s Church. On that same day,
her friend, Lisa Janis, remembered the horror that she had block-
ed out on the day Kelly died. She told her mother and Detective
Duane Homan that she had been playing in a yellow garage off
the alley next to the Hillcrest Apartments. She saw the man with
the long hair and the blue shirt and pants. She saw him grab Kelly
and drag her to an opening between two garages at the south end
of the alley. She heard Kelly scream, and she wanted to help her
but she was terrified. She crouched in the garage and watched
her friend kicking and struggling to get away. Lisa ran to the
grassy area in the back yard until, moments later, she saw the
man carrying Kelly, bloody and silent now, toward her.

It was at this time that he told her Kelly “had been hurt” and
asked her to run and get the injured child’s mother. For some
reason, Lisa, warned so often about avoiding cars, had cried out,
“Kelly’s been hit by a car” as she ran for help.

It was the final brick in the wall of evidence and circumstance
that had grown daily against Green. Officers Marberg,
Baughman, Homan and DePalmo agreed that there was no way
Michael Green’s version of the black man in the purple clothes
could be true. The center of the alley between Denny and
Howell rises to a small hill. If Green had chased the “rapist,” he
could not have seen him as he said he had. The slope would have
obscured his view. When one of the detectives stood at the north
end of the alley and his partner walked south, the walker soon
disappeared completely from view. ;

Yet Green claimed he’d seen the suspect with almost x-ray
clarity. How many humans could spot a one-inch scar on the face
of a running man never closer than 15 feet away? How many, in
the stress of the moment, would remember that shoes were wing-
tipped and had two-inch heels? No, Green had quite obviously
made up his story out of whole cloth. There was no black man.
There was only Green.

Although Green never admitted his crime to detectives, and,
in fact, seemed to treat the whole thing as a joke when Homan
and Sergeant Don Cameron visited him in the county jail where
they observed bruises and scrapes on hisright knee, he was more
loquacious with two fellow prisoners.

They had wondered if Green were the man who'd been
arrested in the stabbing of the little girl on the first night he was
brought in. He denied it and said he was in for burglary. When
they persisted, he first told them the same story he'd told
detectives—about the black man in the purple clothes. He said he
had tried to save the child by applying pressure on her artery and
that he had gotten blood on his clothing,.

Later, he told them that he had chosen Kelly as his victim.
He'd watched her for four or five days because he was attracted
by her blonde hair. When he saw her in the alley, he had ordered
her to lower her panties. She had begun to cry, and he’d stabbed
her—then picked her up to carry her away when he saw another
little girl watching (Lisa) and he had sent Lisa to get Kelly’s
mother. )

Murder weapon was left in a pool of blood at the scene

Michael Green told investigators of seeing child attacked

Green bragged, according to the informants, that even if
“they nail me,” he didn’t have to worry. He had a family doctor
who would testify that he was “schizo” and that he’d be out of jail
“by Wednesday.”

The only “crazy” thing about Green was his attitude toward
one of the most senseless and horrendous crimes in Seattle
history. He snickered and giggled, and smirked whenever
detectives talked to him—and looked as though he was fighting
outright laughter.

But it would not be funny. On October 1st, even asKelly Em-
minger was being bade farewell in the Mass of Angels, Michael
Charles Green was charged with aggravated murder in the first
degree. No bail.

This charge is a landmark in Washington justice. No one had
died for murder in Washington since Chester Sell was hanged for
killing a Seattle cab driver in 1963. But the citizens of Washington
voted in the death penalty in the elections in November, 1975.
Anyone convicted of aggravated first degree murder occurring
after July, 1976 could expect to receive the death penalty.

Michael Green went on trial in (Continued on page 64)
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HARLOTTE, called by its

Chamber of Commerce the

“Queen City of the South,” is easi-
ly the largest city in the Tar Heel State.
On the western edge of North Carolina’s
prosperous Piedmont section, it is a mec-
ca for youthful Southerners seeking good
wages and a high standard of living.

As aresult of its attractions for young,
working-class people, Charlotte has
burgeoned from a medium-sized, well-
planned city to a sprawling, complicated
metropolis in little more than a quarter-
century. Such growth can.overwhelm.
the best kind of city planning, resulting in
every kind of problem from crowded
housing to traffic tangles.

There are other urban problems con-
cerned with rapid, disruptive growth,
too. One of them is that large institutional
buildings and office complexes tend to be
grouped in one or more areas, at some
distance from occupied residences or the
mainstream of busy city life.

Persons who have to frequent such
areas early in the morning or late at night
find themselves walking alone and
vulnerable in a jungle of stone and
asphalt. Their destinations lie some little
distance ahead, and it is just as far back to
the safety of a locked car. Between there
is nothing . . . no open doors, no welcom-
ing lights, no protecting arms.

Charlotte is not a crime center, but it
has the same mugging, purse-snatching
and sex pervert problems with plague
any other large city today. Consequently,
it has a large and very capable police
department. Its Crimes Against Persons.
section, headed by Lieutenant- Wade
Stroud, is a crack unit. On the morning of
April 21, 1976, aWednesday, when an ab-
duction from the Tth Street parking lot
was reported, Lieutenant Stroud’s
department swung immediately into ac-
tion.

Officer R. W. Hoagland was dispatch-
ed to the parking lot, which lay in the dark
shadow of mammoth Memorial Stadium.
It was just after 8:00 on a brisk spring
morning. Hoagland knew the parking lot
was mainly used by workers and students
at nearby Central Piedmont Community
College, the complex of which nearly ad-
joins the lot. He and other Charlotte
police officers were dismally familiar
with the area, since they had found it a
nearly daily necessity to transport per-
sons arrested for public drunkenness to
the government detoxification center
which lay just across the street, for “dry-
ing out” purposes.

Near the exit gate of the parking lot,
Hoagland spotted a uniformed guard
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Vickie was kidnaped from the college

parking lot in full view of witnesses.

When homicide probers found the girl,

she was nude, spread-eagled, shot and

stabbed in the breast. And as a final

indignity, the killer had gouged

her eyes out . . .

from the college’s security forces, waiting

with three other persons. He quickly-

found that the two young women and one
man were the persons who had reported
the crime, first to the campus security
force and then to city police. They quick-
ly filled in the officer on what had

- happened.

One of the witnesses, an attractive, 20-
year-old college student, Nell Trenton,
told Hoagland she had arrived in her car
at the parking lot just before 8:00 that
morning. There were several other cars
already there, a couple of which were oc-
cupied. As she was preparing to get out of
her car, the trembling blonde said, she
had noticed a tall black man leaning into
the window of a white Pontiac parked
near the rear of the lot. Something in the
man’s stance and expression suggested to
the witness that he was threatening the
lone individual seated in the driver’s seat
of the Pontiac, the witness said. In a mo-
ment, the man had noticed her watching
him with suspicion, whereupon he had
abrutply reached inside the car, slipped
the lock on the left rear door, opened the
door and climbed into the Pontiac.

The car had started up almost instant-
ly, the witness continued, and proceeded
toward the exit gate. As it passed her, she
had stared into the vehicle, meeting the

wide, terrified eyes of a beautiul, dark-
haired girl at the wheel. Though the
witness had heard no sound, she saw the
girl's trembling lips form the words,
“Help me.”

As Hoagland already knew, the Tth
Street parking lot was one of those
facilities operated by timed entrance and
exit gates. When a motorist drives in, he
gets a ticket which he will present to a
hacnine at the exit gate. There the timehe
has been parked in the facility is figured
and charges made. When the proper
amount of money has been depositedina
slot, the exit gate will open-and the vehi-
cle can move out again.

Miss Trenton told Hoagland she had
gotten back into her own car and locked
the doors, but continued to observe the
white Pontiac. The car had approached
the exit gate toll slot, where its lovely
driver presented coins to the slot. Accor-
ding to the witness, the abduction vic-
tim’s hand was shaking so badly she had
difficulty getting the money into the
proper opening.

Miss Trenton said she had noted the
man in the back seat of the Pontiac gestur-
ing toward the east, and, when the Pon-
tiac reached 7th Street, it had moved off
rapidly, if erratically, in that direction,
passing quickly from her view.



Within seconds, the pretty blonde
said, another car had pulled into the lot
where she still sat trembling in her locked
car. The late arriving vehicle contained a
stalwart-looking young man. She had
blown her horn, the shaken girl said, and
waved frantically for the man to come to
her car, which he had promptly done.
When she sobbed to him the story of what
had happened, he reassured her, telling
her that he would immediately inform
campus security police.

Another witness to the frightening in-
cident was found in a parked car at-the
lot, and the three had gone to make their
report, which had resulted in Hoagland’s
appearance at the scene.

As soon as he was’ convinced of the
truth and seriousness of the report,
Hoagland quickly reported to his depart-
ment, requested assistance, which was
speedily dispatched to him. Together, in-
vestigators determined that the first thing
to do was to identify the abduction victim
and discover the license number of the
car in which she was reported to be
traveling.

Since witnesses reported that the
white Pontiac, which they believed to be
a 1968 model, had borne a campus
sticker, indicating that its driver was a stu-
dent at the school, lawmen, with the
assistance of campus security men, went
immediately to the school's traffic
records to find out who owned a car
matching that description. There were
several such persons, as it turned out, and
those who were males could not im-
mediately be eliminated. After all, the
pretty abduction victim might have been
driving her boyfriend’s vehicle. It wasn’t
long before they matched up the descrip-
tion of the car and victim with a pretty,
19-year-old coed who should at that mo-
ment have been in her English class, but
was not.

Vickie McKinney, a tall, curvaceous
brunette with long hair and flashing,
vivacious smile, was the owner of a white
1968 Pontiac Tempest. The girl was not in
class, and her car was not in its usual park-
ing place. A class mate reported to of-
ficers that she had waited in the lot that
morning for Vickie, whom she said was
afraid to walk through the areaalone. As
it grew close to 8:00 a.m., however, when
she was afraid she was going to belate for
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was later found nude; dead—and mutilated .”
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their English class, the girl said she had concluded Vickie was
:i]Ck or something and not coming, so she had walked on to school
one.

An all-points bulletin was quickly put out for the wanted car,
while investigators continued to probe for any information
regarding the suspected victim and her abductor.

A quick check determined that Vickie McKinney had last
been seen at her home in one of Charlotte’s most pleasant
residential suburbs at 7:15 that morning. At that time, the missing
girl's mother had left for her job as secretary with local
educational authorities. When she had last seen Vickie, the 19-
year-old coed’s mother reported, the girl had been getting ready
to go to the college in time for her 8:00 a.m. English class. Vickie
had been her usual exuberant self, looking forward to the day,
not complaining of feeling unwell or expressing any uncertainty
about attending her regular classes that Wednesday. Her parents
felt certain she had driven her 1968 Pontiac to its usual parking
place in time for her early morning class. The suspected identity
of the abduction victim was becoming more and more firm as the
hours passed.

According to those witnesses on the scene of the abduction,
the black man who had forced his victim off in the white Pontiac
had been somewhere around 6'1” or 6’2", weighing about 185
pounds, and had been dressed in work clothes. In one hand he
had been carrying a windbreaker type jacket of common
appearance. One of the female witneses said the man had worn a
blue work shirt with what had appeared to be a name plate at-
tached. She had been too far from the man to decipher what, if
anything, had been on the apparent name tag. This same witness
observed that the menacing man’s clothing had looked dirty.

That last was an interesting observation, investigators
thought. If the man had worn common work clothing, possibly
with a name tag attached to the shirt, and those clothes were dir-
ty, it was altogether possible that, when he had accosted his vic-
tim in the 7th Street parking lot, the man had been not long off
work. It had been just before 8:00 a.m., and 11-to-7 shifts are as
common in Charlotte as they are any place else.

One particular thing frustrated that possibility, however. In
their search of the parking lot, investigators had paid particular
attention to that area where the white Pontiac had been parked.
On the fender of a nearby car, they had found a brown paper bag
which contained several sandwiches, obviously somebody’s
lunch. The sandwiches seemed quite fresh, as though just made

Combining their expertise in murder probe were Detective Starnes (I.), polygraph operator Holmberg and Detective Goff
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that morning. The car on which the bag was found was just next
to the slot where witnesses said the white Pontiac had been park-
ed, and had been there, empty, at the time of the abduction.

In late canvassing for anybody who had seen a suspicious
black man around the area, more than one witness was found
who said they had seen a tall, sullen-looking black near the park-
ing lot, carrying a jacket and lunch bag in his hand.

Unfortunately, there was nothing in or on the bag which
would assist lawmen in identifying its owner or source. It was just
a common sack such as are used at thousands of stores to contain
‘small purchases. Its presence there, however, with fresh contents
intact, would seem to indicate that its owner had been on the way
to work, rather than returning from it.

A check of the near-certain victim’s background turned up
nobody whatever in the way of a suspect. Vickie McKinney, ac-
cording to her friends and classmates, had been a sparkling, out-
going girl, possessed of more friends and well-wishers than you
could shake a stick at. She didn’t just have one boyfriend, who
might have been on the outs with her, but had numerous escorts,
all of whom seemed to have enjoyed the best and friendliest -
relations with her. Vickie’s beautiful face and figure, while bring-
ing her a wealth of masculine attention, had not made her in the
least vain or self-centered. She had wanted to be an airline
stewardess, to travel and see the world, and was trying to proper-
ly educate herself toward that end.

The missing girl had, as part of a business course in
“Cooperative Office Occupations,” worked part-time for alocal
dentist, who was, in his own words, “terribly distressed” to learn
that something had happened to her. “She was one of the finest
young ladies who ever worked in my office,” he would later say,
“a super girl and super worker. She was quick to learn and easy to
teach,” replied the dentist.

Other co-workers, at a local department store where Miss
McKinney had worked part-time, responded much as had all the
girl's other friends and associates. They couldn’t think of a person
in the world who would wish Vickie any harm.

Though it is not unheard of in the South today that a white girl
might have a black boyfriend, police were assured that there
were none such among the missing girl’s acquaintances.

While some investigators probed Vickie McKinney's
background and social surroundings for a clue to her dis-
appearance, others were busy checking the registration of every
car in the 7th Street parking lot. There was a possibility, they




knew, that the abductor had driven into that lot in his own vehi-
cle, leaving it there to climb into that of his victim. They survey
was time-consuming, and drew an absolute blank. Lawmen were
fortunately able to locate every person whose car had been on
the lot at the time of the abduction, and eliminate every one of
them from suspicion of any connection with the case.

Later that morning, a city policeman on his way to work
happened to hear the all-points bulletin on Vickie McKinney’s
car over a walkie-talkie unit which he had on the front seat of his
personal vehicle. Looking ahead of him in the moving traffic, he
happened to spot a car matching the description. It was a white
Pontiac Tempest, a 1968 model bearing license number EYB-71.
The auto was proceeding into Charlotte from the east and was in
the curb lane. A lone black man was in the car. As the officer
watched him, the driver pulled his Pontiac out of traffic onto the
entrance to a service station.

Going to a position where he could maintain observation on
the wanted vehicle and its driver, the officer, who was in civilian
clothing, radioed for the nearest patrol car to come on and pick
the subject up. Uniformed OfficersR. M. Hayes and J. D. Gunter,
who had been cruising nearby, responded handily.

Approaching the suspect vehicle in its position at the service
station at Independence Boulevard and Idlewild, Officer Hayes
drew his gun and ordered the driver out onto the pavement. The
sullen-looking, mustached driver complied slowly. A quick body
search revealed a .32 caliber pistol in his right pants pocket,
which was removed as evidence. On the front seat of the Pontiac,
under a jacket, lay another weapon, this one a .38 magnum. The
arrested man’s pockets also yielded a knife.

A quick and careful search of the abduction victim’s car turn-
ed up no evidence of the girl, no blood, nor any other indication
that violence had occurred in the vehicle.

Hayes and Gunter quickly handcuffed their man and carried
him off to headquarters, after radioing to assure impoundment
of the Pontiac for examination by forensic specialists.

At police headquarters, the arrested man, 32-year-old Leroy
Johnson, was quickly processed and interrogated, after having
been advised of his rights. He denied any knowledge of a girl, or
any crime involving a girl. Under continued questioning, the
arrested man admitted having stolen the car, which he said had
contained its ignition keys, from the 7th Street parking lot, but
maintained complete ignorance of the fate of the car’s pretty
owner.

With Johnson in custody, it was discovered that an officer in
the department was well acquainted with the suspect, and
thought he might be able to get the truth out of him. Sergeant J.
K. Moore, who had established good rapport with Johnson dur-
ing his previous scrapes with the law, had a long talk with John-
son, but the man still maintained he did not know anything about
Vickie McKinney. At about 2:30 p.m., Johnson was turned over
to W. D. Starnes, who headed the McKinney investigation, and
Mike Holmberg, a veteran detective and polygraph man, for in-
tensive interrogation. The suspected man seemed to have no
hesitation whatever in talking with them, but steadfastly denied
having abducted any girl.

Soon after the McKinney vehicle had been apprehended, a
stringent effort had been launched to find the beautifu] coed,
who might at that moment be lying injured and helpless
somewhere in the countryside surrounding Charlotte. Sanitation
workers had been organized to search all the ditches and drains
thereabouts, areas which would be difficult to examine from the
air, while the police helicopter, nicknamed “Snoopy,” would fly
over the region in search of her. The aircraft, normally used
mainly for traffic, was manned by Officers V. B. Cook
and R. E. Arey. The two had been patrolling for some little time
when they spotted a suspicious object near the Mecklenburg-
Union County line.

Off U.S. 74 East there runs alittle, dead-end road with a turn-
around near Charlotte’s Marglyn Drive. Once open to traffic, the
lane had been closed several years before, and its pavement
ripped up to discourage idle motorists from driving down there
to dump refuse, make loye or engage in pot parties. The dis-

Twenty-eight-year-old Leroy Johnson came under searching

interrogation when cops located Vickie's missing Pontiac

couragement had not worked, however, since autos still drove
down the dirt lane for those purposes, as would witness the
ground and underbrush thereabouts.

At the end of the narrow little lane was the site of along
burned-out old home known as “The Burr Place,” and the loca-
tion was still referred to thusly by local residents.

It was near this old homesite of local fame that the suspicious
white object was seen from the police helicopter. Moving their
agile craft closer to the ground, Cook and Arey took a good look.
If the object on the ground was not a coprse, it was a mannequin,
they decided, and people don’t usually throw away such lifelike
plastic models. They communicated immediately with Mecklen-
burg County authorities, since the suspected corpse lay within
that law enforcement body’s precincts. It would be some 20
minutes before M. Crowell, of the county police force, arrived
at that part of U.S. 74 East, which is an extension of Charlotte’s
Independence Boulevard, for a look at the scene discovered by
the copter’s operators. He would soon be joined by county
colleagues Sergeant J. T. Helms and J. K. Williams.

In a location some 75 feet from the turnaround at the old Burr
place, in a thickly grown patch of honeysuckle and blackberry
vines, the saddened lawmen saw the lifeless body of what had
been a perfectly beautiful girl. She was completely nude, spread-
eagled on her back, and had probably been dead for several
hours. Stepping carefully, Crowell and the others went to their
radioes. They had little doubt that the missing Vickie McKinney
had been found. '

As soon as Charlotte City (Continued on page 61) .
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Country Club Plaza in Kansas City, Missouri, was in the
store’s credit office at 12:45 p.m. July 8, 1976, when he was
told that he had a telephone call. Tanquary assumed it concerned
store business when he picked up the receiver. But, he discovered
abruptly that the call had nothing to do with the store.

A man’s voice asked, “Is this Edward Tanquary?” Tanquary
replied affirmatively. The caller then told him to “listen carefully.”

“I have your mother, Mrs. Ethel Tanquary. She drives a 1972
blue Lincoln Continental, is this correct?”

“Why, yes, that’s right,” the startled young
man replied. .

“I have her driver’s license and safe deposit
box key under the floor mat of the car whichis
in the Ward Parkway Shopping Center,” he
said.

Apparently to further convince Tanquary
that he knew what he was talking about, the
caller proceeded to tell Tanquary his wife’s
name, the number of children he had, and

EDWARD Tanquary, a manager of Rothchild’s on the

UNDER
o THEGN
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The abductor of the wealthy matron may have thought

he was being very careful and professional, but from

the moment he went after the ransom payoff, lawmen

had him tabbed and knew every move he was making

where he lived. Then he got down to serious business.

“Now listen carefully. I want $22,000 in tens, twenties, and fif-
ties. I will call you tomorrow between five and five-thirty p.m.
Do not notify the authorities or you will never see her again.”

The caller mentioned the elder Mrs. Tanquary’s telephone
number and her address at The Tuileries, one of the areas most
exclusive apartment complexes located on 108th Street in
Overland Park, a Kansas City suburb. Herepeated that he would
call him the following day with final instructions. He ended the
conversation by asking, “Do you understand everything?” Tan-
quary said yes.

When the man hung up, Tanquary stood by the phone nearly
a full minute trying to comprehend the strange call. Was the man
serious, or was it some kind of sick joke?

He dialed his mother’s telephone number. He waited in vain
for a seemingly endless number of rings. He then called a close
friend of his mother, but again there was no answer.

Tanquary made two more calls. He called his wife and told
her about the call he’d received. He asked his wife if she’d talked
with his mother. She had not. Next he called William Gray, the

family’s attorney. When he told the attorney about the call, Gray

said he would call Myron Scafe, Overland Park Police Chief, to
advise him of the apparent kidnaping. Gray told Tanquary to
meet him in his (Gray’s) office in Overland Park.

Tanquary left Rothchild’s and drove to the Ward Parkway
Shopping Center. At the south end of the upper level of the park-
ing lot he saw his mother’s blue Lincoln. The keys to the car, her

driver’s license and safe deposit box key were under the floor
mat just as the caller said they were. *

The son had a sinking sensation in his stomach as he realized
his hope that the call was a joke had evaporated. It was obvious
the caller knew what he was talking about when he called the son.

When Tanquary arrived at Attorney Gray’s office, Chief
Scafe and a detective were already there. They were ]omed by
agents from the Federal Bureau of Investigation.

Tanquary went over the details of the telephone call with the
officers. He said that he drove by the Shopping Center and found
her car parked there. He said the items that the kidnaper said
were under the floor mat were there.

“I'm sure it’s no hoax,” the son said.

He gave the officers the keys and the driver’s license that he
taken from under the mat. He added that he locked the vehicle
and left it where it was parked.

The important thing was to secure Mrs. Tanquary’s release.
The authorities were mindful of the danger she was in and the
frequency with which kidnap victims are not released unharm-
ed. Her safety was vital in the minds of the men sitting in
Gray’s office. They believed the kidnaper’s instructions would
be followed and that they should make no rash moves which
might further jeopardize her life.

Gray suggested that they arrange with the Johnson County
Nationa] Bank & Trust Company in nearby Prairie Village, Kan-
sas, another suburb, to obtain the $22,000 ransom.

The authorities frankly were puzzled by the $22,000 demand.

Kidnaper held the wealthy matron captive in this apartment while he negotiated with her family for her release. Meanwhile,
local police and FBI men were on his trail. FBl agent McKenzie helped probe along when he spotted suspect’s automobile




Mrs. Tanquary was a wealthy widow
who lived in an exclusive apartment. She
easily could have paid a ransom many
times that being sought by the kidnaper.
Why did he specify $22,000?

It might be that he simply was a dis-
traught individual who owed debts total-
ing $22,000 and, in desperation, turned to
kidnaping in an effort to raise a specific
amount of money. If that was the case he
might be a man who would panic if he
thought his demands would not be met.

On the other hand, the caller had been
calm and professmnal in his conversation
with young Tanquary. The son said he
did not seem to be agitated or nervous.
He appeared to know exactly what he
was after. If this was an accurate analysis,
the authorities might be dealing with a
pro who wouldn’t panic, and who would
be more likely to release his victim un-
harmed if the ransom was paid as
demanded.

It was, of course, a gamble either way.

Tanquary and the agents drove to the
Johnson County Bank & Trust Company
where they discussed the situation with a
bank officer. A $22,000 ransom package
consisting of 10s, 20s and 50s was put
together. The serial numbers of the bills
were recorded before they were placed
in two blue bags bearing the name of the
bank.

After obtaining the money, Mr. Tan-
quary and two agents drove to Mrs. Tan-
quary’s apartment in Overland Park,
where they settled down to await another
contact from the kidnaper.

Meanwhile, it had been determined
that Mrs. Tanquary had gone to the Ward
Parkway center to meet alongtime friend
for lunch. The women were to meet at
11:30 a.m. at the entrnace of the Stix, Baer
& Fuller store. Mrs. Tanquary’s friend
arrived a little before 11:30.

‘Twenty minutes later Mrs. Tanquary
had not arrived. Because Mrs. Tanquary
was always prompt for appointments,
her friend was concerned. She called her
apartment; got no answer. Knowing it
took Mrs. Tanquary about 20 minutes to

drive from her apartment to the shopping .

center, the friend assumed she got a late
start and now was on her way.

When Mrs. Tanquary had not arrived
15 minutes later, the friend became ap-
prehensive. She called the woman’s
daughter-in-law but the line was busy.
She called the home and asked her hus-
band if Mrs. Tanquary called there. She
had not.

The friend waited till 1:30 p.m., then
returned to her own residence. She was
asked by agents if she saw Mrs. Tan-
quary’s Lincoln. She replied that it hadn’t
occurred to her to look around the huge
parking lot.

Later that afternoon she had talked to
Mrs. Tanquary’s daughter-in-law and
learned about the kidnaping. The woman
said Mrs. Tanquary was a wealthy
woman and would have no problem pay-
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Kidnaper took this valuable diamond ring
from his victim during the abduction ordeal

ing the ransom sum of $22,000.

She added that Mrs. Tanquary was a
calm, rational woman who would have
confidence in her son to handle the situa-
tion. The friend had known Edward Tan-
quary for several years and considered
him a level-headed young man who was
very dependable.

She believed that if the kidnaper ask-
ed Mrs. Tanquary whom to contact about
the ransom she would have him call her
son. In response to other questions the
friend said that although Mrs. Tanquary
was a wealthy woman she was “not
flashy” with her money. She dressed con-
servatively and wore a modest amount of
jewelry.

There were two theories to be con-
sidered. One was that Mrs. Tanquary was
abducted by a man on the spur of the mo-
ment who observed her park the Lincoln
and assumed she had money. The other
possibility was that the kidnaping was.
well-planned; that the kidnaper had been
waiting for an opportunity to abduct Mrs.
Tanquary and followed her to the park-
ing lot.

The latter possibility seemed remote.
First, few persons knew about the
luncheon engagement. To be certain of
catching Mrs. Tanquary in the parking lot
the kidnaper would have had to watch
her apartment for a certain length of time.

Meanwhile, at The Tuileries, Edward
Tanquary and the agents waited through
the night and the next day without hear-
ing from the kidnaper. A device was at-
tacked to the telephone to record in-
coming calls.

The scene was virtually the same at
the son’s home in Prairie Village. The
authorities could not be positive that the

kidnaper wouldn’t call Edward’s home
rather than the Tanquary apartment.
Thus agents and police officers waited
there, too.

At 5:07 p.m., July 9th thessilence in the
Tanquary apartment was broken by a
telephone ring. Edward answered
“Hello.”

“Mr. Edward Tanquary?”

“Yes,”Tanquary answered.

“Hold on just a minute,” the caller said
in a calm, relaxed voice.

The next voice on the line was Ethel
Tanquary!

“Edward?”

“Yes,” the son replied.

“Do exactly as the man tells you,” the
mother said.

“All right. Then you're all right!” the
son exclaimed with a note of relief in his

voice.

“I'm all right,” Mrs. Tanquary
repeated.

Then the kidnaper took over the
phone.

“Are you by yourself?”

“Yes,” the son said.

“Have you brought anybody in on
this?” he inquired.

“Just a personal friend to help me,’
Tanquary answered.

“Okay, I'll call you back in five
minutes. Keep the line free.”

“All right.”

At 5:10 p.m. the phone rang again. It
was the kidnaper.

“Okay, have you got a pencil and a
piece of paper? This w1ll have to be
quick,” he said.

“Okay,” Tanquary responded.

“Y ou know where McGilley’s Funeral
Home is at Linwood and Main (Kansas
City, Missouri)?”

“McGilley’s Funeral
Linwood and Main?”

“Right,” the kidnaper said. “They
have a parking lot there. It's at the west
side.”

“Okay, all
acknowledged.

“Okay. At the far northwest corner
there’s a patch of ground with a little
shrubbery. Have what I asked for in a
brown paper sack. Put it there between 7
and 7:10 this evening.”

“Between 7 and 7:10 this evening,”
Tanquary repeated.

“Only them 10 minutes,
rejoined.

“Okay, now, this patch of ground.”

“You'll see it at the far northwest cor-
ner of the parking lot.”

“Far northwest corner of the parking
lot,” Tanquary repeated.

“Not before 7 and not after 7:10. Do
you follow me?”

When Tanquary said he understood,
the kidnaper added a warning: “Okay;, if
you haven't brought anybody in your
mother will be safe.”

“When will I see her?” the son asked.

“Exactly two and one-half hours

Home at

right,”” Tanquary

” the kidnaper



afterwards,” the kidnaper replied.

When Tanquary asked where, the
caller said he would be notified.

“She’ll call you herself,” he added.

The caller asked Tanquary once more
if he understood, then he hung up the
phone. '

The agents notified Bill D. Williams,
Special Agent in Charge, who was
waiting in the FBI office at the Federal
Building with Majors Sidney Harlow and
James Campbell of the Kansas City
Police Department. Williams jotted
down some notes as he talked with the
agent.

The investigation had reached a
crucial stage, and a wrong move could
mean tragedy. The single most important
thing now was to make sure Mrs. Tan-
quary was released unharmed.

Williams discussed the next move
with Harlow and Campbell. They decid-
ed not to stakeout the drop site for fear of
alarming the kidnaper when he came
after the ransom. He had made it clear
Mrs. Tanquary would not be with him
and would not be released until after the
ransom was paid.

And there was another consideration
that had to be taken into account. There
was always the possibility that another
person was involved in the kidnaping and
would be guarding Mrs. Tanquary while
the ransom was being picked up. If the
pickup went awry it could be fatal to the
victim.

“The first thing is to get her back safe-
ly, then we'll go after the kidnaper,”
Williams said.

It was decided that James D. McKen-
zie, Assistant Special Agent in Charge,
would be stationed in a building about
100 yards from the McGilley parking lot.

He would not be close enough to be seen .

by the kidnaper, but by using binoculars
he could observe cars entering and leav-
ing the funeral home parking lot. Robert
L. Sypult, an FBI agent, would conceal
himself on the floor of Tanquary’s station
wagon and go with him on the drop.

At 6:25 p.m. McKenzie took his posi-
tion in the building to watch thelot. At the
same time, Tanquary, accompanied by
Agent Sypult, left The Tuileries for the
trip downtown. Other FBI agents in cars
were spotted around the metropolitan
area so that they could be near any loca-
tion within a few minutes.

At 7:02 pm. McKenzie observed Tan-
quary’s station wagon enter the parking
lot. The two bank bags containing the
ransom were in a brown paper sack. Tan-
quary drove through the parking lot to
the area designated by the kidnaper. He
placed the sack near a shrub.

He got back into the station wagon
and left. He turned onto Linwood and
returned to The Tuileries.

At 7:09 p.m. McKenzie saw a white
over blue 1970 Dodge 4-door turn into the
lot. The car drove slowly across the lot
toward the drop site. Seconds later the

vehicle turned west on Linwood at a high
rate of speed. Although McKenzie could
not see the actual pickup, it had been
made.

Because of the distance, McKenzie
was not able to make out the numbers on
the license plate, but he could see that it
was a Missouri tag. He reported back to
Williams that the pickup was made
without a problem. Once again the
waiting began.

At 8:20 p.m. the nerve-wracking vigil
ended. Mrs. Tanquary called her son’s
home and told her daughter-in-law that
she was safe!

Mrs. Tanquary was released in a small
shopping center at 103rd Street and State
Line Road. She called from a dress shop
at 10117 State Line. Within a couple of

Donald Durns became a prime suspectinthe
case which was finally resolved when most
of the ransom money, shown below with FBI
agent John Cannon, was recovered by police

minutes, while Mrs. Tanquary was still
talking on the phone, an FBI agent assign-
ed to the area arrived at the shop. He
identified himself and told her he would
take her home.

After Mrs. Tanquary arrived back at
her apartment and had a few moments to
rest she told the agents she was feeling
well and could tell them about her ordeal.
She assured them that she had not been
harmed by the kidnaper and felt sur-
prisingly well.

It started at 11:15 o’clock the previous
day when she parked her Continental at
the shopping center. As she started to get
out, a man suddenly appeared at thedoor -
displaying a knife and told her, “This is a
holdup, move over to the other side.”

He told her, “Look at the floor all
the time, don’t look at me, and don’t talk.
I have a knife and a gun. The gun has a
silencer on it and I will use them both if
necessary.” The woman described his
voice as “very authoritative.”

“Did you catch a glimpse of him
before he told you to lock away?” an
agent inquired.

Mrs. Tanquary replied that at first
glance he appeared to be about five feet
10 inches tall, weight 185 to 200 pounds,
clean shaven with dark hair graying at the
temples. He was wearing horn-rimmed
glasses.

She felt it woudl go better for her if
she followed his instructions. She kept her
eyes on the floorboards as he drove out of
the parking lot and south on State Line
Road.

“Could you identify him if you saw
him again?” an agent asked.

Mrs. Tanquary said that frankly she
didn’t know. She explained again that she
kept her eyes averted as he told her and
later was blindfolded.

The man stopped the car on a gravel
road and went through Mrs. Tanquary’s.
purse. He took the cash she had and
removed an expensive diamond ring
from her finger. He found a blank check
on the Overland Park State Bank in her
purse and asked her how much she could
write it for. She replied $100.

“That won’t do it. Now how much can
you write it for?” the man snapped. Mrs.
Tanquary said she answered, “How
about $12,000?” The manhad her sign the
check and told her he would fill in the rest
of it.

He taped her eyes with adhesive tape
and replaced her sunglasses, she con-
tinued. He later removed the bottom strip
of tape because it showed beneath her
glasses. He told her they were going to the
Overland Park State Bank to cash the
check at the drive-in facility.

“Now understand. You are not sup-
posed to move your head. Keep it straight
and do not talk. I want you torememberl
have this gun,” the man said as he pushed
the weapon against her side.

Mrs. Tanquary said she could see a lit-

(Continued on page 70)
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HowTheNurse’s

AideHelpedCatch
HerRapist

Tank shirt found on clothesline matched one worn by rapist

by MALCOLM BURDSALL

thorniest problems on the front end was selecting an im-

partial jury. Many of the veniremen had formed opinions,
relationships or prejudices that disqualified them from sitting in
judgment on the defendant.

His name was I'ommy Noell. He was being arraigned for trial
on an indictment of raping a young woman we'll call Katherine
Lorenzo. The trial was going down before Judge Clarence W.
Hall in the Superior Court of Orange County, North Carolina.

Before the proceeding was over, Judge Hall would have to
make some almost-Solomonic decisions. Some would be re-
quired by the utterances of prospective jurors, others by strong
closing arguments from the solicitor. The rest pertained to
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I T WAS a hard-fought trial from start to finish. One of the

the qualifications of the selected veniremen.
As courtroom buffs know, during the voir dire process used
for juror selection, veniremen can be dismissed for two reasons.

“If the individual says something to indicate he cannot render an

unbiased verdict, he can be dismissed for cause. He can also be
dismissed peremptorily.

This can be for any reason that pleases the fancy of either
lawyer. It can be because the attorney suspects some unadmitted
prejudice on the juror’s part. Or it can be just because he doesn’t
like the way that person holds his mouth.

Lawyers trying a case are usually contentious. They’ll argue
about anything and raise objections at the slightest excuse. So it
was to be in this proceeding, where Tommy Noell's life was the
brass ring beside the merry-go-round of legalisms. .

The quibbling started with Defense Attorney Robert Epting
of Chapel Hill, North Carolina taking exception to the dismissal
of some veniremen. Before it was over, it became so repetitious
as to be downright absurd, but it illustrates what officers of the
court endure every day.

It also illustrates the fact that lawyers picking jurors don’t
usually have a roomful of geniuses to work with. Here issome of
the voir dire that took place.

Solicitor Pierce: “What is the extent of your acquaintance
with the defendant?”

Vernireman Allison: “Acquainted with the whole family.”

Solicitor Pierce: “Well, let me ask you this, sir. As a result of
your acquaintance with the whole family, would it be impossible
for you to bring in a verdict of guilty against the defendant.”

Vernireman Allison: “I would think so.”

Solicitor Pierce: “Could you or could you not find the defen- -
dant guilty if the state satisfied you beyond a reasonable doubt of
his guilt?”

Verireman Allison: “Very well acquainted with his whole
family.”

Judge Hall: “That’s not the point he’s making. If the state
satisfied you beyond a reasonable doubt, would you be able to
find him guilty?”

Verireman Allison: “Oh, with the connection to the family,
no, sir. I'm very well acquainted.”

The solicitor asked that the venireman be dismissed for cause.
The defense attorney objected. Judge Hall granted the motion
and told Allison to stand aside. Two female veniremen later took
the stand to the examined.

Solicitor Pierce asked each if she knew the defendant. Both
said they did. He then posed the same question twice: “If the
state satisfied you of Tommy Noell's guilt beyond any
reasonable doubt, would it be impossible for you to bring in a
verdict of guilty?” .

Both replied: “Yes, it would.” Both were excused for cause.
The defense attorney took exception so, if necessary, he could



Despite a grueling ordeal during which she lost

consciousness, the plucky heauty displayed an

astonishing memory for tiny details that proved
invaluable when lawmen went after her assailant

cite their dismissal as trial court error on appeal. And the voir dire
proceeded.

Since the defendant was black and the victim was white, it
was almost inevitable that racial questions would be asked.
Defense Counsel Epting raised the matter while questioning a
white female venireman.

Counsel Epting: “Now, Mrs. Carter, would the fact this man
is from an interracial marriage affect your consideration of
testimony in this case?”

Mrs. Carter: “No, sir.”

Counsel Epting: “Do you have any personal feelings about in-
terracial marriage?” .

Mrs. Carter: “Not especially.”

Counsel Epting: “Well, 1 take it from your answer that you
mean they are not especially strong feelings.”

Mrs. Carter: “Yes, sir.”

Counsel Epting: “Do you have any feelings against interracial
marriages, or are you telling me your feelings are neutral.”

Mrs. Carter: “Well, mine would be against.”

Counsel Epting: “Do you think your feelings against in-
terracial marriages could affect your consideration of the
testimony in this case?”

Mrs. Carter: “Maybe. It probably could.”

Wham! There it was! Counsel for the defense had kept going
until he picked an oblique hint of racial bias from the prospective
juror. He asked that she be excused for cause. Judge Hall refused
to do so, telling Epting he could examine her further if he wished.
The lawyer simply excused her peremptorily. And the tedious
voir dire moved on and on and on.

Much of it pertained to the personal feelings of prospective
jurors about capital punishment, but we can review that later
along with the rest of the trial. Meanwhile, let us flash back to the
sex assault on Katherine Lorenzo and the investigation that
followed. :

On Wednesday, May 23, 1973, Miss Lorenzo was employed
as a nurse’s aide at the North Carolina Memorial Hospital in
Chapel Hill. She lived in an apartment complex in the hamlet of
Carrborm, population 1,997, an incorporated suburb to the
northwest of Chapel Hill.

She left the hospital shortly before 9 a.m., made the 5-mile
drive along Highway 54 to her apartment and arrived there at
9:05 a.m. Driving down the highway she noticed ablack manina
green 1971 Maverick Automobile. He seemed to be watching
her, she said later.

The driver of the green automobile turned off into the apart-
ment complex ahead of her, then pulled to the curb, allowing her
to pass him. As she parked her car she noticed him drive past her
again. .

Miss Lorenzo went into her apartment, closed the front door
and started toward the bedroom. She was expecting a friend to

Rapist left his wrist watch on floor of victim's apartment

come by and accompany her on a shoppong trip, so she thought
that was who had arrived when there was aknock on the door.

“Come on in,” she called

In walked a young, black man dressed in green slacks and a
burgundy or maroon pullover knit shirt. It was the same man she
had noticed driving the green car.

“I sell vacuum cleaners,” she quoted him. “Would you be in-
terested in buying a vacuum cleaner?”

“I don’t need one, but my roommate might. You can come
back this evening and talk to her.” '

The uninvited visitor turned around and walked toward the
door as if to leave. But instead of pulling it open, he locked it.
Then he turned around and and told her in explicit, obscene
gutter language that he wanted to have sexual intercourse with
her. (Continued on page 78)
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by DAVIE RAEFORD

If the case proved only one thing to Southern
detectives and horrified residents of the community,
it was the indisputable fact that

FATAL CHILD ABUSE
ISNEVERAN AGGIDENT !

HERE ARE various echelons of
the criminal world, just as there

are various strata in legitimate.

society. Perhaps the most sharply defined
of these various levels of criminal society
is behind prison walls. It is there that the
criminal is placed within a close-knit
framework of so-called “people of his
kind.”

There may be in the criminal world
some dispute over who is the top dog, but
there is little or none about who fits at the
bottom of the totem pole. The child
abuser and/or the child murderer trad-
itionally has held that position, even
below the snitch, the rat, or squealer
who turns state’s evidence to save his own
hide.

To the policeman, the investigation of
the abused child case is the toughest of all
to handle emotionallv. Ravished and
slaughtered women and brutalized and
dead old people are hard to take. The
brave man who dies defending his family
likewise will arouse the investigator’s
emotion out of the realm of the day-to-
dav experience. But it is the case of the
brutalized, tortured child which scars
the soul and taxes the lawmen’s self con-
trol to the utmost.

And traditionally, making it even
more difficult to handle, has been the
system of criminal justice which often
does no more than give the offender a
slap on the wrist and place the victim
right back into that hell whence he had
been briefly removed.

The history of jurisprudence is liberal-
ly filled with the case of the most vicious
and murderous sort who can vividly
recount his experiences at the hands of a
brutal parent or parents.

Traditionally, the investigator of
criminal child abuse has been plagued by
two problems. First, the parent or parents
involved have legal protection against
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Even jail immates were outraged over the diabolical cruelties suffered_py litt'le
John Robert Dobbs. They beat up suspect in the case while he was awaiting trial



Among other fiendish tortures inflicted on body of two-year-old boy were severe burnings to his genital area.by curling-
iron (1). He had also been brutally beaten about the head with a stick (r) and knocked down a flight of stairs

testimony by each other. Secondly,
medical personnel, particularly doctors,
have been reluctant to report suspected
or known cases of child abuse. Their
reasoning has been that because of
general court leniency in such matters, a
doctor is wide open to alaw suit by one or
more members of a child’s family.

But there are those in the field who
cast aside that fear and act quickly. One
such man is Dr. Ellis Keener of Decatur,
Georgia and it is with him that we begin
the story of the murder of John Robert
Dobbs, aged 2.

Sunday night, February 8, 1976, was a
cold clear night in Decatur, Georgia. In-
vestigator Dewey Brown was working
the night watch in the crimes against per-
sons section for Dekalb County police.
The father of four young sons, Brown fre-
quently fretted over the fact he didn’t
have more time to spend with the boys.
Even then, he was contemplating a re-
quest to be returned to the uniform divi-
sion because the prospect of that assign-
ment might preyide him more opportuni-
ty to enjoy the company of his family.

Brown was highly valued by Lieute-
nant Charles Staples, head of the Crimes
Against Persons section. Since Staples
had returned from a tour with the un-
iform division, he had had a chance to
- observe in Brown a number of excep-
tional qualities so important to an in-
vestigator. Particularly impressive was
the dogged thoroughness that Dewey
Brown had evidenced on several murder
investigations. -

Sunday night, February 8th, had been
arelatively quiet one for Brown and in the
early morning hours of February 9th, he
was embroiled in paperwork, completing
reports in preparation for a session in
Superior Court.

This rather prosaic task was in-
terrupted at 3:15 a.m. by a telephone call

from Investigator Ken Holland, who had
responded to a call to Dekalb General
Hospital.

“We got a child abuse case and I need
help,” Holland said. “The doctor doesn’t
think the little boy is going to live.”

There was nothnig to do except, as the
saying goes, “suck it up and go.” -~

At the hospital, Detective Dewey
Brown was met by Investigator Holland.
Briefly, Holland reviewed the situation.
Dr. Ellis Keener had requested an officer
for the emergency room and Patrolman
J.M. Middleton had responded. Keener
had under his care a two-year-old boy
who was suffering from numerous
bruises on the back of the head and burns
to the genital and rectal area.

It was 30 minutes after his arrival at
the hospital that Detective Brown was
able to talk to the physician and learn the
horrible details of what medical per-
sonnel had discovered.

The grim-faced doctor detailed that
John Robert Dobbs had three or four
burns in the rectal area, six or eight more
on the scrotum and penis, Additionally,
there were some 25 bruises of various
sizes and severity on the child’s back,
arms and legs and 18 or 19 more bruises
on the head.

The bruises and burns to the body
were more painful than serious, but the
child’s critical condition came as a result
of one or more blows to the head. The
result of this was a subdural hematoma
necessitating surgery to relieve the
pressure on the brain. It was this condi-
tion which left Dr. Keener and other
medical experts with the opinion that the
youngster would not survive.

There were members of the child’s
family at the hospital, Brown was told, in-
cluding the victim’s mother and his step-
father. It was the stepfather who had
brought the critically injured youngster to

the emergency room. When questioned
about the wounds to John Robert Dobbs,
the stepfather said the child had fallen
down.

Detective Brown chose to speak first
with the 19-year-old mother of the grave-
ly injured child. She had been told while
at work that her baby was at the hospital
in a serious condition and had come im-
mediately. When she had left for her
place of employment at about 9:30 p.m.
on Sunday night, Robert, as he was
called, had been perfectly healthy, as far
as she knew, and she knew nothing about
any injuries he had sustained.

Dewey Brown studied his note pad,
which graphically recorded the burns as
they had been described by Dr. Keener.
The third degree injuries appeared to be
symmetrical. They were small and might
have been the result of cigarette burns.
However, if the burns had been done
with a cigarette, it was possible they had
been cleaned before the child was
brought to the hospital. There was no
evidence of ash, such as would be ex-
pected from cigarette burns, on any of
these particular wounds.

She knew nothing of the burns, the 19-
year-old mother told the hard-eyed,
questioning Brown. She had left her son
with her husband of six weeks, Charles
Glenn Waites, and his sister.

The sister of Charles Waites was then
interviewed. The only thing she knew
about any injuries to little Robert, she
said, involved an incident on the previous
Friday evening. She, Robert and Charles
had been in the apartment alone. Charles
and Robert were playing with a toy and
she had called Robert to come to her. The
child had started toddling across the liv-
ing room, caught his foot in a telephone
cord and fell. In falling, he had struck his
mouth on the corner of a coffee table.

Brown checked his notes. There was
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no specific mention of an injury to the vic-
tim’s mouth. He began questioning
Charles Waites’ sister more pointedly.
The result, when infrequent answers
were given, was vague, inconsequential
replies. She, too, had left the apartment
tbout 9:25 p.m. in order to be at her place
of employment at 10 p.m.

Charles Waites said he had been alone
with little Robert Dobbs, babysitting
while his wife and sister were at work.
Robert had fallen down the stairs earlier
in the evening, Waites said, and another
man who lived in the apartment had seen
this.

At the time, Waites said, the youngster
did not appear to be injured and he had
taken him back upstairs. Waites said he
went into the bathroom to brush his teeth.
He had had some wisdom teeth pulled,
the child’s stepfather explained, and this
necessitated brushing his teeth frequent-
ly.

Before going to brush his teeth, Waites
continued, he had placed Robert on a
bed. As he was leaving the bathroom, he
continued, he heard a bump. Then,
Waites said, he saw Robert lying face
down on the floor.

“I went to pick him up and he was
limp and vomiting,” Waites said.

The child’s condition was disturbing,
he said. He took Robert into the living
room, placed him on a couch and then
went across the hall and asked his
neighbor to come look at the little boy.
Waites said he did not have a wholelot of
experience around children and wanted
to get his neighbor’s opinion about the
situation.

When they returned to look at the
child, Waites said, his neighbor had tried
to give Robert mouth-to-mouthresuscita-
tion, but that the child’s jaw was clenched
shut. The two of them had then rushed
Robert to the hospital.

When questioned about the burns
which Dr. Keener had described, Waites
said he knew nothing of the burns and
could not give any explanation about
where they had come from, or who might
have administered them.

Without further conversation with
Waites, Detective Dewey Brown advised
him of his rights and placed him under
arrest, charged with cruelty to a child.
Waites was then taken to Dekalb County

Police Headquarters where he was hand- *

ed a waiver of rights form.

With Detective Ken Holland witness-
ing the procedure, therights form was ex-
ecuted. Waites then gave a detailed state-
ment which officer Brown reduced to
writing.

Waites started out by saying he had
been babysitting with Robert on Friday
night. He had been playing with the child
when he fell and hit his mouth on the
coffee table.

Questioned specifically about the
matter, Waites said he definitely was
alone with Robert when he fell against the
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coffee table. This was in direct contradic-
tion to what Waites™ sister had said..

At 5:15 a.m., February 9th, after talk-
ing with Waites for 45 minutes, the inter-
view was concluded.

After discussing the case, Detectives
Brown and Holland agreed that they
weren’t anywhere near the truth of the
situation. Since both of them had beenon
duty all night, it was agreed to let a fresh
man interrogate Waites when the shifts
changed.

Steve Davis was given a copy of
Waites” statement when he came on duty
and was asked to have a talk with the
suspect. Meanwhile, Detective Dewey
Brown had prepared an affidavit
preparatory to seeking a search warrant
for the apartment where Waites, his wife,
sister and the injured child had been liv-
ing.
While the affidavit was being
prepared, Detective Davis left the inter-
view room where he was talking with
Waites to tell Brown: “He just admitted
that he hit the boy. Said he hit him in the
head with a white plastic comb with
prongs on it—a rattail comb. He said right
after he hit the child that the child went
limp and fell to the floor.”

Davis related that Waites had further
stated that John Robert Dobbs had been
burned with a hair dryer.

The comb and hair dryer were added
to the list of items in the affidavit for
search warrant and taken to Judge John
Mobley, who signed the document.

While Davis and Sergeant John
Fenley got Waites to give another written
statement, including the new pieces of in-

Det. Dewey Brown, himself the father of four
young sons, was repelled over torture-death
of victim, grimly vowed to catch perpetrator

formation, Detective Brown, and John
Carsten and D.E. Palmer went to the
crime scene. They were joined by Greg
Long of the identification bureau, who
would take photographs.

A number of items, including the rat-
tail comb, a small piece of what might
have been a broken broom handle, a hair
dryer and other related cosmetic items
were taken from the residence. They
were bagged and tagged and taken to the
State Crime lab for study.

Shortly after 1 p.m. on February 9th,
Sergeant Arnold Fulgham, technician
from the identification department of the
Dekalb County Police, went to General
Hospital to make photographs of the vic-
tim.

Meanwhile, doctors fighting
desperately to save the gravely injured
child, reported that it appeared that the
little boy had been subjected to some sort
of anal penetration.

Charles Waites had been lodged in jail
by Detective Steve Davis after the mor-
ning interview was completed. When
Detective Dewey Brown learned that
physicians suspected the young victim
had suffered anal injury, he discussed the
matter with Davis. Davis agreed he seem-
ed to be having good success with getting
information from Waites and returned to
the jail for another interview.

At 2:15 p.m., Waites was removed
from his cell and in a short time, Detec-
tive Davis had learned another sickening
detail of the torture of the two-year-old
boy. At first, Waites denied that he had in-
serted anything in the child’s anus, but
finally admitted that he possibly had in-
serted a (writing) pen or a mallet.

Why would he want to do such a
thing? Davis asked.

After some reluctance at answering
that question, Waites finally responded:
“I wanted to watch Robert’s tail openand
shut.”

This interview conducted by Davis
was witnessed by Sergeant Thomas Y ates
and when Waites statement was reduced
to writing, Yates and Davis signed it as
well and made it a part of the growing
file.

Meanwhile medical personnel were
carrying on a valiant fight to save the life
of little John Robert Dobbs. However,
doctors held out little hope that the child
would survive. He had been in a coma
since being admitted to the hospital and it
would be nothing sort of a miracle, they
admitted, if he survived. Further, they
were now of the opinion that some of the
injuries the child had suffered could be as
much as two or three weeks vld. )

Investigators, meanwhile, were pur-
suing every angle of the investigationinto
the family background of the gravely in-
jured youngster. He had been born out of
wedlock, they learned, but there
appeared to be no incidence of his being
mistreated at any time until Charles

(Continued on page 52)
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by J. E. McILHONE

- Bought for “protection,” this .38 caliber pistol proved to be
N weapon which snuffed out the life of widow Cora Moore (below)

I'l‘ LOOKED as though someone had been doing a

IS P A Vi e |

striptease along the lonely rural road between the orange

groves. First there was the big patent leather handbag, ly-
ing conspicuously on the pavement a few feet out from the curb.
Then there was a black suede shoe lying upturned in the gutter.
Then came the crumpled blue cotton glove.

It was the black handbag that first caught the eves of the
motorist as he emerged from the private road in a station wagon |
and turned onto the pavement of Mountain Avenue, at the out-

- skirts of Claremont, out in the San Gabriel Valley at the eastern
end of Los Angeles County, a little after 10 o’clock on the crisp
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The slain woman, garbed in an expensive fur coat,
was obviously wealthy, and one of the earlyriddles

in the strange case was why—when she failed to

returned home—no one bothered toreport her missing

r Glassic In TD’
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autumn Monday morning of November
20th. .

“There’s someone’s purse!” his

passenger suddenly told the driver as the
wagon was picking up speed on the
narrow country road. “We'd better stop
and pick it up. It may have fallen out of a
car.
The man dutifully pulled up at the
curb, got out and picked up the purse to
examine it. Then he saw the shoe, and
then the glove a prickling of foreboding
gripped him, and it was with a conscious
effort that he raised his eyes along the line
indicated by the strewn articles.

Just over the curb, in the soggy loam
of the grove, was the other shoe. A little
beyond it were a vivid blue hair-ribbon
and an amber comb.

“You’'d better stay in the car,” he said
sharply. “There’s something wrong
here!” Slowly, holding the handbag
gingerly, he stepped over the curb and
walked in among the heavy-foliaged
citrus trees that lined the road.

The figure that lay huddled under one
of the trees, a few yards from the curb, at
first glance looked like some sort of furry
animal asleep under the lush dark green
leaves. Only it wasn’t an animal and it
wasn't asleep. The strip-tease trail had
come to a macabre end.

It was the body of a beautiful auburn-
haired young woman, clad in a knee-
length muskrat coat and blue crepe
cocktail dress. Nothing could have been
more incongruous than her lying out there
in the silent orange grove in the San
Gabriel Valley on that hazy November
morning. For her looks and costume, and
the faint clinging aura of exotic perfume
that he breathed as he knelt beside her,
were more in keeping with moonlight
and roses and romance, soft lights and
soft seductive music.

At her soft white throat, and half-
crushed as she lay crumpled on her left
side, was a pale blue cloth artificial
flower—a delphinium, the man noted
irrelevantly. On her right hand, folded
over her bosom in an attitude of repose,
was the other blue glove, half stripped
from the fingers. Her skirt was hiked up
to reveal a filmy pink slip.

There were no wvisible marks of
violence, but the clammy touch of the
milk-white skin and the rigiditv of the
face under the tumbled auburn hair
spoke unmistakably of death. He also
observed that the fur coat was drenched
with dew. She had obviously been lying
there since the night before.

Keeping his head, the man, backtrack-
ing in his own footprints in the soft, damp
clods, took the purse and laid it carefully
back in the roadway, as near as he could
estimate to where he had picked it up.

“You'd better go back to the house
and call the police,” he told the woman.
“I'll stay here and see that no one disturbs

it.”

“What do you think happened to
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Deputies Hannon (1.) and AcheQn'bach devoted
their efforts to tracking down the murder gun

Inspector Penprase was quick to reach scene
of orange grove murder, headed investigation

Capfain Bower sent detectives outto loate
two former suitors of the murdered widow

her?” the woman asked him. “Do you
think she was hurt in an accident—or toss-
ed out of a car?”

“Hard telling. Doesn’t seem like she
could have been hurt on the road, lying
that far back there in the trees. More like-
ly dragged over there.”

When Police Chief T.J. Lowry of the
small college town of Claremont sirened
up to the grim scene on Mountain Avenue
a half-mile south of Foothill Boulevard in
response to the woman’s breathless call,
he saw at once that it was a case for out-
side help. He knew a good proportion of
Claremont’s 6,000 residents, at least by
sight, and he didn’t recognize the dead
woman. It was very likely that she came
from elsewhere and her body just
happened to be deposited on the edge of
his jurisdiction. So he put in a call for the
Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Depart-
ment through the police radio of nearby
Pomona.

By the time Deputy Sheriff Walter F.
Slead of the San Dimas Sub-Station arriv-
ed in his radio car, Chief Lowry had
determined that the glamor girl in the
orange grove was no accident victim.

“Look here,” he showed the deputy,
carefully lifting the head and pulling back
the thick red-brown hair from the left
temple. There was an ugly red and blue
powder-rimmed gunshot wound in the -
side of her head, and blood was caked on
the left cheek.

Since there was no gun to be seen
around the spot, it was quite evident that
murder had come to quiet, sedate Clare-
mont.

When Deputies Walker “Tex” Han-
non and Raymond T. Hopkinson of the
Sheriff’s Bureau of Invesigation reached
the scene shortly before noon, Deputy
Slead greeted them with a concise
abstract of information.

“No gun any place,” he told them. “It’s
murder, for sure. There are blood spots
on the road here, near the curb, around
where the purse was lying—I've marked

. the spot. The purse has blood on it, too. I

haven’t opened it. Didn’t want to disturb
anything. I've kept the people back from
walking around here, too, though I don’t
see any footprints in this rough ground.
But there are some tire marks over there
in that patch of sand. Looks like a car
turned around there.”

Soberly the sheriff’s investigators ex-
amined the body in its pitifal evening
finery, grotesquely out of place as it lay
among the clods and weeds, close under a
dense-leafed tree heavy with golden
fruit, that had concealed it from the road.

Mud and twigs on the sheer nylon
hose, and a faint trail in the damp earth,
indicated where the dead woman had
been dragged from the curbing into the
orange grove. Her shoes had evidently
come off in the process.

“Not much point in dragging the body
in here to hide it among the trees and then
leaving the purse, shoe and glove out



there in the road for anyone to find,” Tex
Hannon commented.

“Probably pretty dark when it
happened, though,” Ray Hopkinson
pointed out. “No streetlights out here.
Could be the killer didn’t know those
things had fallen there. Probably
terrified, and in a hurry to get away.”

“Well, let’s take a look in the purse.”
Hannon turned to the patent leather
handbag which Slead had placed careful-
ly on the concrete curb.

“I tried to keep from getting my
fingerprints on it,” the uniformed deputy
supplied, “but this man, here, had already
handled it, you know. He says he was

" careful with'it, though, so there may still
be some prints on it.”

“Good work,” Hannon nodded as he
lifted the purse with his fingertips and
scrutinized it critically. “We'll see that it
isn’t handled any more thanithastobe.”

Aside from the splattered bloodstains
on one side, and a film of dust, the black
handbag appeared to be intact. Hannon,
still using his fingertips, pulled back the
zipper and the others craned to look in-
side. It contained the usual assortment of
a woman’s personal articles and
cosmetics. The investigator dumped its
contents out on the curbing.

“Lipstick, compact, comb, cigarettes,
change purse—about a dollar in change—
a $5 bill, and here’s her wallet with her
ID—Cora Ethel Moore, 434 West
Marigold Street, Altadena,™ Hopkinson
read from the driver’s license. “That’s a
good address! It's a wonder she hasn’t
been reported missing. There weren’t any
reports this morning.”

The Altadena address was in the plush
northern suburb of Pasadena, an ex-
clusive district of expensive residences on
tree-shaded streets that wind up into the
foothills of the San Gabriel Mountains, at
the base of towering Mount Wilson. It
was about 25 miles from the orange-
grove scene of violent death.

While Tex Hannon hurried to a
telephone to call the identification in to
Inspector William J. Penprase at Head-
quarters, the deputy coroner and official
photographer arrived, accompanied by a
corps of newspapermen who immediate-
ly took off for Altadena on learning the
slain woman’s identity.

After the body had been photograph-
ed as it lay, the coroner’s man turned it
over. A plain gold wedding band was dis-
closed on the well-manicured left hand,
as well as a thin, expensive gold wrist
watch.

“Watch stopped at 9:02,” Ray Hopkin-
son noted. “Must’ve run down, since it
isn’t damaged. Yes, it's run down,” he
confirmed as he turned the unresisting
stem.

On the ring finger of the woman’s
right hand, which had been partially
gloved, was a gold ring with a small dia-
mond. “Certainly wasn't robbery,” Tex
Hamnon pondered, “not with all this

Sheriff Hopkinson and other officers e

jewelry left on her! Not unless something
special was stolen that we don’t know
about.”

The deputy coroner found no sign of
violence other than the fatal bullet hole
between the left temple and ear. There
was no indication of a struggle, or of
attempted rape. The victim’s finely
tapered and polished fingernails were in-
tact.

The disarray of her clothes and some
minor scratches on her legs, in the
deputy’s opinion, were accounted for by
the dragging over some four or five yards
ot rough earth from the curb. He es-
timated from the state of rigidity and
dampness of the body that it had beenly-
ing there since at least 4 a.m., well before
dawn. And the blood spattered at the side
of the road indicated, of course, that the
murder had taken place at that spot—
since a corpse doesn’t bleed very long.

“No robbery, and no rape,” Hopkin-
son reflected. “No struggle. That would
seem to mean that the killer was

xamine fur-coated body of siain woman

s pr w 3
e Dy ke k

someone she knew and trusted, maybe
even her husband. Looks like a quarrel, a
crime of passion. But if that’s the case,
why leave her purse here—with all the ID
in it—if identification of the body would
point right to the killer?”

There was no immediate answer.

The sheriff's homicide men probed
further into the contents of the handbag.
There were a ring of keys and a
checkbook on a Pasadena Bank, with a
balance of some $500 indicated on the
stubs. In the little feminine wallet was a
snapshot of a fair-haired little boy.

“Driver’s license says she’s 42 years
old,” Hannon noted, glancing down at the
face under the tumbled aubumn,hair.
“Must’'ve kept herself pretty well. I'd
have taken her for 32.”

Tucked behind the driver’s license in
the wallet they found another $15—
evidently “mad money” kept secreted by
a prudent woman. But, ironically, Cora
Ethel's prudence hadn't availed her

(Continued on page 73)
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by RANDALL SHANLEY

As one hard-won clue led to another in the baffling

slaying, Australian homicide detectives narrowed

the issue to one incisive question:

WasTheVichim

Killed By A

NE OF THE more curious

phenomena encountered by

veteran police officers from
time to time is that rather special type of
lawbreaker who has come to be known in
law enforcement textbooks as “the
criminal stranger.” This is the individual
who, finding himself or herself in a
strange city or town, far from home
territory, is tempted to commit a crime on
the theory that the visitor’s status will act
as a shield against suspicion. In many in-
stances, the crime committed under such
circumstances is a first offense, by per-
sons who, up until then, have led upright,
exemplary lives within the law.

The phenomenon has been cited by
many pragmatic investigators-as proof
that “we’d have a lot more criminals if
more people thought they could get away
with committing a crime.”

The person who falls into the
criminal-stranger trap, however, more
often than not is apt to find he has mis-
calculated badly. Some of the finest
detective work on record has been per-
formed .in the apprehension of the
“criminal stranger.” Investigators in
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Sydney, Australia, take justifiable pride
in a murder case they brought to a
successful conclusion against staggering
odds.

To people who live in the Northern
Hemisphere of the world, the seasons of
the year in Sydney are turned around.
Easter, which we regard as a spring holi-
day, falls during the autumn in the
Southern Hemisphere. But as it happens
so often elsewhere, Australia has its oc-
casional days of unusual weather, and
Easter Sunday in 1967 was unseasonably

warn, a cireumstance which brought the.

city’s residents out in droves. During the
bright, sunlit morning hours, thousands
of people attended church services, clad
in their new Easter finery. Later there was
much traveling as many took advtange of
the splendid weather to visit friends in
various parts of the district.

And in the true religious spirit of that
Easter Sunday of March 26th, Sydney
police records established the day as one
with a record low in crime, and even in
minor offenses. But shortly before mid-
night, this peaceful period in Australia’s
largest city was shattered by a brutal,

bewildering deed: an act of murder.

William Wilson, a certified public ac-
countant by trade, was driving along
Arthur Street, a quiet thoroughfare in the
district called Bellevue Hill, when the
headlights of his Jaguar suddenly il-
luminated the figure of a man lying at the
base of a large tree near the roadway.

Mr. Wilson, a responsible citizen with
a conscientious regard for his fellow man,
braked to a stop. Bellevue Hill is a
fashionable suburb of Sydney; its people
are not normally found lying under trees
at night. The accountant at first thought
that the man on the ground must be a
local resident who had celebrated the
Easter holiday by having a few drinks too
many with convivial friends. Another
thought struck him, too: the man might
have suffered a heart attack and fallen un-
conscious.

As the motorist alighted from his car
and approached the man on the ground,
however, he noticed that the still figure—
an elderly man, by the look of him—lay in
a decidedly odd position. He was face
down, his arms extended above his head,
hands together. And another thing—his

-



Local resident summoned police after
he found the body of Sydney taxi driver
George Stephens lying on grass under a
tree near road (left); it was determined
victim had been dead only a short time

right shoe was missing; otherwise he was
fully dressed. It looked to Mr. Wilson as
though he had been dragged along the
ground by his arms.

But then, in the glow of the jaguar’s
headlights, the accountant saw the blood
between the shoulders of the man’s
jacket. And as he came still closer, he
recognized the blank stare of death in the
wide-open eyes.

With an involuntary gasp of horror,
Mr. Wilson ran back to his car and drove
as fast as he dared to the nearest
telephone box, from which he called the
police. The communications desk
referred him to Detective Sergeant
Frederick Smith, who jotted down the
details reported by the caller, then dis-
patched a 2-man radio patrol to the scene
on Arthur Street before he ran to his own
car and drove there himself.

The sergeant’s first impression was
that the dead man had been the victim of
a particularly callous hit-and-run driver;
instead of calling an ambulance or notify-
ing the police, it seemed that the motorist-
offender had tried to hide the unfortunate
man behind a tree, hoping the victim

would remain undiscovered long enough
to give him time to get far away from the
accident scene.

But this first impression was quickly
revised as Sergeant Smith’s flashlight
suddenly revealed a neat round hole in
the middle of the dead man’s back.

“This man was shot to death,” he told
the radio patromen. “The bullet entered
his back, apparently penetrated his heart,
then emerged. His body must have been
dumped from a car and then dragged
here.”

While the uniformed officers radioed
for the medical examiner and more police
officers, Sergeant Smith went through the
victim’s pockets; he found no identifica-
tion. Smith noted, though, that the man
did not have the look of a resident of this
wealthy suburb. He was wearing dark
work pants and a black jacket that was
wellworn.

The sergeant could find no wallet on
the corpse, but in a side pocket.of the
trousers he did find a wad of $30, mostly
in dollar bills. And in the inner-pocket of
his jacket was a small directory of the city
of Sydney.

“I think the victim was a taxi driver,”
Sergeant Smith observed, “and he was
shot from the back seat by his passenger,
who tried to hide his body and then fled
in his cab.”

Sergeant Smith was a veteran detec-
tive whose investigative skills had been
sharpened by years of handling the many
and varied cases that had come his way.
He decided that the $30 was the driver’s
spare money for making change, and that
the taxi bandit had overlooked it when
stealing the wvictim’s wallet, which
probably contained the larger bills he had
taken in during his night’s work. Almost
surely, the pasenger had asked to be
driven to this quiet residential district
because few people would be on the
streets; and a shot inside the taxi would
probably go unheard.

Smith radioed headquarters and ask-
ed that police throughout Sydney be
alerted to look for an abandoned taxi. He
also asked for an immediate check of the
city’s taxi companies to determine
whether any driver had failed to report
back after completing his work shift.

Within the hour a police pathologist
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arrived at the death scene and examined the body of the victim.
He soon reported that the man was in his sixties and apparently
had been in good health at the time of his death. The doctor said

that, in his opinion, death had been virtually instantaneous and

had occurred about 11:00 p.m., only two hours earlier. He con-
firmed that the man had been shot with a gun pressed against his
back, as evidenced by the powder marks on the jacket surroun-
ding the entry point of the bullet.

“If he was a taxi driver,” the pathologist added, “he was un-
doubtedly shot by his passenger. The weapon was of medium

Handcliffed Ryon Hood, a young American
from Yakima, Wash., was picked up for
questioning when it was learned that he
had run out of cash, wanted more quickly

caliber. I would guess that it was probably a thirty-two.”

The police of Australia are schooled in time-tested British
police methods, and so when other officers arrived shortly in
several cars, Sergeant Smith ordered them to walk along Arthur
Street at arm’s length from one another, searching the pavement.
About 50 feet from the tree beneath which the victim lay, they
found a man’s gray felt hat lying at the edge of the road. Near it
was a small spot of blood.

The name of the hat manufacturer, stamped onits lining, was
unfamiliar to Sergeant Smith, so he telephoned the police crime
laboratory. An expert there informed him that thé hat was of a
brand manufactured in America and sold chiefly in the Pacific
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Northwest states. But just whose hat was it?.

Not many Australian taxi drivers get around to visiting the
United States, Sergeant Smith reasoned, so the hat was probably
the slayer’s. It must have fallen off as he was dragging the
driver’s body from his taxi, and he had neglected to pick itup, or
Evas afraid to stop and look for it after he had disposed of the

ody.

The sergeant thought the cabbie’s missing right shoe ought to
be somewhere between the hat and the tree, but it could not be
found. Smith noted that the driver’s other shoe was black, size 9,
and bore the brand insignia “McMurtries,” that of a local
manufacturer.

The police activity in that quiet district soon brought nearby
residents to the scene, even at that late hour, and all were careful-
ly questioned. No one could be found, however, who had heard a
shot, seen a taxi, or seen a man being dragged along the road.

At length, Sergeant Smith left the crime scene crew to con-
tinue their search under floodlights, while he returned to head-
quarters. On his arrival there he was informed that a check of the
taxi companies had disclosed that, thus far, no driver had failed
to report back to his company garage on schedule.

Soon afterward, however, a radiq patrolman called in to
report that a taxicab with its side damaged was standing, ap-
parently abandoned, in front of the George Street North Post Of-
fice. The vehicle, he said, was a late model Holden Legion, with
license number T 5197.

A quick check with the licensing bureau established that the
vehicle was a privately owned taxi registered in the name of
Alfred George Stephens, 62 years old, of Darlinghurst Road,
King’s Cross. '

Hurrying to that address, detectives learned that George
Stephens lived alone in a rented room there. Stephens did not
answer their knock on his door. Other tenants of the building
were interrogated and they said he usually returned home
around 11:00 p.m.

1t was now 3 o’clock in the morning. The description given of
Stephens matched that of the man found dead under the tree in
Bellevue Hill, and two of the tenants of that house were driven by
police to the mortuary where the man’s body had been taken.
They identified the gray-haired slaying victim as Alfred
Stephens.

The victim was described as a mild-mannered, rather lone-
ly person who drove a taxi all his adult life; it was later learn-
ed that he was one of the six oldest licensed taxi drivers in
Sydney. He was not the sort of man who made enemies, acquain-
tances said, and it seemed obvious that he had been killed and
robbed by some fare he had picked up by chance.

Alfred Stephens’ taxicab was towed to the police garage for
closer examination by technicians from the crime laboratory.
They found that the paint on the damaged side of the vehicle had
been freshly scraped off, as though the slayer had sideswiped
another car or some metal object along the street during his hasty
flight.

Then the technicians examining the taxi found blood in the
front seat, and a slug which had penetrated the lining of the door
on the driver’s side. The bullet proved to be .32 caliber, and its
position suggested it had been fired through the victim’s body at
an angle from the back seat of the taxi.

This was confirmed by the discovery of an empty .32-caliber
shell on the floor mat in the rear seat of the taxi. It could be safely
assumed, therefore, that the death weapon had been an
automatic pistol, which ejected the spent shell.

Since weapons and ammunition of this type are under strict
regulation in Australia, although readily obtainable in many
parts of the United States, this was one more indication that the
slayer of Alfred Stephens was quite likely an American.

Later that morning, detectives were out along George Street
questioning residents, business people and passersby in hopes
that someone had seen the man who left the Holden Legion tax-
icab in front of the post office. The detectives questioned
everyone they encountered, but they were unable to find even
one person who had any pertinent information to offer.
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For several hours the investigation seemed to have reached a
. stalemate, but that situation changed abruptly when Monday’s
afternoon newspapers hit the streets with a front-page story
about the murder which contained a description of the missing
shoe. Less than an hour later the police received a call from the
Tamarama Beach distfict of Sydney.

“I just found a man’s left shoe along a street,” amanreported.
“It's a McMurtries, and it’s black and a size nine. I thought it
might belong to that taxi driver who was murdered over in
Bellevue Hill.” . ’

Officers in a radio-car picked up the man and brought him to
the police station with the shoe. It was clearly the mate of the one
found on the slaying victim.

Sergeant Smith, placed in charge of the case, sent detectives
out to question everyone living along the street where the shoe
had been found.

“The man we're looking for has undoutbedly come from the
United States fairly recently,” he said. “Seeif there’s an American
living in the vicinity.”

In less than an hour, detectives leaned about an American
who had been a regular patron of the bar in a small hotel in the
area. He was described as a man of about 32, stockily built, with
sandy hair, about 5 feet 10 inches tall and weighing around 175
pounds. Unfortunately, no one questioned knew his last name; he
was known simply as “Jack.” No one knew where he lived, or
what he did for a living, either, but the bartender at the hotel had
a significant piece of information about him.

“He’s a nice enough bloke when he’s sober,” the barman said,
“but he tends to get argumentative and belligerent when he’s had
too many whiskies. I've had to step in to prevent him getting ina
braw! more than once.”

Sergeant Smith ordered his detectives to concentrate on
locating this bellicose American and to develop any scrap of in-
formation they could pick up about him.

Later that afternoon Smith was informmed about another
American after a detective had questioned the manager of a -
modern residential hotel in the area. “We had an American
among our guests,” the manager had told the investigator, “but
he hasn’t been here since yesterday.”-

What time had he checked out the day before? the detective
wanted to know.

“Well, he didn’t actually check out,” the manager replied.
“When he came here on Thursday, March sixteenth, he paid us
for a week in advance. But he couldn’t pay his second week’s
rent; he promised faithfully to get it by the weekend, but he
didn’t. He was avoiding us, leaving his room unlocked so he
wouldn’t have to stop at the desk for his key.

“He was out Sunday evening, but we gave him until midnight
to pay his rent. Then the night clerk went to his room and locked
him out, to make him come to the desk. But he still hasn’t shown
up.

“Then you don’tknow where he is now?” the detective asked.

“No, I'm afraid not.”

“What is his name?” asked the prober.

The manager drew out a registration card and read from it:
“Ryon Spurlock Hood. He’s from Yakima, Washington, in the
United States. He's quite a young man, but I know very little
about him.”

Sergeant Smith came hurrying over when the detective
notified him about this'development. He put a series of other
questions to the hotel manager, during the course of which he
learned that when the young Yank checked in he had been ac-
companied by an attractive blonde girl who spoke with an
American accent. She had looked at the room with him and then
left.

“I heard them talking,” the manager continued. “I gathered
that she was living in Sydney, and that he had just arrived by
plane to visit her. They talked like old friends. She came around
in her car several times later to call for him, and they went out
together.”

The desk clerk added that another young man, apparently
Australian, had been with the (Continued on page 58)

Sydney . investigators ‘turned up lead
: z dl accompanied suspe




W. Smathers of the sheriff’s depart-

ment in Orange County, Florida
said. “But I sure hope it’s not true. Mrs.
Smith is a mighty nice lady.”

He had been cruising in the general
area on that Monday afternoon, July 21,
1975, when he received a report from the
Orange County Sheriff’s dispatcher in
Orlando that the postmistress of Gotha
had been shot. Gotha is a community of
about 400 population, on Gotha Road,
just off the Florida Turnpike in west
Orange County.

Deputy Smathers was in front of the
small ‘brick building that houses the
Gotha post office seven minutes after he
had received the alarm. A tearful woman

I 'M ON MY way,” Deputy Erwin

of early middle age was standing in the

doorway and motioned to him as his car
skidded to a stop. She led him through the
small lobby and through an open door
into the workroom of the small post of-
fice. A small black sufe there stood par-
tially open, and in front of it was the body
of a middle-aged woman lying in a pool
of her own blood.

Deputy Smathers made sure that she
was dead by making certain tests, then
ran to his cruiser, where he grabbed the
hicrophone of his radio.

“It’s true, all right,” he told the dis-
patcher. “Better send some help and
notify the Postal Iuspectors.”

Detective Lieutenant Gene
Blankenship, the commander' of the
sheriff’s homicide division, contacted a
new facility a short distance west of
Orlando and assigned Homicide Detec-
tives Al Hansen and Don Nazarchuck to
the investigation.

Then Blankenship notified District
Postmaster L. A. Bryant, who is in charge
of all post offices in the Orlando area. In
turn, Postmaster Bryant called United
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These interior photos of post office where slaying took

place show two safes, target of stickup. Safe shown in

States Postal Inspector Wayne S. Hudson
and the office of the Chief Medical Ex-
aminer of Orange and Seminole Coun-
ties. Dr. Thomas S. Hegert, Chief
Medical Examiner, was out on another
case and Deputy Medical Examiner Ruiz
was assigned to go to Gotha.

Detectives Hansen and Nazarchuck
arrived shortly after they were assigned
and were followed soon afterward by the
postal officials and Dr. Ruiz, as well as by
Technicians Harry Park and Arthur
McGraw.

Inside the small post office, in addi-
tion to the lock boxes and the pigeon
holes for distributing mail, there were
three safes and assorted furniture. The
small black safe, which had contained a
few hundred dollars, was open. On each
side of the small black safe were two
larger ones. One of these had been open-

ed, but it contained only such items as.

sheets and coils of stamps, stamped
envelopes, postal cards and dispensers
for the coils. Finding the larger safe con-
taining articles that didn’t interest them,
the robbers hadn’t bothered with the
other big safe, but apparently were so
frustrated that they shot the postmistress.

Lying in a crumpled heap in a pool of
blood was the body of a bespectacled
middle-aged woman whose glasses were
askew. Although her dress was rumpled,
it had not been pulled up in such a way as
to suggest a sex attack. Obviously the
motive had been robbery.

While technicians made pictures, took
blood samples and did other things re-
quired to process a murder scene,
Homicide Detectives Hansen and
Nazarchuck made a quick canvass of the
crowd that had gathered outside, but
they could find no witnesses.

They did find a 12-year-old girl who
said that she had been in the post office to

- picture above was opened, but contained nothing of value.
Black safe (I.) contained cash, but thieves skipped it . . .

do some business about 15 minutes
before the shooting. She said Mrs.
Loraine Smith, the postmistress, had serv-
ed her and she had noticed nothing
wrong. The interior of the post office was
visible from the bank-type counter where
postal business was conducted.

Then Mrs. Linda Hacket, a woman of
early middle age, was interviewed by
Postal Inspector Hudson, Postmaster
Bryant, Detectives Hansen and
Nazarchuck. She said that Mrs. Smith,
whose home was still in Taft, had come to
work as a clerk in the Gotha post office
about a year before.

They had become close friends
because Mrs. Hacket lived at home alone
and Mrs. Smith often was alone in the
post office. The village is in an isolated
section and both women were apprehen-
sive. She said that she and Mrs. Smith had
an agreement that each would phone the
other at least once a day to make sure
everything was all right.

Mrs. Hacket said that shortly after
three o’clock that afternoon she had
heard a loud clap that sounded like
thunder, but the sun was shining and the
sky was cloudless. She immediately
thought of the postmistress, because the
sound had come from the direction of the
post office.

She said she looked out her window
and saw two black men running from the
front door of the post office. She said they
got into an off-white four-door Cadillac;
they drove slowly past the post office,
pausing briefly in front of the open door,
then moved on at a leisurely pace on
Gotha Road in the direction of the Old
Winder Garden Road.

“Can you describe these men?” asked
Detective Hansen.

Yes, she said. She pointed to her house
from behind the mail box in front of the



State and federal investigators began the murder
probe with the simplest of instructions:

‘“GetTheKillers
- Ok TheFlorida
- Postmistress?”

post office. It was less than a block away.
She said she got a good look at the two
men, and she dscribed them as of
medium height and stocky build. She
thought they both were young, possibly
in their early twenties.

Inspector Hudson contacted the
Chief Inspector of the Southern Region
and soon eight other inspectors were on
their way by plane tc Gotha. One came
from Atlanta, others from various other
cities in Florida.

As the interview with Mrs. Hacket
continued, she said that Mrs. Smith had
been transferred from Taft, a town of
about 1,500 population, 30 miles away in
south Orange County near the McCoy
Jetport. She had continued to live in Taft
and had worked as a clerk until April
when the postmaster was transferred to
Sorrento, on State Road 48 in Lake Coun-
ty, which adjoins Orange County. At the
time of the transfer Mrs. Smith was nam-
ed acting postmaster.

Another woman had been appointed
a clerk to assist Mrs. Smith, but she was
not on duty that Monday. On the mail box
in front of the post office, an insulting
remark about whites was printed in
chalk. However, detectives were unable
to determine if it had any connection with
the robbery-murder.

After the men in the Cadillac left, Mrs.
Hacket said, she ran to the post office to
see if anything had happened to Mrs.
Smith.

“I stopped at the door and called to
her two or three times and got no
answer,” Mrs. Hacket said. “I went in a lit-
tle farther and saw the safe door partially
open, and then I saw her lying on the
floor.” «

She told the officers she ran back
home and called the sheriff’s department.

Sheriff Mel Colman, while a veteran

Sheriff Mel Colman directed investigation
into coldblooded killing of the postmistress

by W. T. BRANNON

detective lieutenant with the St
Petersburg police department, had been
appointed to the Orange County post a
few years before when the incumbent
sheriff retired after about 40 years of ser-
vice. Detective Lieutenant Gene
Blankenship, homicide commander, now
told Colman he had contacted deputies
throughout the area and numerous
checkpoints had already been established
to try to intercept the white Cadillac.

Sheriff Colman, meanwhile, had
called out helicopters and they im-
mediately began flying in sweeps over
the area surrounding Gotha.

“It was a senseless and cold-blooded
murder,” Sheriff Colman said at the
scene.

The detectives could only speculate
on why Mrs. Smith had been shot. It was
possible that she had tried to fight the
bandits, but this seemed unlikely because
they apparently had used a gun to com-
pel her to open the safe. It also was possi-
ble that she knew the two men, or that she
had studied their features as they robbed
the safe, so they were afraid she would be
able to identify them.

Or, as Sheriff Colman had said, it
could have been a “senselsss and cold-
blooded murder committed by a man
without a conscience.”

Even before Lieutenant Blankenship
arrived, two other men from the
homicide division, Detectives Don Frye
and Jim Jenkins, had joined Detectives
Hansen and Nazarchuck in canvassing
the area in four directions from the post
office. The town is mostly residential,
save for the post office and a general
store.

They talked again to the 12-year-old
girl who apparently was the last person to
see Mrs. Smith alive, except for the
killers. She said she had been in the post
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Detective Nazarchuck was part of team prob-
ing the murder of Postmistress Loraine Smith

office with a friend before the murder.

“We talked about what time the after-
noon mail was going out,” the girl said.
She said also that her friend, who had
adopted the new fad of girls wearing tee
shirts, wore one with her name and the
number 1 stitched on the front. She said
the postmistress had kidded her about the
tee shirt. The 12-year-old said she saw
nobody else around and there appeared
to be nothing wrong at the time.

A girl clerk at the general store was
tearful when she answered questions.
“There is nobody here that didn’t like
her,” she said. “I saw her practically every
day. She was a quiet woman, very friend-
ly.” However, the clerk was unable to fur-

_nish any information that might provide a
lead. She had not seen the two men or the
Cadillac in which they escaped.

The detectives found several
residents who had talked to Mrs. Smith
earlier that day. “She was a good person,
real friendly,” said a 17-year-old boy.
“She was the nicest person you would
ever want to meet.”

A divorcee, according to the
neighbors, Mrs. Smith had no plans to
move from her home on Boggy Creek
Road near Taft. They said she had a son
living in Gainesville and a married
daughter in nearby Altamonte Springs.
She was said to be very active in a church
where she taught Sunday School in Taft,
and this apparently was one of her
reasons for not moving closer to her new
job.

Until postal inspectors had completed
~ an audit, it would not be known how
much money had been taken. However,
District Postmaster Bryant told Sheriff
Colman that there never was a large
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amount of cash in the safe at any given
time.

Postmaster Bryant said that if there
were as many as 100 patrons it would be
considered a busy day. They usually
bought a small number of stamps or
stamped envelopes and the total receipts
would not be very much. The main ex-
ception would be if several people
bought money orders, for which the post
office required cash, in one day.

As they questioned people in the
crowd or plodded from house to house
with a singular lack of success, the detec-
tives recalled another post office robbery
in the area on August 7, 1970. This had
been at Christmas, Florida, a small town
which did a thriving business because
many people sent letters to the post-
mistress for mailing in order to get a
Christmas postmark on their holiday
mail.

However, like all other small post of-
fices, the day’s receipts were sent to the
nearest district office every day so that
there never was a large amount of cash on
hand. All but a smsall amount of money
for change to open for business the next
day had been sent to the district post of-
fice on that August night in 1970.

On that occasion, robbers had come
to the home of the postmistress and forc-
ed her and her husband to go to the
Christias post office where, at gunpoint,
she had been compelled to open the safe.
But there had been very little money in
the safe and the robbers apparently were
not interested in stamps or stamped
envelopes.

Frustrated, the angry bandits had
forced the postmistress and her husband
into the trunk of their own car, where
they had remained all night. They had
been rescued the following morning by a
truck driver who came to the post office
to pick up the mail and heard their cries
for help.

Although the bandits in that case
never had been found, Inspector Hudson

doubted that there was any connection’

between the two stickups. the Christmas
bandits would have learned that very lit-
tle money was kept in the post office safe
in such a small town, and it seemed un-
likely that they would repeat their mis-
take.

Also, the Christmas bandits had not
been so vicious. Although it had not been
comfortable for the couple in the trunk
overnight, they had suffered no real in-
juries and neither had been shot.
However, if the Gothakiller bandits were
caught, they would be investigated in
connection with the Christmas robbery.

That afternoon and evening after Mrs.
Smith’s murder, many four-door
Cadillacs, several of them off-white or

Lt. Blankenship checked possible link bet-
ween post office slaying, gas station heist

cream colored, passed through the
roadblocks set up by the sheriff’s
deputies, but only a few came close to
matching the descriptions given by Mrs.
Hacket and each had an alibi that couldn’t
be shaken. The helicopters hovered low
over the ground and just above tree tops
in wooded areas. Deputies with
binoculars and walkie-talkies so they
could keep in touch with officers at the
scene searched mostly for the white
Cadillac, continuing until after eight
p.m., when almost complete darkness
forced them back to their bases. They
spotted a few light colored Cadillacs and
notified cruising officers. Each was
checked out but none was the car in-
volved in the robbery-murder.

Meanwhile, inside the little brick post
office, picture taking and measurements
had been completed by the technicians
and Dr. Ruiz knelt by the prone figure for
a preliminary examination. He said she
died of a single bullet wound that plowed
through the top of her head and tore off
part of the skull.

Dr. Ruiz said there was no visible in-
dication of a sex attack. He arranged for
the body to be moved to a mortuary in
Orlando, where he would perform an
autopsy. He said he didn’t expect it to
show any more than the preliminary ex-
amination.

Postal inspectors began arriving by
plane and as soon as the body had been
removed, they started an audit to deter-
mine the loses. The technicians continued
their work, dusting likely surfaces for
fingerprints, including the counter
separating the lobby from the workroom.
It was at this counter on the workroom
side that Mrs. Smith had served the



public, taking in parcel post, selling
stamps, stamped envelopes and postal
money orders.

On the counter the technicians found
several fingerprints identified as Mrs.
Smith’s, and many others that were un-
identified. These included fresh prints
from the fingers of two large hands,
believed to have been made by the
killers. It was evident that the prints had
come from the fingers of two different
men. There was not a complete set of
either so that an identification might be
made, but the prints ‘were preserved
because they might be valuable if the
suspects later were caught.

After news of the senseless murder
had been broadcast by radio and televi-
sion from Orlando, Daytona Beach and
Melbourne, numerous tips were phoned
to the Orange County Sheriff’s Offices.
Sheriff Colman and Lieutenant
Blankenship sent deputies and detectives
out to check each of these and, one by
one, reports came back that they had
proved worthless.

Back at the post office in Gotha, in the
meantime, the postal inspectors deter-
mined that the two big safes containing
stamps, envelopes, etc., had notbeen dis-
turbed. They completed the audit of
money order and postage funds but
declined to disclose the actual loss.
However, they did reveal that the
robbers had taken slightly less than $300.
Why Mrs. Smith was shot was not im-
mediately determined. The inspectors
and detectives could find no evidence
that the slight built postmistress had
offered any physical resistance.

Making a thorough search of the post
office workroom, the sheriff’s technicians
finally found a spent .38 caliber bullet,
apparently the deadly slug thathad made
a fatal furrow across the top of the
woman’s head. A further search failed to
turn up the weapon, which apparently
was a revolver; the technicians could find
no shell casing which would have been
expelled if the bullet had been fired from
an automatic.

The slug was preserved for possible
future evidence if the death weapon was
found: With the fingerprints, descriptions
of the two men and their Cadillac and the
bullet, the officers had high hopes of fin-
ding the two killers. Having exhausted all
avenues of investigation in the little post
office, the technicians returned to the
sheriff’s crime lab, taking the evidence
they had.

The postal inspectors remained for a
while longer. All are trained in criminal
investigation, and they went over much
of the ground already covered by the
sheriff’s men in the hope of coming up
with some additional evidence. While

Detective Al Hansen questioned post office
employes about circumstances of the killing

they seldom have a murder case—even
killers are afraid of G-heat—they have
many robbery cases. However, if they
found any additional evidence, they
didn’t reveal if for publication.

Before they left, everything in the lit-
tle post office was sealed tightly except
the lobby entrance to the 208 lock boxes.
The mail continued to leave and arrive in
Gotha on regular schedules, and lock box
patrons continued to call for their mail.
The clerk who had not been on duty
when Mrs. Smith was killed came back to
work and Postmaster Bryant sent another
clerk to help her.

Mrs. Hacket, the woman who had
notifed the sheriff’s office of the crime,
was interviewed again by the postal in-
spectors on the chance that she might be
able to recall more details about the ban-

~ dits and their car.

She said she had looked through her
window after she had heard what she at
first thought was a thunder clap but
decided was a shot when she noted there
was no sign of rain. She said she saw two
black men come from the post office and
get in a four-door Cadillac.

“Did you see what year model it
was?” asked Inspector Hudson.

Mrs. Hacket said she thought it was a
1967 or 1968.

“What color was it?”

She wasn’t sure. It could have been’

off-white or cream-colored, or even
yellow, she said.

“Where was it parked?”

She said it was in the rear of the post
office.

“They started the car up, but they
didn’t drive away fast,” she replied.
“They came almost to a stop right in front

of the post office before they drove off
again.”

“Which way did they go?”

Mrs. Hacket said they drove north on
Hemple Avenue toward West State Road
50. After the men had left, she ran to the
post office to see if Mrs. Smith was all
right.

“I stopped at the door and called to
her two or three times and got no
answer,” Mrs. Hacket said. “I wentin a lit-
tle farther and saw the door partially
open and then I saw her lying on the
floor.”

Suppressing tears, she said she ran
back home and telephoned the sheriff’s
department.

“Can you describe these two men?”
Postal Inspector Larry Weaver asked.

Mrs. Hacket said both were stocky,
although she was unable to estaimate
their weight. She guessed they both were
about five feet ten inches tall.

Asked by newsmen if a reward would
be offered, Inspector Hudson said ‘a
reward always was offered for the
robbery of a post office, but that he didn’t
know what reward would be posted for a
killer. He said this was a discretionary
power of the Postmaster General.

Word came from Washington the
following morning that a reward of $3,-
000 would be offered. The only response
to this news was a brief flurry of
telephoned tips, bringing the number to
about 25. Checking these out was time-
consuming, but they were the main clues
the officials had and each was given close
attention.

There was brief excitement the
following afternoon when two black men
held up a filling station in Clermont, a
community of about 4,000 population
about 50 miles east of Orlando. They got
about $200 and by coincidence, the
owner’s name was Smith, but he was not
related to the slain postmistress.

Detective Lieutenant Blankenship
and Detective Sergeant Richard King
made a thorough investigation, but later
announced there was no connection
between the two crimes.

Meanwhile, Detectives Hansen and
Nazarchuk, who often worked the black
community around Orlando, shook up the
score or more confidential informers they
had developed in the area. Each of them
told the same story, including informants
who had been the most reliable in the
past: There had not been even a whisper
in the black community about the identi-
ty of the robbers.

Although there had been some
variance in stories told by informers in
past cases, never before had Detective
Hansen and Nazarchuck encountered a

(Continued on page 50)
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VISSINE
CARKEY

LTHOUGH' the holiday
season was over, a larger than
usual crowd. jammed the

Lumberjack Lounge in the Holiday Inn
at Ludington, Michigan, Tuesday night,
January 6, 1976, forcing the bartender
and the cocktail waitresses to extend
themselves in serving their patrons. One
of these waitresses was 19-year-old Penny
Smogoleski, a well built, attractive
brunette possessed with a warm engaging
smile and a quick wit, coupled with arare
sense of humor. She was well liked and
very popular with the customers who fre-
quented the motor lodge.

Tonight she was working the late
shift. By 2:15a.m., she wasready to leave.
- Buttoning up her jacket after slipping on
her snow boots, she talked briefly with
another waitress standing in the vestibule,
remarking how she hated to drive home
on theslippery road leading to her mobile
home on Rasmussen Road.

The waitress watched Penny as she
stepped outside, buffeted by the cold,
wintry wind, until she reached her car
and drove away. That was the last time
she was to see Penny alive.

Penny’s roommate, Wanda Howard,
also a cocktail waitress, worked at the
Lakeside Club. She left work at4:00 a.m.,
Wednesday morning, accompanied by
Vivian Andrews, a close friend, who was
staying with the two girls. They arrived at
the mobile home about 4:30 a.m. The
lights were one. When Wanda took her
key out to open the door, she found it un-
locked. “That’s funny,” she said, “we
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CURIOUS
CASE OF

by PEDAR DAAS

never keep the doors unlocked. Penny
must have forgotten to lock it when she
came in.”

Stepping inside, Wanda peeked into
her roomate’s bedroom to see if she was
asleep, but there was no sign of Penny.
Wanda switched on the light. The bed
hadrn’t been slept in. The clothes Penny
wore when she left for work lay neatly
arranged on the bedspread; her shoes and
boots stood in a corner near the dresser.

Alarmed, the two girls searched the
other rooms. The found no trace of their
missing friend. “Maybe,”. Vivian
suggested, “she came home and went out
with somebody.”

“But if she intended to do that, she
would have called me at the club or left a
note. Leaving this way, without an ex-
planation isn’'t like Penny,” Wanda
replied.

Penny’s purse was standing on her
dresser. None of her personal effects
were missing. Looking into her room-
mate’s clothes closet, Wanda noted that
all Penny’s clothing appeared to be there
with the exception of a housecoat. She
returned to the living room, and noted
that Penny’s house slippers were standing
near the sofa.

“There’s something terribly wrong
here, Viv,” Wanda said, a scared look in
her eyes. “Wherever Penny went, she left
only in her housecoat, and without

1 Copsand ambulance men remove the body of
1 Penny Smogoleski (photo r.), who vanished

| from her trailer home. She was later found

i frozen to death, covered with stab wound

anything to wear on her feet.”

“But she must have had some clothes
on,” argued Wanda’s friend. Penny
wouldn’t go out without warm clothes in
this kind of weather. Her car is parked in
front. Do you suppose she went out there
and something happened to her while she
was in the car?”

“l can’t imagine her going out in a
housecoat and bare feet,” replied Wanda.
“I'll go out and take a look.”

The car was empty and the keys were
missing from the ignition. That, too, was
peculiar. Despite Wanda's urgings—
always to take the keys along with her
when leaving the car—Penny never
bothered to do so, her argument being
that she might lose the keys if she carried
them with her. If they remained in the ig-
nition, she knew where they were. Now,
for some reason, the keys wére not there.
The girls were mystified, but they
couldn’t figure it out, so they finally gave
up trying and went to bed.

The girls slept fitfully, awake most of
the time, waiting for the knock at the door
isignaling Penny’s  return. But, there
was no knock, no phone call. Neither of
the two girls had much of an appetite for
breakfast. Wanda began calling some of
Penny’s friends, hopeing one of them
might know something about her
whereabouts.

But the phone calls were as frustrating
as the long vigil they had kept, waiting for
her appearance. No one had any idea as
to what had become of Penny. The
bartender and the cocktail waitresses at



the Lumberjack Lounge could only recall
that she had left there at about 2:15 in the
morning. She was seenleaving after work
and going to her car, and at the time, she
was alone.

By the time Wanda was through call-
ing, it developed no one could give her
any information as to where Penny could
possibly be.

“I wonder if we should call the police
and let them know what has happened,”
suggested Vivian nervously.

““I've been thinking about that,”
replied Wanda. “If we don’t hear from
her this afternoon, I'll call the sheriff’s of-
fice. I still think shell either come back
home or give us a ring before long.”

Toward supper time, with still no
word from Penny, the two girls drove to
Hacket's Standard Service Station. While
there, two of Wanda’s and Penny’s closest
friends, Joseph Mathews and Chester
Rice, drove up behind. Wanda told
the boys about Penny’s disappearance,
concluding, “As far as we can figure out,
she left dressed only in her underwear
and a house coat.” :

“That’s funny,” remarked Mathews.
“Why would she leave dressed that way?
Did you talk to the police?” ’

“Not yet,” replied, “but I'm going to
call when we get back if she hasn’t shown
up by then.”

Back home, Wanda placed a call to
the Mason County sheriff’s office, and in-
formed the sergeant at the desk of her
roommate’s disappearance. Asked to
describe the missing girl, she said: “Pen-

It took a lot of doing, but Michigan

homicide probers had the baffling case
licked when they solved the riddle.of
how a little old key could be missing
one moment, then lying on the ground

in plain sight the next . ..
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ny’s nineteen years old. She’s five feet
eight inches tall, has brown eyes and
shoulder length dark brown hair. She
weighs 135 pounds. When she dis-
appeared. I believe all she had on was her
undergarments and a housecoat. She was
barefoot.”

“Do you mean to tell me she went out
dressed only in her housecoat and
barefoot in this kind of weather?” asked
the officer incredulously. “I guess so. All
her other clothes are in the her closet.”

“The housecoat you mentioned. . .can
you describe it for me?”

“It’s light blue, with small, pinkish
flowers embroidered on it.”

When Mason County Undersheriff
Walter Sprenger and a number of detec-
tives drew up alongside the mobile home
during the afternoon of January 8th, they
found the two young women waiting for
them. The officers searched the interior
of the house thoroughly. None of Miss
Smogoleski’'s personal effects appeared

" to be missing. Questioned about her war-
drobe, her rocommate stated that she was
familiar with the clothes Penny wore, and
insisted everything Penny had was still in
her clothes closet with the exception of
her housecoat. None of her shoes, snow
boots or bedroom slippers were missing,.

“Then all she had on when she dis-
appeared were her undergarments, a
housecoat and nothing on her feet?” ask-
ed Sprenger.

“I'm sure that’s all.”

“I see. Besides her disappearance
have you noticed anything else out of the
ordinary that can be associated with your
roommate’s disappearance?”

Wanda thought for a moment. “When
Viv and I arrived home, we found the
front door unlocked. That’s unusual, as
only Penny and I have keys to the house.
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Sheriff's officers scour the area where slaip girl's body was found in ditch

We've always made it a point to lock the
doors securely after us whenever we
leave or arrive home. And one thing
more. The keys in Penny’s car are miss-
ing. I looked for them soon after we
found out she wasn’t there. She always
keeps the keys in the ignition and leaves
them in it wherever she goes.”

“T'lt check out the car,” Sprenger said.
“In the meantime, will you write down
the names, and if possible, the addresses
of every close friend Penny has that you
know of. Should she have any enemies, I
want their names too.” Wanda said she’'d
do her best.

While the other detectives were
checking to see if aforced entry had been
made into the mobile home and inter-
viewing the neighbors within the area,
Sprenger was busy examining the interior
of Penny’s car. When he returned, he had
a small plastic bag in his hand. He showed
it to Wanda. Inside the bag she noticed a
set of car keys. She looked surprised.
“Where did you find them?” she inquired
anxiously.

“In the ignition.”

“But that’s impossible. I swear they
weren't there before. I searched the car
three times and they weren’t there.”

“You're sure of that?”

“T'll swear to it on a stack of Bibles!”

“Apother thing,” continued Wanda,
“that bothers me is that when 1 came
home this morning from work, the back
door was unlocked. Before Viv and I left
we took pains to see that it was securely
locked. Both Jo Mathews and Viv can
vouch for that. They were with me at the
time I noticed it.”

“Who’s Joe Mathews?”
Sprenger.

“He’s a close friend. Both Penny and I
have known him for along time. I talked

inquire

to him and Chester Rice, another friend
of ours shortly after Penny’s dis-
appearance when we stopped for gas at
Hacket’s Standard Station. I told them

. about Penny. Later, 1 called Joe and ask-

ed him if he would stay with us after I was
through working at the club. He said he
would. I've been scared half to death ever
since Penny disappeared. He came to the
club and came home with us after I finish-
ed my shift.”

The undersheriff examined the back
door and lock carefully. As far as he could
see, there was no indication that either the
door or lock had been tampered with.

“Anyone else besides you and Penny
have a key to the door?” asked the un-
dersheriff.

Wanda shook her head. “No, that’s
what scares me.”

Back at headquarters, Sprenger con-
ferred with Sheriff Stanley Jensen, and
brought him up to date with
developments.

“Do you think foul play is involved?”
Jensen asked.

“Right now, I'm not sure. I've been
mulling over the possibility that she could
have left of her own accord, but that
doesn’t seem logical. No one would ven-
ture out in below zero weather in a bliz-
zard dressed only in her undergarments, a
housecoat and barefoot. There must be
some other solution. I'm leaning toward
the theory that she was forcibly ab-
ducted.”

“Any footprints or tire tracks?”

“Unfortunately, no. The snow has
erased any footprints. The only tire tracks
we've been able to locate belong to the
cars driven by the girls.”

Sprenger was interested in checking
out the movements of Joseph Mathews
and Chester Rice, described by Wanda as
close friends of both her and Penny. In-
terrogated by a team of detectives check-
ing out the activities of the two men at the
time of Penny’s disappearance they learn-
ed that both youths had been together
the night of January 6th and the morning
hours of January 7th. Thev had fre-
quented a number of downtown taverns.
At about 1:30, Rice drove Mathews to his
home. At the time, Rice mentioned to
Mathews that Penny had called him and
wanted him to drop in at her place after
she quit work. Matthews had told Rice,
he ought to go, but Rice couldn’t make up
his mind. He sat in his car, outside his
friend’s place, thinking the matter over.
He watched the light go on in Joe’s room
and later go out. Hestill couldn’t make up
his mind. Finally, he decided to go home
instead, figuring it would be too late
before he would get back, if he stopped
to see Penny. Besides, he had to get up
early in the morning. He said he then
drove home and went to bed.

According to the detectives, the pair’s
movements checked out in every detail,
and they had no reason to believe the two
young men were involved in Miss



Smogoleski’s mysterious disappearance.

‘Satisfied that foul play could be in-
volved in the young cocktail waitress’s
abrupt departure from her mobile home,
Sheriff Jensen contacted the news media,
radio and TV stations appealing to the
public for aid in the search for the attrac-
tive young brunette. He described her,
noting that she had last been seen leaving
the Lumberjack Lounge at the Holiday
Inn, at 2:15 a.m. January 7th; had driven
home changed into a housecoat, and
presumably against her will, had been

forced to leave her mobile residence.

Jensen urged that anyone having any
knowledge concerning her whereabouts
or any information regarding her dis-
appearance either contact his office or
that of the “Silent Observer.” This a
public spirited organization that supplies
the law enforcement agencies with leads
concerning major crimes, made available
by offering rewards to individuals who
have any information that could be of
help to the authorities. The names of the
informers are kept confidential and not
revealed to anyone.

A missing person’sreport report flash-

ed over the police radio throughout the
area had brought no response. A recent
photograph of Penny Smogoleski, with
her description, was hurriedly incor-
porated into an all points bulletin and
released to the law enforcement agencies
throughout Michigan and neighboring
states. By this time, Sheriff Jensen and his
investigating officers were pretty well
agreed among themselves that the 19-
year-old waitress had been abducted
from her home, and what happened to
her after that they could only conjecture.
Rape and murder, they theorized, was a
distinct possibility.

On Friday, January 9th, a team of
detectives who had been assigned to in-
terview the male patrons present at the
Lumberjack Lounge during the night and
early mornings of January T7th had
succeeded in locating several of the
Lounge customers who had been unable
to give a satisfactory account of their
movements after leaving the bar. All of
them were thoroughly questioned, some
of them for several hours before the
detectives were satisfied with their stories
and their alibis had been checked out.

Talking to one of the cocktail
waitresses who had seen Penny leave in
her car, headed as she believed, in the
direction of her home, the lawmen learn-
ed that Penny usually drove along
highway US-10 to Jebavy where she turn-
ed on Rasmussen Road and continued on
until she reached her home. Checking
over the route, the detectives found a
woman who lived at the intersection of
US-10 and Jebavy Drive. She said she had
been up at the time Penny would be driv-
ing by and turning down Rasmussen, but
she had failed to see anyone at that hour
heading in the direction of Penny’s
mobile home. Penny’s other alternative

Penny’s boyfriend, Joe Mathews, was questioned about her recent activities

road would have been by way of Meyers
Road.

As the days went by without any ap-
preciable results, the investigators
ground on doggedly in the hope of un-
covering some information or solid clues
to the young girl’s disappeararice. By this
time, Sheriff Jensen and his understeriff
were beginning to give some serious con-
sideration to the possibility of Penny’s
strange disappearance being linked to
another murder that had taken place in
Bedford Township, a suburb of Detroit,
on New Year’s Eve.

The murder victim, 16-vear-old Tudv
Lynn Ferro, a straight “A” student" at
Our Lady of Mercy High School at:
Farmington Hills, had been babysitting at
a neighbor’s home. Her folks said she had
called them at midnight to wish them a
happy New Year. .

At 3:30 am. when the children’s

parents arrived home, they found Miss
Ferro missing. The telephone wires were
cut and a bullet had been fired through
the ceiling. Miss Ferro’s coat lay on a chair
and a book she had been reading lay open
on the sofa. )

Law enforcement officers converged
on the scene and began an intensive
search of the area. At 7:30 a.m. on New
Year’s Day, Officer Street of the Red-
ford Township Police Department dis-
covered the fully clothed body of the girl.
She had been beaten and shot and left to
die in nearby Lola Valley Park. There
were signs in the snow that a struggle had
taken place. No evidence of an in-
criminating nature was found at the scene
of the crime. :

Upon interviewing neighbors of the
slain girl, lawmen learned that a certain
young man, who lived near the home of

(Continued on page 64)
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"“Get the Killers of
Florida Postmistress’’
(Continued from page 45)

case where every informer told the same
story, where each swore that all he knew
about the case was what he had read in
the papers or heard on radio and TV.
The detectives were convinced that

there would. not be such.a solid front if it
were not true. Some of the informers had
been evasive in the past, but there were
several who always had been reliable.
The detectives were convinced they were
telling the truth now.
“ This led the detectives to believe the
two stocky killer bandits were not from
the Orlando area but from another coun-
ty. However, nobody had obtained a
license tag number of the bandit car at the
time of the robbery, and those called in
had been driven by people who were
cleared.

About a week after the robbery-
murder. Detectives Hansen and

Nazarchuck made another round of their
confidential informants who live in the
largely black section of Orlando. As
before, all the informers said they knew
nothing more than had been made public
about the killing of the postmistress.

But the detectives noticed that one
man was nervous, and that he fidgeted
when he denied any knowledge of the
crime. Pressed by Detectives Hansen and
Nazarchuck, who had evidence against
the man in a minor case—one that would
send him to jail for a month but on which
the charges had been withheld as long as
the man fed them information about
more serious crimes— he finally told them
what was bothering him.

He said he had been in Ocoee, a com-
munity of about 4,500 population, eight
miles west of Orlando, when he saw two
stocky black men in a 1965 yellow four-
door Cadillac stop at a filling station for
gasoline. He said he hadn’t paid much
attention to the two men, but he was in-
terested in big cars and that led him to
take a good look at the Cadillac.

“Did you get the license number?”

K TALK

OUR READERS’ VIEWPOINT

OPPOSED

I will concede that TRUE DETECTIVE prints -
the best stories and has the best writers of all *

the detective magazines. I've read and en-
joyed your magazine for many vyears.
However, I feel I must protest the un-
American things you have been writing in your
editorials. I've wanted to write and say that for
a long time. I think you do a terrible disservice
to our court system when you keep criticizing
them.
Loyal American
Belgrade Lakes, Maine
Americans began fighting for the right to
criticize their government at Concord and
Lexington in 1775, and there is nothing disloyal
about criticizing things which need to be
criticized. As for the alleged disservice to our
court system, we will continue to direct that
charge where it properly belongs, against the
judges and prosecutors whose plea-bargaining
policies make a mockery of fustice.

Who the hell do you think you are, running
down judges the way you do? Are you smarter
than the Supreme Court? Are they all wrong,
and are you the only one who's right? You may
think you're a big shot know-it-all, but if I
didn’t have better sense than you I'd cut my
throat.

Jack W. McD.
Washington, D.C.
How are you fixed for blades?
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IN FAVOR

You're the only editorial writer in the Un-
ited States with the guts to call a spade a spade.
The way they're handling criminals in this
country is a disgrace. Qur founding forefathers
must be whirling in their graves. When are
those idiots in the courts going to stop wasting
their sympathy on the murderers, robbers and
rapists, and start worrying about the honest,
hard-working, innocent victims of crime?

George Brown,

Cleveland, Ohio

I'm long overdue in congratulating you on
your hard-hitting editorials. Keep up the good
work. Light a fire under the voters so they’ll
throw those lily-livered judges off the bench.
The way things are, everything is turned
around topsy-turvy. The country hasbecome a
madhouse, and the lunatics are running the
asylum.

Irate Taxpayer
Grosse Pointe, Mich.

Your April editorial was one of the best yet.
You're damn right the judges should be “held
accountable for those incredible decisions that
favor criminals at the expense of society.”
Keep giving them hell, and don’t let them scare
you! .

W. Young
San Francisco, Calif.

Detective Nazarchuck asked eagerly.
The informer said he hadn’t because
he hadn’t heard of a yellow Cadillac be-
ing involved in any kind of crime and he
didn’t think of jotting down the number.
“Do you remember the address of the
filling station?” asked Detective Hansen.
~ The informer said he did and provid-
ed it to the detectives.

"They sped to the gas station and asked
the owner if he remembered selling gas to
two men in a yellow Cadillac around July
21st. He said he didn’t remember it, but
he questioned an attendant, and the latter
said he had sold gas to two men in a
yellow Cadillac. He added that there was
a teenage girl sitting between the two
men in the front seat.

“Did you get the license number?”
Detective Nazarchuck asked.

The attendant said he had written
down the license number on the sales slip

“Suppose vou check the slips,” the
detective said to the station employe.

The gas station owner readily agreed
and dug out a pile of sales slips for July
21st. The license number, which had been

I couldn’t agree with you more. Your
editorials put the blame for the terrible rate of
crime in this country right where it belongs—
on the courts, the judges and the D.A.s, who
spend more time worrying about protecting
the rights of no-good criminals than they do
about protecting the people who obey the law
and try to live decent lives.

Mary C.
Lincoln, Neb

COMMENT

Re “Tennessee Charges the Priest Headed
aPorno Operation,” TD April 77: Several years
ago a friend of my son at age 13 asked my help;
he was involved with a male school teacher, 38,
and several of his friends, who got families’
permission to take schoolboys on camping
trips. During these trips homosexual acts
would take place. The boy who came to me
was fearful his parents would find out; my son
was not involved, as he attended a private
school. Trying to help, I talked to 13 other
boys, ages 12 to 18, who admitted they too
were involved with these men. In this messy
situation, I had to be careful to avoid any
slander suits. I found it hard to believe the
boys parents never suspected anything when
these men were always taking their sons on
overnight trips. I finally let the teacher know I
knew what was going on and told him he’d
better stop what he was doing forthwith. He
was finally caught, given a 5-year probation,
and suspended from teaching.

What I found out in this case was that in all
cases, the fathers hardly ever took time to be
with their sons. When these adults came along
and offered to take their sons fishing, hunting
and camping, the mothers and fathers were
only too happy to have their sons taken off
their hands so they could do whatever they
wanted to do.

The local Washington, D.C. paper ran an
article about a 52-year-old millionaire who was
sentenced for having “relations” with two
brothers, 6 and 11. The press and their mother
were shocked, but the article stated that the



issued in another county for the Cadillac,
was given to the detectives. The license
was registered to Glen Herman, alias
Glen Anderson at an address in Plant
City, a community of about 20,000 pop-
ulation just east of the Orange County line
in Hillsborough County. The detectives
contacted the office of Sheriff Malcolm
Beard and were referred to Major Walter
Heinrich, commander of the Sheriff’s
Criminal Investigation Division:

Major Heinrich assigned officers from
the Plant City Sheriff’s Station to help the
Orange County detectives. Discreet in-
quiry revealed that Glen Herman was not
at home; in fact, he had not been seen for
about 10 days. The Hillsborough County
officers talked to their informers and
came up with the information that Her-
man had a 17-year-old girl friend who
was the mother of two small children and
lived in Winter Garden, a suburban city
adjoining Orlando on the northwest.

The detectives made further inquiries
and learned that Herman was very
friendly with a stocky black male about
his own size. Pressed by the detectives,

brothers were introduced to this man by their
17-year-old male cousin who was having
“relations” with this man for months. This
cousin no doubt furnished his cousins with the
knowledge of what was expected, and I
gathered that they were having “relations”
with him prior to the day when the mother
finally found out. Not one bad word was said
about the 17-year-old who was responsible in
the first place.

I am convinced, after talking to about 30
teenage boys, that if their fathers had spent a
little more time with them on weekends when
they were young (10 to 14), this type of situa-
tion would never have occurred. If you publish
this in Back Talk, it just might wake up a few
parents to the real facts of life.

’ One Who Knows,
Silver Spring, Md.

I enjoy the stories in TD, but I wish you
would show pictures of the murder victims’
bodies.

Brian K. Schenck
USMM Liberia

I'm sick and tired of these religious nuts
who are against the death penalty.

My five-year-old was beaten to death by
my ex-husband, while I was at work. Tell me
my child didn’t have the right to livel My hus-
band got three years for this crime. They might
as well have given him a lollipop and a pat on
the head.

I myself will suffer the rest of my life for
the loss of my son.

Thousands of people in the United States
go through the same thing every year. . .theloss
of aloved one, their lives taken away by some
crazy nut out there.

The death penalty has been brought back
in Texas, Praise the Lord, and I hope soon in
every state in the Union. Then, and only then,
will we, the families of the victims, have peace
of mind that something is being done.

Mother in Texas
Dallas, Tex.

the informers said the other man was
Thomas J. Brunson, 23, also at an address
in Winter Garden.

This information was relayed to
Sheriff Colman, Lieutenant Blankenship
and the postal inspectors. Informers liv-
ing in Winter Garden were queried and
they said that Herman had left the state
after the murder of Mrs. Smith and that
he probably was in Columbus, Georgia;
he had lived there before he moved to
Plant City about 10 years before and it
was believed that he still had friends and
relatives in the Georgia city.

Chief Inspector White, who has
jurisdiction over criminal investigations
inGeorgia, asked federal and city officers
to find out if he was in Columbus. They
soon reported that he was. Moreover, he
was driving the yellow Cadillac. He was
kept under surveillance until the inspec-
tors were ready to act.

In a conference between the Postal In-
spectors and Sheriff Colman, it was
decided to file only federal charges
against Herman at first, because it then
would be easier to extradite him from

Here’s hoping many judges get attacked,
shot and mutilated by the very criminals they
let go free on the streets. ..

Anonymous
Tampa, Fla.

I have an idea, but it’s possible someone has
thought of it before. I would like to see a law
passed holding judges accountable for their
sentencing of criminals. If a judge turns a con-
vict loose and the convict kills someone, the
judge should be tried for his crime. And we
should have similar laws applying to those
parole experts. While we're at it, let's not forget
the prison psychiatrists who decide some
maniac is all cured of his anti-social tendencies
and should be turned loose, and the maniac
promptly goes out and kills somebody. Don’t
you think they should be held responsible, too?

Believer in Justice
Sedalia, Mo.

I've long read TD and enjoyed its no-
nonsense way of reporting, but I've been
wondering for just as long about the little star
on the “T” in TRUE on your masthead. Does it
signify something? I've noticed stars on other
magazines’ mastheads, too.

David A. Foe
Grand Rapids, Mich.

The story we’ve heard is that Bernaar Mac-
fadden, a very patriotic man, borrowed the
star from Old Glory and put it on the masthead
of the very first issue of TRUE DETECTIVE in April
1924 (this also was the very first fact detective
magazine ever published) and it’s been there
ever since. Quite probably, other publishers
liked its looks and borrowed it from us.

Q. & A. DEPARTMENT

Some time ago in Ogden, Utah, a murder
occurred involving two airmen stationed at
Hill Air Force Base. The duo robbed a stereo
shop of $24,000. During the trial it was brought
out that the people in the shop were forced to

Georgia to Florida. A warrant charging
him with the murder of a féderal employe
while on duty was issued on July 30th and
forwarded at once to postal inspectors in
Columbus.

Federal warrants charging the same
offense were issued against Thomas J.
Brunson and the 17-year-old female,
whose name was withheld since she was a
juvenile under Florida law. State
warrants charging Brunson with robbery
and first degree murder also were issued
and the girl was charged with robbery
and murder under state laws.

About 2 a.m. on Thursday, July 31st,
Brunson was arrested at his home in
Wintér Garden. About7 o’clock that same
morning, the 17-year-old female was
arrested at her home, also in Winter Gar-
den.

Detectives Hansen and Nazarchuck
learned that Bronson was a native of
Sumter County, South Carolina, but had
lived in Winter Garden for the past 10
years. They could find no evidence that
he had been employed at any time
recently. He was taken to the Orange

drink drain cleaner, a girl was raped, and they
were shot in the head. Another one had a
ballpoint pen stuck five inches in his ear. I've
never seen anything about Utah in your
magazine and was wondering if you had any
prejudices against Utah.
Thomas Daniel,
San Antonio, Texas

None whatsoever. The case mentioned was
published in TD, Aug. '74. Title, “Incredible
Slaughter in the Utah Record Shop.”

I keep running across the expression “dead
man’s hand” in books and articles. Sometimes
it says “he was holding a dead man’shand.” I'm
hoping you can tell me what it means. )

Terry Klawczik
New Orlenas, La.

On August 2, 1876, while playing pokerina
saloon in Deadwood, South Dakota, Wild Bill
Hickok was shot dead, from behind, by Jack
McCall, a dude trying to make areputation for
himself. McCall was tried by a vigilante com-
mittee and acquitted, but he was tried again
later in federal court, convicted and hanged
for the unprovoked murder of the famous In-
dian fighter and gunslinger. At the time Mc-
Call shot him, Hickok’s poker hand con-
tained two pairs, Aces and eights, which has .
been called a ““dead man’s hand” ever since.

(X X 4
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County jail pending a hearing.

After arrangements had been made
for her mother to care for her two small
children, the girl was taken to Youth Hall,
where she was booked on state charges as
a juvenile.

That same day, July 31st, the federal
warrant was received in Columbus and
postal inspectors and Columbus detec-
tives, who had been keeping him under
surveillance, stopped the 1965 yellow
Cadillac Glen Herman was driving about
5:30 p.m. and arrested him. He was held
in the Muscogee County jail without bail
pending a hearing before a United States
magistrate.

In Orlando, at 9:30 a.m., Brunson was
taken before Circuit Court Judge Lon S.
Comelius. The various charges against
him had been typed on a sheet of paper
which Judge Cornelius handed to Brun-
son. The suspect looked at the paper,
frowned, then handed it back to the
judge.

“I can’t read too well,” he said.

Judge Cornelius then read the cahrges
to Brunson and followed by explaining
his constitutional rights. Asked if he un-
derstood, Brunson indicated that he did.

Then Judge Cornelius ordered Brun-
son returned to the Orange County jail to
be held without bond for further legal ac-
tion. “This court feels there is reasonable
or probable cause to have you detained
for trial,” Judge Cornelius said.

Later that same day, Brunson
appeared in court before United States
Magistrate Donald P. Dietrich on a
specific federal charge: Murder of a
postal employe in commission of duties.

Magistrate Dietrich also explained
Brunson’s rights to the suspect and
asked him if he could afford the ser-
vices of counsel. He said he couldn’t;
Magistrate Dietrich appointed an Orlan-
do lawyer, former Assistant State At-
torney James Taylor, torepresent him, on
the federal charges. Taylor told newsmen
he didn’t know whether he would be ap-
pointed as Brunson’s counsel in the state
case.

On Friday, August 1st, Glen Herman
appeared before United States
Magistrate William L. Slaughter in
Columbus. After his rights and the
charges had been explained to him, Her-
man asked for additional time to hire his
own lawyer. Magistrate Dietrich granted
this request and continued the hearing to
August 11th. meanwhile, he ordered Her-
man held without bail in the federal tier
of the Muscogee County jail in Colum-
bus.

Evidence in the case was taken before
the federal grand jury in Jacksonville,
which returned a sealed indictment and
sent it to Orlando federal authorities. It
was opened on August 6th and contained
indictments charging robbery of a post
office and murder of a postal employe in
commission of duties against both Brun-
son and Herman. Both were ordered held
without bail. Brunson later pleaded guilty
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and was sentenced to life in prison.

No indictment was returned against
the 17-year-old female, but she was held
without bond in Youth Hall in Orlando. It
was expected that State Attorney Robert
Eagan would charge her as an accessory.
But no indictment was necessary for this;
it could be done by the filing of a direct
information.

Detectives Hansen and Nazarchuck
said they suspected the girl might have
been lying on the floor in the back of the
Cadillac while the two men were robbing
the post office, but they couldn’t prove.
this. They said they had evidence she was
with the two suspects in the Cadillac in
the mormning of July 21st and they ex-
pected to be able to prove that she was
with them briefly, after the robbery-
murder.

On Thursday, August 11th, Glen Her-
man appeared before United States
Commissioner Slaughter in Columbus for

]

the continuation of the initial hearing.
Herman had been unable to find an at-
torney and accepted counsel appointed
by Magistrate Slaughter.

Herman, through his attorney, filed an
appeal, which went before the U.S. Court
of Appeals. On January 20,1977, the U.S.
Attorney filed a brief, but at this writing,
the court had not ruled on the appeal and
no date had been set for a trial.

The 17-year-old female, who original-
ly was charged with murder, still was in
Youth Hall and the murder charge had
been reduced by federal authorities to
conspiracy to commit robbery. XX

EDITOR’S NOTE:

Linda Hacket is not the real name
of the person so named in the forego-
ing story. A fictitious name has been
used because there is no reason for
public interest in the identity of this
person.

Child Abuse Is
Never an Accident!
(Continued from page 34)

Waites came into the picture. People ac-
quainted with the family of the child’s
mother all reported that as far as they
knew he had been well-cared for and
given an abundance of loving attention.

Numerous interviews turned up not a
single person who had ever seen the child
suffering from bruises or injuries prior to
the time that Robert’s mother started
associating with Charlie Glenn Waites.

Waites, detectives learned, came
from Alabama, and until a short time
before he took the child to Dekalb
General Hospital, he had been employed
as a humidifier salesman. In recent
weeks, however, he had been un-
employed.

On Friday, February 13th, lawmen
came into possession of - a written docu-
ment purported to be a confession con-
cerning the tortures of little Robert

Dobbs. It was supposed to be in the -

handwriting of Charles Glenn Waites.

The following day, Waites was
removed from his jail cell and once again
taken to an interrogation room at the
Criminal Investigation Division of
Dekalb County police. Detective Dewey
Brown wanted to obtain a handwriting
sample from Waites to make com-
parisons with the suspected confession as
to the brutalization of Robert Dobbs.

Once again, Waites was advised of his
rights and he agreed to fill out a
handwriting sample form. With this
done, and as he was about to be
transported back to his cell, he said: “I
know that I don’t have to say anything to
you and my lawyer-told me not to talk to
you. I understand my rights and I want to
talk to you anyway.”

Detective Brown said: “I believe you

do understand your rights and if you have
something to say to me, go ahead.”

“I know that I did wrong,” Waites
said. “I hurt my son by hitting him, but I
want to know why everyone is mad at
me, especially my wife.”

“You're right,” Brown said. “What you
did was not right and Robert is probably
going to die because of what you did.”

“Well,” Waites replied, “Friday night
when I stuck the hair dryer between his
legs, 1 did it to make him stand still
because he peed, and when I hit him on
the head with the comb, I just lost control
of myself.”

The manager of the apartment where
Waites and his wife had lived was among
several people who were interviewed
during a canvass of the area and re-
quested to go to police headquarters to
make a written staternent. This statement
was taken February 14th at 2:55 p.m. at
which time the apartment manager
specifically contradicted parts of what

~ Waites had said during the time he had

given officers two written statements. In
regard to what medical personnel took to
be old bruises on the child, Waites said
Robert had fallen downstairs. He related
that one incident was observed by the
apartment manager. Waites said he was
carrying out garbage and the apartment
manager had observed Robert fall down
the steps.

The apartment manager, however,
said that he had not seen the child fall. He
had heard a commotion in the hall and
had gone outside to see what was happen-
ing. Opening the door, he stated, he
had seen a small, blond-headed boy at the
bottom of the steps and a man with a
beard was picking up the boy. He saw no
garbage or heard no mention of garbage.

The apartment manager said he asked
if everything was OK at that time and the
bearded man had replied it was. Also, the
apartment manager said, he had been
told that the child fell down frequently,



TRUE DETECTIVE

“You forgot to send Mother a birthday card!”

but never really got badly hurt.

At that, the child had raised his hand
and said “Hi.” He gave a small smile and
did not appear to be hurt.

Another apartment dweller and his
wife who were interviewed recalled that
on Sunday night, February 8th, they had
heard a baby screaming and crying at
about 9:30 p.m. They had heard a man
shouting and several loud bumps.

From this statement, lawmen came to
the conclusion that Waites had started the
final sadistic assault on little John as soon
as they were alone.

On February 15th, police received
another purported written confession
from Waites. It, too, was taken to the
crime lab of the Georgia Bureau of In-
vestigation, where expert Jim Kelly made
comparisons with Waites’ handwriting
samples. It was his opinion, Kelly said,
that both purported confessions were in
the handwriting of Charlie Glenn Waites.

It was shortly before 10 p.m. on
February 16th that Detective Dewey
Brown received the call he had been ex-
pecting, but dreaded receiving. Little
John Robert Dobbs had died at 9:30 p.m.
The body was being removed to Ward’s
Funeral Home, where Dr. Joseph Burton
would perform the autopsy.

The call interrupted a rough-housing
session with Brown and his youngsters. As
soon as the detective learned of Robert
Dobbs’ death, he went to Dekalb County
Police Headquarters and swore out a
warrant charging Charlies Glenn Waites

with murder. The warrant was served in
the jail and Waites was then taken for
reprocessing through the identification
section.

The next morning, Detective Dewey
Brown for the first time saw the full ex-
tent of the gut-wrenching injuries the
pitiful little victim had endured before
unconsciousness blanked out the pain.
Dr. Burton required that all items of
suspected evidence in the case be
brought to the autopsy room and they
were obtained from Linda Barton at the
Crime Lab. Included were a wooden
stick, a hand-held steam hair-curling iron
and a wooden mallet.

Viewing the various items, Dr. Burton
immediately eliminated the rattail comb
as the thing which had produced the
numerous injuries to the head.

The pathologist then opened the vic-
tim’s skull to reveal the subdural
hematoma, or blood clot, at the back of
the skull, which had caused death. There
were two other significant bruises to the
head, one particularly to the right side of
the brain. On this side of the head at the
hairline, visible to the naked eye was a
bruise with small symmetrical patterned
abrasions.

Using the wooden stick which had
been confiscated at the apartment, Dr.
Burton was able tolocate a similar pattern
on the grain of the wood. Detective
Brown held the stick over the wound
while it was photographed.

While the blows to the head were

clearly the cause of death, it was the
burns which had caused little Robert
Dobbs the most excruciating pain. These
burns were in a neat pattern on the penis,
scrotum and around the rectum. The dis-
tance between the various burns in thein-
dividual patterns was 10 millimeters.
When placed alongside these burn
patterns, the openings in the hand-held
steam curling iron matched exactly.

The diabolical cruelties which had
been practised on the two-year-old boy
on the autopsy table were almost too
much for the mind to comprehend. At the
conclusion of the pathologist’s work, the
items of evidence were returned to the
state crime lab where other tests on the
hair curling iron were requested.

It was determined that to utilize the
curling iron, one end of the heating piece
had to be unscrewed and filled with
water. Then it had to be screwed back on
and plugged into an electrical outlet and
turned on to build up steam. Once the
item produced enough heat to turn the
enclosed water into steam, a button had
to be pressed in order to release the
steam.

When it was considered how many
times that curling iron had been held in
and around the groin area of little John
Robert Dobbs, it was little wonder that -
neighbors had heard the child screaming
on the night he was taken to the hospital.

On February 27th, Detective Brown
obtained a court order from Superior
Court Judge Tom Allen to retrieve the
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medical records of John Robert Dobbs
from Dekalb General Hospital. A copy of
these records were added to the evidence
already gathered in the case.

After he was indicted by a Dekalb
County Grand Jury, Charlie Glenn
Waites went on trial for the torture-
murder of John Robert Dobbs on August
19, 1976. In the interim, Waites had suf-
fered a severe beating at the hands of
prisoners in the Dekalb County jail and
had to be held in a single cell until his trial
date.

With Judge Clarence Peeler on the
bench, the jury was qualified to consider
the death penalty in the case. As the case
was presented by Assistant District At-
torney Calvin Leipold, Judge Peeler
allowed five statements made by Waites
to be entered into the record, with the ex-
ception of one section of one of the
documents. The jury was not allowed to
hear that at one point after he was
arrested, Waites told Detective Dewey
Brown he wanted to plead guilty.

“It might be noted that Waites had
made this statement to Brown before
John Robert Dobbs died, and at that time
he was not charged with murder.

Medical testimony in the case was

" given by a neurosurgeon who performed
the operation on the victim shortly after
he was admitted to the hospital and from
Dr. Burton, who described the injuries
and the case of death.

Testimony from state laboratory
technicians also included the fact that it
took three minutes and 45 seconds for the
hair curling iron to produce steam. Also,
testing revealed that the iron attained a
maximum outside metal temperature of
204.8 degrees fahrenheit.

U V aites himself took the stand in his
own defense, saying he loved the dead
child. He also said that Detective Dewey
Brown had obtained admissions of his

treatment of the child by threats. At one.

point, Waites testified, Brown had bang-
ed his hand on the table in the interroga-
tion room. Brown had told him, Waites
said, that he wasn’t going to be allowed to
leave the room until he admitted what he
had done.

If one is to accept such a dubious
allegation to begin with, it is little wonder
that a man whose mind had been so tor-
tured by the awful details of the case,
might have banged his hand on an un-
yielding inanimate object like a table.

The defense, in its closing argument to
the jury, made much of the fact that the
child’s mother was not called as a witness
for the state. It was also contended that
the mother herself had mistreated the

_child by “blowing marijuana” smoke in
his face, according to testimony by a
defense witness.

Defense contended that all the injuries
suffered by Robert Dobbs had been the
result of falls and the burns had been suf-
fered accidentally.

54

Prosecutor Leipold, however,
pointed out that all the supposed falls that
the dead child had taken had occurred
when he was alone with Charles Glenn
Waites.

The jury deliberated the case for less
than three hours before returning a ver-
dict of guilty of murder. At that time,
Judge Peeler announced that he would
not allow the jury to consider punishment
in the case. Qualified to set the death
sentence, the jury was dismissed after
bringing in the verdict of guilty and the
judge sentenced Waites to life in prison.

In a surprise move, the defense had
asked that the jury be instructed only ona
possible verdict of murder, not lesser
charges of manslaughter. It had been
defense counsel’s hope that the jury

would not find Waites guilty of murder.

Charles Glenn Waites is now serving
that sentence imposed on him in the
Georgia penal system.

For those who feel the full, gut-
wrenching horror ‘and grief of these
atrocities committed against children,
and are always disappointed with the
seemingly light sentences such criminals

‘receive, the promise of God toward all

such may be of comfort:

“Woe unto that man who would of-
fend one of my little ones.

“For it must be that offenses will
come, but woe unto, that man by whose
hand the offense cometh.

“It were better for him that a millstone
be tied around his neck and that he be cast
into the middle of the seas.” XX

Rape, or Did She
Seduce Boys’ Choir?

(Continued from page 10)

“You can’t make me! I'm under legal
age!”

“Very well. If you're ashamed, I don’t
blame you. Tell the next boy to come in
when you go out.”

“Who in hell’s ashamed? We ——
[vulgar German word for sexual inter-
course] her, all five of us!”

“Surely not all at the same time?”

“One after another and then all at
once.”

“It’s not possible.”

“Sure it is! Hell. vou need sex
education! She’s got one—[vulgar
word for vagina], one —— {vulgar word

for anus], one mouth and two hands, ain’t
she? Makes five. See?”

“Mrs. Ismair taught you all these sex-
ual practices?”

“Hell no! We taught her. She didn’t
know nothing!”

“You say there were five of you. Who
were the others?”

“You think you'll get me to rat on my
pals, youdumb flatfoot! I'll see you in hell
first, you old . . .7

The tape abruptly went silence at this
point.

“During this interval,” interposed the
inspector a little smugly, “I had the
pleasure of putting Mr. Wagner over my
knee and blistering the seat of his pants
mercilessly.”

“His people will sue you,” said the
sergeant.

“I had their permission in writing in
advance,” said the inspector even more
smugly. “And from all the others as well.
None of the parents are too pleased over
their sons” conduct and—"

He was interrupted by the tape
recorder from which issued a most tearful
voice.

“Klaus Luebbich, Hans-Dieter
Offenhausen, Hans-Peter Froehlich,
Karl-Heinz Schuhmacher and myself.”

“The police thank you for your
public-spirited cooperation,” said the in-
spector’s voice and the recording came to
an end.

“Which ones are Hans-Dieter
Offenhausen and Hans-Peter Froehlich?
I can’t keep them straight,” said the
sergeant.

“Offenhausen’s the one with the
cowlick and the freckles,” said the inspec-
tor. “Looks like a sentimental poet’s idea
of a boy. The other one’s the short, stocky
boy who lookslike a farmer. Doesn’t real-
ly matter. They all made practically the
same statements and, as far as their ac-
tivities over the body of the unfortunate
Mrs. Ismair were concerned, they were
pretty much interchangeable.
Everybody tried out, more or less, what
the lady had to offer.”

“And then went around to tell their
friends,” remarked the sergeant. “It’s a
wonder that she wasn’t smothered under
the sheer weight of numbers.”

“Probably would have been,” agreed
the inspector, “but, by this time, the talk
had gone beyond the boys and was get-
ting to the adults in the village. Mrs.
Ismair began to collect some very
remarkable looks when she went down to
the square to do her shopping.”

“I can imagine,” said Sergeant Borsen.
“And, in the meantime, the club was
growing.”

“Not only growing, but becoming
more sophisticated,” said Inspector
Krembayer. “We know that Willi
Biederauer, aged sixteen, and Peter Sur-
re, aged fifteen, were both involved and
there may have been others. It was
becoming such a crowd that neither the
boys nor Mrs. Ismair are certain any more
just who took part and who didn’t. There
seem to have been a certain number of
spectators who were too shy or too afraid
to actually join in.”

“Just what do you mean ‘more
sophisticated®” asked the sergeant. “I
should think that group sex would be
sophisticated enough for a bunch of
choirboys.”

(Continued on page 56)
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TRUE DETECTIVE, June 1977

EDITORIAL

By A. P. Govoni

HE CONSTITUTION of the United States
guarantees every citizen the right to
protest publicly anything he feels like pro-
testing. It is a right cherished by any think-
ing person, even in the face of abuse and over-
use to which it has been subjected in recent
years, during which it sometimes may have
seemed to some ofus that everyone in the world
with a felt-tipped pen was scratching indignant
comments on placards and dedicating
themselves to the life of a professional picket.
In New York City it gets so bad occasionally
that police have to set up lanes in front of City
Hall to keep picketing groups separated; there
have been times when as many as a dozen
different causes were being protested or ad-
vocated simultaneously by as many groups, and
this sort of demonstration is not restricted to
New York.

How effective all this is remains moot, but
one thing is certain: It has been a boon for the
television news industry, because it makes
good pictures, which is the name of their game.
On any given day of the year, most TV news
programs would be half as long if they suddenly
eliminated pictorial reports about who was
picketing whom that day, and for what.

For what, indeed. The viewing public has
been subjected to video news reports on groups
demonstrating for or against everything from
abortion to mini-skirts to insecticides which

are making mosquitoes an endangered spe-.

cies.

The great wonder isthat in a country patent-
ly gone protest-happy, no one—to our
knowledge—has so much as thought about
picketing the criminal courts of judges whose
sentencing policy for savage felons makes a
mockery of justice and contributes heavily to
the crime wave running rampant in America.
Their concern for ‘“humane’” treatment of
violent hoodlums, their futile, piously voiced
hopes for “rehabilitation” rather than severe
punishment of the lawless is exercised at the
expense—often the blood—of decent citizens
who are guaranteed the rights of life, liberty
and the pursuit of happiness by the Constitu-
tion, rights which are manifestly imperiled by
the policies of our courts.

Why are there no public demonstrations
against judges who permit outrageous plea
bargaining that allows hardened lawbreakers’
to cop out to lesser offenses instead of being
sternly punished for the atrocious crimes they
committed, a practice which quickly returns
them to the streets to rob, rape and kill?

The most common answer we have received

Ever since this editorial appeared in our May 1976
issue, we have been flooded with requests for reprints
from readers who gave away their own copies, from
some who missed it, from countless others who heard
about it and wanted to read it for themselves. In
response to this popular demand, we are pleased to
reprint the Senior Citizens Court-Watcher editorial.

—A.P.G.

to this question is that most law-abiding citi-
zens are too busy; they can’t take the time off
from their jobs that would be required for such
public protests. It’s a valid excuse, but there is
one group among the electorate which could do
it, and, because of their maturity and wisdom,
probably do a tremendous job of it.

Senior citizens. Pensioners. Retirees. We
read frequently about the frustrations of
America’s oldsters, who fret at inactivity, who
become embittered because they feel they are
no longer needed.

This is to let them know THEY ARE
NEEDED! Desperately needed.

We propose that they become court-
watchers when they tire of watching daytime
television or weary of sitting around parks. At-
tend criminal trials, and make notes. Thisis the
right of every citizen; courtrooms provide seats
in a spectator section so that the public can be
present to insure the fair trial process. Itcanbe
exciting, too, watching real-life courtroom
dramas, instead of Perry Mason or Petrocelli,
without commercials, but with surprise end-
ings that very often will make court-watchers
angry.

And when that happens, when you see with
your own eyes how judge and prosecutor settle
for half a loaf and send no-goods on their way
with a tut-tut and a slap on the wrist—when
that happens, get out the felt-tip pens, write the
message of outraged protest on your placards,
and start marching up and down in front of the
courthouse.

Tell the police you’re going to do it, and
they’ll be there to protect you. Call your local
TV station news departments, and they’ll film
your demonstrations for the evening news. Call
your newspapers and they’ll put you in print.
And sooner or later, these representatives of
the press, reminded of their responsibility by
your actions, will corner the judge and the
prosecutor and force them to account to the
citizens for their actions.

That’s how it’s done, and it’s long overdue.
That’s how our elder citizens can contribute
meaningfully to a society they thought was
through with them and had put them out to

pasture. That’s how they can do themselves a

favor and fight back against criminals who
prey on the elderly, and at the same time they
can strike a blow for a better, safer life for their
children and their grandchildren.

Mr. and Mrs. Senior Citizen, stop thinking
nobody needs you any more. We all need you.
Now. We need you badly.

XX
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(Continued from page 54)
“Ah, you underestimate the choirboy

of today,” said the inspector, holdingupa _

stubby finger. He reached under the desk
and brought out a cardboard carton from
which he began to extract books,
magazines and reels of movie film to pile
on the desk. “Exhibits A, B, C, D,
etcetera, etcetera. Some of the books are
school sex manuals. The others are por-
nographic. All the magazines are por-
nographic and so are the movies.”

“For what?” said the sergeant. “They
didn’t need to read or see movies about it.
They were doing it.”

~ “With an inexperienced partner,”
pointed out the inspector, “or rather, with
a partner whose experience was limited
to the more or less usual form of sexualin-
tercourse. After all, Mrs. Ismair was
scarcely a virgin. She was the mother of a
child.

“The boys, however, were not in-
terested in sex for the purpose of having
children and, since Mrs. Ismair knew
nothing about cunnilingus, fellatio or anal
intercourse, to say nothing of the more
refined forms of masturbation, they
taught her.”

“Using these materials,” said the
sergeant admiringly. “The true, German
scientific approach.”

“Right,” said the inspector. “What we
Germans do, we do thoroughly. Theboys
left nothing out. One of them would take
the illustration from a pornographic book
or magazine and coach the performers
into the correct positions. Or they would
run off a pornographic movie and then
try to copy the actors while the film was
still running. They were very serious
about it.”

Which leaves Mrs. Ismair one of the
best educated women on sex matters in
the whole south of Germany, I don’t
doubt,” said the sergeant, “and
simultan€ously charged with the con-
tributing to the delinquency of the seven
minors who taught her everything she
knows.”

“Yes, it's quite a contradiction,” said
the inspector, “and I'm afraid the court is
going to find it so as well. For that reason,
we're going to be very careful about what
we present as evidence. With the excep-
tion of Mrs. Ismair, all the people in-
volved are minors— they can’t be charged,
but their parents can sure as hell bring
charges against us if we present anything

_ to the court that we can’tback up. I've got
taped statements from every one of the
boys who are named in the indictment.
Let’s listen to one more now and then
well go on to adults. This is Willi
Biederauer, sixteen, who is now very
sorry about the whole thing and feels that
hehas very probably gravely jeopardized
his hopes of Heaven.”

He flipped the switch of the tape
recorder and a sorrowful, high-pitched
boy’s voice began: “I didn’t want to do all
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that to poor, old Mrs. Ismair,” the voice
whined. “The other boys said 1 was
chicken. They were all doing it. Then,
they said, ‘Come on and do it with your
mouth,” and they forced me. I thought 1
was going to be sick.”

The inspector pressed the hold but-
ton.

“But he wasn’t sick,” he commented,
“and, according to some of the other
statements, he was one of the worst.
Couldn’t get enough of the poor old
woman, as he calls her.”

He released the button and the boy’s
voice continued.

“I wouldn’t have done anything—
except maybe watch—if they hadn’t
made me, and Mrs. Ismair helped them
too. When we did it, she was the one on
top and she did all the moving. I couldn’t
get away from her. I'm just alittle boy.”

“The little boy, as you may
remember,” said the inspector, switching
off the recorder and removing the tape,
“stands five-foot-eight and weighs right
around a hundred and sixty pounds. If
Mrs. Ismair was on top, it was probably
because she didn't want those hundred
and sixty pounds bouncing around on top
of her. She was gradually becoming
somewhat bruised and battered.”

“You sound as if your sympathies are
more with her than with the poor, inno-
cent children she led astray,” teased the
sergeant in a mock-serious tone.

“Not at all,” said the inspector. “My
sympathies are equally divided among all
parties concerned. How they must have
suffered! And, in addition tosthat . . .”

“Are we going to listen to the Ismair
tape now?” interrupted Sergeant Borsen
hurriedly.

“No,” said Inspector Krembayer.
“Were going to listen to Mr. Seppl
Gutschwaetzer, the man who blew the
whistle on this whole business and the
person responsible for our having had to
work most of the weekend.”

The tape recorder whirred and a
strong, steady adult male voice filled the
office.

“My name is Seppl Gutschwaetzer, 1
am forty-three years of age, a stone
mason by trade, married since June of
nineteen-sixty, the father of one son and
two daughters and I reside at Number
Seventeen Buchholz Street in Boden-
mais.”

This was_the standard identification
given by an adult German when making
an offictal statement and it was delivered
in an expressionless sort of sing-song, as if
Gutschwaetzer had had occasion to
lrezpeat it a good many times during his
ife.

“On the afternoon of August twenty-
seventh, nineteen-hundred-and-seventy-
six, at approximately two-fifteen in the
afternoon I was standing in front of the
Golden Lamb Tavern in Bodenmais
when four boys came out of the tavern.
These boys are known to me as Julius
Wagner, Willi Biederauer, Hans-Dieter

Offenhausen and Peter Surre.

“Willi Biederauer said, ‘Let us goup to
the Youth Center and have one more go at
Christl before the weekend. We won’t be
able to get another —— [sexual inter-
course] before Monday.

“I thought he was talking about one of
the young girls in the village and 1 said,
‘What do you mean, you young cur! How
can you talk like that about respectable
girls?’

“When [ said that all four of the boys
started to laugh and snigger and Julius
‘Wagner said, “You look like you need
some yourself, grandpa. Go up to the
Recreation Center and ask for Christl”

“I was very angry and I was going to
hit him one in the face when I realized
what he had said didn’t make any sense
and, instead of hitting him, I said, ‘Christl
who?”’

Then, Offenhausen and the others
began to babble a lot of nonsense about
having sex relations with the cleaning
woman at the Boys Recreation Center.

“I, of course, know Siegfried and
Christl Ismair and I knew that they had
got the job as caretakers at the Center, but
1 did not believe that Christl could be do-
ing such a thing. Besides, a lot of the stuff
they were telling me was crazy and 1
never heard of people doing anything like
that and, if they do, it is a very grave sin.

“I didn’t know whether they were
drunk or then I thought maybe they had
got hold of some kind of drugs like you
read about the young people taking in
Munich and those big cities up north.

“I was sort of confused and ‘shamed,
too, because I'm not used to hearing peo-
ple talk like that, not even boys, and I
didn’t say any more—but I went over to
see Karl Huber -at the filling station and
told him what I'd just heard and he said
he’d heard the same thing from some of
the boys and he thought there must be
something to it, they couldn’t be making
the whole thing up.

“I went around, then, and talked to a
few other people and all of them had
heard it and some of them thought it was
funny and others thought it was none of
their business, but I thought it was-
anybody’s business if things like that were
going on here at the Boys Recreation
Center, and I went down and filed a com-
plaint with Oscar Binsenmeyer.”

“The village constable,” explained In-
spector Krembayer, switching off the
tape recorder. “He didn’t investigate, but
called us directly. The truth is, I expect,
he’'d heard the tales long since, but he
didn’t want to get involved in something
that ticklish, so he was waiting for a for-
mal complaint so he could shove it off on
Deggendorf.”

“Ah—understandable,” said Sergeant
Borsen. “It’s a pity we don’t have some
place we can shove it off on. Do we final-
ly hear now what Mrs. Ismair had to say
to all this?”



It’s easy when you know how:

Every detective story reader should be able to solve the

CRYPTOGRAM

F ZEEP FOG RMQ BEOJS...
A FOOL AND HIS MONEY..

In the cryptogram you merely substitute one letter for another. In the example shown above,
F is used for A in two places, E replaces O three times, etc. Single letters are your best clues; they
must stand for either L or A. The number of letters in a word also provide clues, as does punctua-
tion, such as an apostrophe for a possessive. If you find a 2-letter word ends in'T, matching the
vowels will show it must be either AT or 1T, etc. Have a go at this month’s coded message:

LBN VCC-KXFKNVHNQ FXLVXF LBSL
ZNBSJVCVLSLVXF XA KZVTVFSCW
WBXICQ JN WLZNWWNQ XHNZ
GIFVWBTNFL BSW GZXQIKNQ LBN

PZNSLNWL KZVTN MSHN VF BVWLXZR.
(Cryptogram answer on page 76)

“Why, of course,” said the inspector.
“You should have said something
"before.” He dropped the final cassette of
tape into the recorder, said in a solemn
voice, “For the defense,” and threw the
switch.

A woman’s voice, choked with sobs,
filled the office. “I don’t know how it
happened!” gasped Christl Ismair. “It
was all that Klaus Luebbich. He came to
the door and asked for abeer and I gave it
to him. The first thing I knew he had his
hand under my skirt and he was tickling
me in the very most sensitive place you
can tickle a woman. He was very clever at
it. I'm sure he’d done it before to some
other woman.

“I tried to stop him, but he’s not a
small boy and really it was getting me all
excited. I didn’t know what I was doing
and the first thing I knew, he had my un-
derpants off and he was doing it to me. I
won'’t lie about it. I didn’t try to stop him
any more, then. I hadn’t had sex with my
husband the night before and it was just
that time before my period when a
woman is so easily worked up that way.

“I thought that was the end of it, but
then he came back the next day and
brought Karl-Heinz with him. I couldnt
do anything against them. They were so
strong and before I hardly knew what
was happening, they were doing it to
me.

The inspector’s voice intervened: “But
why didn’t you tell someone about this?
Why didn’t you complain or cry out when
they were doing this to you?”

“I was ashamed,” replied Christ]
Ismair. “How could I tell anybody, and
who was ['supposed to tell? My husband?
Father Guentner? I couldn’t do that. And
if I screamed or made a noise while they
were doing that, all the bovs in the nlace
would run in and see me lying there with
my skirts up around my neck and those
boys with their things out. Nobody would
believe that I hadn’t encouraged them. I
didn’t know what to do!”

She began to cry at the top of her lungs

and the inspector hastily pressed the skip-

button.

“More crying than statement on this
tape,” he remarked, “but I think the girl is
sincere. She’s not sex-mad and she thinks
having sex with the boys was a terrible
thing to do. It’s just that they caught her
off-balance the first time, and she was
never able to recover herself afterwards.
Then, the more boys there were involved
and the more depraved the orgies
became, theless she could bring herself to
confide in anyone.”

“I can see that position,” said the
sergeant, nodding. “After a while it

became so unbelievable that she couldn’t

have got anyone to accept the story, let
alone the fact that she was an unwilling
participant. Or was she?”

“Half-half,” said the inspector.
“Morally and intellectually, she was
horrified. Physically, I'm afraid she en-
joyed it, up to where things began to get
rough.” )

“You mean the gang-bangs four and
five at a time?” asked the sergeant.

“Worse,” said the inspector. “We'll
skip the middle of her statement. It’s
basically the same as the boys’. Now,
listen to this . . .”

He made two or three jumps with the
‘tape and finally found the spot he was
seeking.

“They sent away to this mail-order
house and they got these rubber un-
dergarments,” said Christl Ismair’s
sorrowful voice. “They made me put
them on and then they were going to
whip me with switches. I was so scared I
started to scream and they stopped.

“Then, they had a thing like it was
made out of dog chains and they tied me
all up in it with my legs apart and my
knees almost up to my ears. They had a
little thing like a flashlight, only it buzzed

“and jiggled, and they ran that over my

breasts and private parts until I thought
I'd go crazy.”

“The boys choir was getting into bon-
dage, flagellation, rubber and I know not
what else,” said the inspector, turning off
the recorder and beginning to stow the
tapes back into the desk drawer. “Ap-
parently, if you have a completely uncon-
trolled sexual situation with boys that
young, there is a tendency to degenerate
from normal sex into perversity. I fear to
think what they might eventually have
done to Mrs. Ismair-if the whole thing
hadn’t come to and end when it did. As it
is, the doctor was able to establish a
number of bruises on the thighs, lower
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abdomen and breasts, mainly from the
bondage stuff, it seems. Nothing serious,
of course.” )

“The result of sex without love, I
should think,” said the sergeant. “The
boys weren't emotionally attached to
Mrs. Ismair. She was simply a sex object
and they treated her like one—with
emphasis on the ‘object. So, what
happens now? Isitrape or contributing to
the delingency of minors? I'm no wiser
than when we started.”

“Nor 1,” admitted the inspector. “Per-
sonally, I think both charges are valid.
The boys are minors engaging in immoral
acts with an adult and Mrs. Ismair was
forced into sexual activities against her
will. Even though named in the indict-
ment, the boys are too young to
prosecute. If I were the court, I'd throw
the whole thing out.”

And this is very probably what the
court will do, although the case has not as
yet come to trial.

Most of the boys involved have been
punished with greater or lesser severity

by their parents. The Ismairs have lost

. their cozy job at the Recreation Center
and the four-room apartment which went
with it.

On the other hand, Siegfried Ismair
has completely forgiven his wife for her
part in the affair and the family has no in-
tention of leaving Bodenmais.

“Where could we go?” says Siegfried
Ismair. “This is our home.” And adds,
with perhaps one of the greatest un-
derstatements of all time, “We're very
well known in Bodenmais.” *ee

EDITOR’S NOTE:

Boris Krembayer, Max Borsen,
Klaus Luebbich, Karl-Heinz Schuh-
macher, Julius Wagner, Hans-Dieter
Offenhausen, Willie Biederauer, Hans-
Peter Froehlich, Peter Surre, Karl
Huber and Seppl Gutschwaetzer are not
the real names of the persons so named
in the foregoing story. Fictitious names
have been used in order to comply with
German police regulations.

Was Victim Killed

By Yankee Lover?
(Continued from page 41)

blonde girl on one of her visits to Hood.

Sergeant Smith was greatly interested
in the fact that the American from

Yakima had been strapped for money, .

and also that he had not been seen since
the fatal shooting of the taxi driver.

“Are Hood’s belongings still in his
. room?” he asked the hotel manager.

“Yes, we thought he might come in
later today and pay up, so we haven’t
removed his things and re-rented the
room yet.” '

The sergeant requested permission to
search the American’s room and the
manager took him upstairs and admitted
the officers with his passkey. They went
through Ryon Hood’s luggage, with in-
teresting results.

- In a traveling case, Sergeant Smith
found a box that had contained 50 rounds
of .32-caliber ammunition. At the mo-
ment there were 49 bullets in the box.

Then one of the detectives called the
sergeant over to the closet. In a pocket of
one of Hood’s jackets was a .320 Beretta
automatic pistol. Ithad been fired recent-
ly, and the barrel had not been cleaned
since.

At that moment in the early evening of
Monday, March 27th, Ryon Spurlock
Hood, of Yakima, Washington, in the Un-
ited States of America, became the
Number One suspect in the slaying of taxi
driver Alfred Stephens. Sergeant Smith
was virtually certain Hood was the killer,
but the case- would prove to be a
remarkable one indeed, for it was not un-
til 17 months later, in August of the
following year, after the police had spent

58

countless more man-hours on the case,
that they could be certain whether they
had the right man.

In the meantime, detectives had run
down the earlier lead on the first
American reported—the one who
became belligerent when he drank too
many whiskies at the hotel bar. What they
learned about this man conclusively
eliminated him from suspicion, but the
circumstances were colored by a bizarre
irony.

Detectives had managed to locate
another bar patron who knew the Yank,
and this witness had a remarkable story to
tell. He said that on Easter Sunday mor-
ning, as he was returning from church
with his wife, he happened to see the
Yank, whom he knew from having seen
him at the hotel bar, staggering along the
sidewalk ahead of him, obviously very
drunk. He had no idea where the
American was coming from, or how he
happened to be drunk at such an early
hour on Sunday, but as he watched, the
witness said, the American known as Jack
suddenly stepped off the sidewalk and
staggered between two parked cars out
into the street. '

He stepped right into the path of a
small van and was catapulted through the
air some 30 feet. When the ambulance
came he was pronounced dead at the
scene.

By a weird coincidence, he was lying
on a slab in the same mortuary to which
the murdered taxi driver, Alfred
Stephens, was taken some 17 hours later!

After discovering the .32 automatic in
Ryon Hood’s hotel room, Sergeant Smith
ordered the room sealed and summoned
technicians to make a thorough examina-
tion -of it. He forwarded the Beretta
automatic and the ammuniticn to Detec-
tive Sergeant Colin Leatherbarrow, a

ballistics expert at the crime lab. Then he
quizzed the hotel manager again.

“You told us that a man and a girl
came to visit Hood,” he said. “Do you
know who they werer”

The manager did not, but he was sure
he’d recognize the girl if he saw her again.
“She was tall, slim, and very pretty, with
shoulder-length blonde hair.”

“You said she and Hood semed to be
good friends,” the sergeant persisted.
“Have you a record of the telephone calls
he made from his room?”

The manager had such records and
produced them for Sergeant Smith. Most
of the calls, the latter noted in the records,
had been made to the same number, and
after consulting the central telephone ex-
change, Smith learned that the number
was listed under the name of Marion
Sommers, in the suburb of Rosebery. He
drove at once to the address.

Miss Sommers proved to be an attrac-
tive, slenderly built blonde with a friend-
ly smile. She told him she was 19, years old
and an office worker. Without telling her
why he was looking for Ryon Hood,
Smith asked the girl whether she knew
him.

“Why, yes,” she answered promptly.
“I was born in San Diego, California, you
see, and I went to high school for a while
in Yakima, Washington. That's where 1
met Ryon.”

She added that she had come to
Australia to live two years ago because
her mother, who was Australian, had
moved back there. She said that when
Hood came to visit Sydney, he naturally
looked her up.

Smith asked the girl where Hood was
now.

“I don’tknow,” shereplied.” “I flew to
Brisbane over the weekend to see my
mother, who's staying there. When 1
returned this morning I phoned Ryon’s
hotel and they said he’d apparently left.
I've been expecting to hear from him.”

“Ryon Hood had another visitor at his
hotel—a man,” the sergeant said. “Who
was he?”

Marion Sommers hesitated briefly,
then said, “His name is John Blake. He
works for an export company here. Ryon
met him through me.”

The sergeant asked for Blake’s ad-
dress and the girl gave it to him. Hoping
to learn Hood’s present whereabouts,
Smith drove to see Blake at once. Blake, a
solidly built blond man with a quiet
manner, had just arrived home.

“I went to see Hood on my way back
from the office just now,” he told
Sergeant Smith. “He’s no longer living at
Tamarama Beach. He's taken a room at a
hotel over in Bondi. He called up and told
me, so I dropped by there to see him. 1
presume he’s still in his room.”

There were other questions Sergeant
Smith wanted to ask John Blake, but at
that moment he was more anxious to
locate Ryon Hood. He drove on to the
Bondi district, where he found the



American in his new hotel room and ask-
ed him to accompany him to the police
station.

Hood, a dark-haired youth of 19, with
an intelligent, handsome face, offered no
objection. “I don’t know what it’s about,”
he said easily, “but I'll be glad to come
with you.”

They drove to the Paddington station
house in silence. When they arrived,
Sergeant Smith discovered Sergeant
Leatherbarrow waiting for him. The
ballistics expert had just completed a
series of tests on the automatic pistol
found in Hood’s jacket in his hotel room.

“The shot that killed Alfred Stephens
was fired from this gun,” he told Sergeant
Smith bluntly. “There’s not the slightest
doubt, and I made micro-photographs
that will convince any jury.”

I n view of this seemingly strong
evidence that the American had
murdered the taxi driver, Sergeant Smith
chose a straightforward approach and ac-
cused Hood directly of commiting the
crime.

“You smuggled a Beretta automatic
into Australia when you arrived,” he
charged. “But you have very little money
and yesterday you found yourself in
desperate need of funds. Youknew you'd
be locked out of your hotel room, so you
went out last evening, taking your gun
with you. You hailed a taxi, picking one
with an elderly driver. You directed
Stephens to a quiet suburb. There you
held the gun against his back and
demanded his money.

“Either he tried to resist you, or you
were afraid he could identify you. In
either case, you shot him to death, robbed
him, and dragged his body behind a tree.
You drove back to town, abandoned the
taxicab, and returned to your hotel room
at Tamarama Beach by the unlocked
dopr, where you left the jacket you'd
been wearing and the gun. Then you
went out again, perhaps for a drink to
steady your nerves.

“When you returned, you found that
the management had locked you out. You
became frightened because the murder
gun was in the hotel’s possession. So with
the money you'd stolen you rented
another room in Bondi, some distance
away, to wait until you learned whether
you were suspected of murder.”

The detective sergeant told Hood that
the police had found the gun in his jacket
and that the fatal bullet had been definite-
ly identified as having been fired from it.

To Sergeant Smith’s surprise, the
handsome, well-dressed American sat
calmly in his chair, displaying very little
reaction. “The gun you found was mine,”
he said quietly. “Americans traveling in
strange countries often bring weapons
along. But I didn’t ride in a taxicab last
night, and I certainly didn’t kill anybody.
I left that hotel early last evening because
of the money I owed. I knew they’d hold

my belongings and I could.get them back
when I paid up. I'd found a job, you see,
and F was to start work tomorrow.

“I found a cheaper hotel inBondi, and
I was eating dinner in my room there at
eleven o’clock when that taxi driver was
murdered.”

Ryon Hood now leaned forward and
spoke earnestly. “Another man came to
my room yesterday evening after I left.
I'm positive of it,” he said. “The door was
unlocked and he took the gun from my
suitcase, went out and shot the cab driver,
then returned and put the gun in jacket
pocket. He could have done that without
having been seen from the desk. He did it
deliberately because he wanted to frame
me. We were both inlove with the same
girl, you see. He intended to get me out of
the way, by having me sent to jail for
murder!”

" The sergeant listened in amazement
to Ryon Hood’s statement. Fantastic as
his explanation sounded, he had given it
in such a straightforward manner that it
carried the ring of conviction. \

For the next several hours, Smith and
other detectives continued to interrogate
the young American. They got nothing
more from him whatever.

“I'm not going to name the man who
framed me now because I have no proof
against him,” Hood said. “But if you in-
vestigate further you'll find that I'm tell-
ing you the truth. And now I insist on my
right as a United States citizen to talk with
the American Consul. I'm not going to
answer any more questions until [ have a
lawyer.” '

Sergeant Smith contacted the
American consul, explained the situation,
and the consul came to the police station,
where he was permitted to talk privately
with Hood. The following morning he
called Sergeant Smith to advise him he
had engaged a lawyer for the American
from Yakima. Smith said he would let
Hood consult with him.

In the meantime, however, Smith had
conferred with high police officials and
the prosecutor’s office, and it was decid-
ed to proceed with legal action against
Ryon Hood. Accordingly, he was taken
before a judge and charged with the
murder of Alfred George Stephens.

The magistrate ordered him to jail on

remand. When a man is charged with
murder in Australia, as in England,
newspapers are permitted by law to
publish his name, but very little else, for
fear of prejudicing a future trial jury’
against him. They must print nothing
further about the police investigation un-
til the magistrate’s hearing, at which the
prosecution must establish the validity of
its charges. News media may report this
testimony, but then they must remain
silent again until the formal trial, when at-
torneys for the defense present their case
for the first time.

Thus, it was not until Ryon Hood’s
trial, in mid-August, that the strength of
the accused’s claim that he had been

framed by a love rival became known to
the public.

The trial began at Central Criminal
Court in Sydney on August 14th, with the
summary of the Crown’s charges against
the defendant given by William Knight,
Chief Prosecutor for the State of New
South Wales. Knight charged that Hood
had robbed and murdered the taxi driver
because of an immediate need for money
to buy food, pay his hotel bill and con-
tinue his courtsthip of his friend, Marion
Sommers.

During the first days of the trial the
Government called 40 witnesses to sup-
port its contention that no one but Ryon
Hood could have murdered the taxi
driver. Among the early witnesses were
the ballistics expert, Sergeant Leather-
barrow, and a microbiologist named
Lawrence Horton. The latter testified
that stains found on one of Hood’s shirts, a
handkerchief, and a pigskin glove, could
be blood.

When Prosecutor Knight had es-
tablished that Hood’s gun had killed
Stephens, he summoned the American-
born Miss Sommers to the witness box.
The girl managed to look radiantly attrac-
tive in a simple black street dress. She told
the jury about her friendship with the
defendant and John Blake.

S he said she had known Ryon Hood,
the son of a respectable Yakima family,
during the two years she attended high
school in that city. She had been strongly
attracted to him, and he told her he was in
love with her. They dated frequently, she
said, until she went to Australia, where
her mother was living,.

Marion Sommers disclosed that she
and Hood had kept up a correspondence
and he kept repeating that he loved her.
Then he wrote that he planned to come to
Sydney to visit her and she said she would
see him there.

Before Hood’s arrival, however, she
met John Blake, a young Australian
businessman, and they began going
steady. Still, when Hood flew in on
March 16th, she took a week off from her
job to entertain him. She found Hood a
hotel room, and when he told her he had
arrived with no money, she loaned him
some to tide him over temporarily.

She told Hood she was going steady
with another man, but she took him
around the city, showing him the sights.
She introduced him to John Blake, and on
Sunday, March 19th, the three of them
went on a picnic together. She said that
the two men seemed to get along well.

Hood told her he was still in love with
her, but she tried to discourage him.
Nevertheless she continued to see him
regularly the following week. As a result,
Blake becamie angry and they had a
heated argument.

They had planned to fly to Brisbane
together over the weekend to visit her
mother, Marion went on, but she was still
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furious at Blake because of an accusation
he had made and so she failed to meet
him at the airport and took another flight.
He flew to Brisbane anyway. Sherefused
to see him there, however, and he return-
ed to Sydney on Sunday.

When she got back on Monday, she
left her apartment in Rosebery and took a
room temporarily in Nosman, across the
harbor, so Blake could not find her.

Marion Sommers said she knew
nothing at all about the murder, which
had happened while she was in Brisbane,
but she found it difficult to believe Hood
was capable of such a crime. Then she
surprised the court by saying that she and
John Blake had become engaged to be
married on April 6th. That was just 11
days after the murder of the taxi driver.

U v hen Miss Sommers had completed
her testimony, Prosecutor Knight im-
mediately called the young Australian to
the witness box. Blake, perfectly groom-
ed and apparently at ease, said that
Marion had told him in advance that her
former boyfriend from America was
coming to Sydney and she intended to
show him around. He said he didn’t ob-
ject, because he and Marion were already
talking of marriage, and he trusted her
completely. He never thought of Hood as
a rival, and he became friendly with him
when he arrived.

Blake admitted, however, that after
the picnic he believed his girlfriend was
paying too much attention to Hood and
he told her so. The accusation seemed to
make her quite angry, and she broke their
weekend date.

Blake told the court that he still had no
particular ill feeling toward Hood,
however, and he came around to his hotel
room in Tamarama Beach to see him ear-
ly Sunday evening. Hood was out at the
time, but he called Blake on the phone the
next day to tell him he had moved, and
Blake went to visit him at his new hotel.

“I wanted to help him out financially,”
the Australian said. “I knew he was hav-
ing trouble and I had about sixty dollars
on me at the time. But he said he wouldn’t
need any money because he had got a job
and was going to begin working the next
day.”

That was as much as he knew, Blake
testified, and he was thunderstruck when
he learned that Hood had been charged
with the murder of a cab driver. But the
whole episode had had no pérmanent
effect on his relationship with Marion
Sommers, he said, and so they became
engaged in April.

To the courtroom audience at the
trial, the romance between Blake and
Miss Sommers seemed to have little con-
nection with the question of whether
Ryon Hood had robbed and murdered a
taxi driver, but Prosecutor Knight's
" strategy in getting this testimony before
*the jury became evient when the defense
" opened its case.
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. Hood’s attorney, Marvyn Finlay, was
an astute, forceful barrister with a decep-
tively suave manner, and he had a for-
midable record of courtroom victories.
His defense of the young American was
built around a thinly-veiled charge that
another man, who was present in the
courtroom, had murdered Alfred
Stephens. That man, he indicated, was
John Blake, and the defense lawyer's ver-
sion of the triangle relationship among
Blake, Miss Sommers, and Hood differed

sharply from that presented by the -

prosecution witnesses.

The defense attorney said that Hood
and Marion had had a high schoollove af-
fair in America and that when he later
wrote her he was coming to Australia, she
had responded to the idea enthusiastical-
ly at that point.

“She had already been the steady
girlfriend of Blake for some time,” Finlay
said, “but their relationship had reached a
critical stage when Hood arrived here.”

She’d taken the week off so she and
Hood could renew their friendship, the
lawyer continued. Blake had perhaps
viewed the American’s visit casually at
first, but he had soon realized that Marion
was still strongly attracted to Hood.
Suspecting that she was seeing him alone
in his hotel room, he had become violent-
ly jealous.

“Then, on the Sunday after Hood
arrived, there was a triangle scene as the
three of them went on a picnic together,”
Attorney Finlay went on.

He implied that Marion’s behavior
with Hood on the picnic had caused
Blake to make accusations against her.
When he did so, she flew into a rage,
broke their date to go to Brisbane
together, and told Blake she never
wanted to see him again.

Blake, consumed with a jealous love,
wanted to rid himself of his rival, the at-
torney suggested. He went to Hood’s
hotel at Tamarama Beach intending to
have it out with him. But Hood was not
there and Blake, finding his hotel room
door unlocked, entered his room. He
looked among Hood’s belongings for
notes from Marion, or other evidence that
she was being unfaithful to him, Finlay
alleged. Instead ot what he hoped to tind,
he found a .320 automatic, and an idea
was suddenly born in his mind.

The defense attorney suggested that
Blake left the hotel with the gun, hailed a
taxi, directed the driver to Bellevue Hill,
and deliberately robbed and murdered
him. Returning in the taxi, heleft the dead
man’s shoe in the street near Hood’s hotel
and put the gun back in his jacket pocket
to direct suspicion against him.

The next day, after Hood had in-
nocently telephoned Blake to tell him he
had moved, Blake boldly came to see
him, the lawyer said. He offered to loan
Hood money so Hood would not realize
the depth of his hatred and later suspect
that it was he who had actually com-
mitted the murder.

The defense attorney presented
evidence that Ryon Hood came of an
eminently respectable family in the Un-
ited States, and that he was a serious-
minded youth who had never been in any
previous trouble with the law.

“There are many matters which cast
grave doubt on the Crown’s case,” Finlay
told the jury with quiet emphasis. “I
suggest that when you consider all the
evidence you will not be convinced that
my client murdered the taxi driver.”

Although there was actually no direct
evidence atall to connect John Blake with
the murder, he had been seen at the
Tamarama Beach hotel on the night of the
slaying, and he had admitted going to
Hood’s room there while the young Yank
was away. Attorney Finlay was simply
trying to establish in the minds of the
jurors a reasonable doubt as to his client’s
guilt, which would oblige them to acquit
Hood. His arguments had a certain telling
effect, and on the third day of the trial
many persons believed that the young
American would go free.

Ryon Hood himself was a strong
witness in his own defense. It was dif-
ficult for anyone to believe that this hand-
some, clean-cut young man of good
background could have decided sudderi-

_ly to murder a total stranger for a paltry

few dollars.

“Gentlemen, 1 am not guilty of this
crime,” Hood told the jury in a quiet,
earnest voice. “I came to Australia to be
with Miss Sommers. I believed that I lov-
ed her and she loved me. I was not in the
taxi that night. I did not kill the taxi
driver.”

Prosecutor Knight was far from
defeated, however. In his closing address
to the jury, he candidly admitted that the
case against Hood was partly circumstan-
tial, and that no one had seen him in
Bellevue Hill. At the same time, though,
the prosecutor emphasized the strength
of the ballistics evidence, and he dwelt
particularly on the small red stains found
on Hood’s shirt, handkerchief and gloves.

What could the spots be, except
blood? he demanded. And where could
they have come trom if Hood had not
killed Stephens with the gun found in his
jacket?

“The defense says that Blake was a
man in love who suddenly found himself
with a rival,” Prosecutor Knight told the
jury. “It was then suggested that Blake
took Hood’s pistol to commit a murder
and returned it to his room so that Hood
would be blamed and he would be rid of
his rival.

“That,” the prosecutor pronounced
dramatically, “is as fantastic a thing as I
have ever heard of.” *

The trial lasted four days, but when all
the evidence was in and the jury had
listened carefully to the judge’s instruc-
tions, it took the panel only four and a
half hours of deliberation to reach their



verdict. They returned to the courtroom
and announced that they had found Ryon
Hood guilty of murder as charged.

Judge Athol R. Richardson then
pronounced on the young man from
Yakima, Washington, “the only sentencel
am permitted to impose—penal ser-
vitude for life.”

The young Americn paled slightly as
he stood erectly before the bench. He
looked straight ahead, however, and dis-
played no other emotion.

“It is-very unfortunate that this young
man should find himself in this position,”
the judge continued, “but it is still more
unfortunate that an unarmed taxi driver
going about his business should have
been so swiftly taken from this life into
eternity. I trust that this case will be a war-
ning that this kind of thing must be put an
end to.” XX

EDITOR’S NOTE.:

Marion Sommers and John Blake
are not the real names of the persons so
named in the foregoing story. Fic-
kitious names have been used because
there is no reason for public interest in
the identities of these persons.

Sex-Killing of the
Beautiful Coed

{Continued from page 25)
5

Police had been notifed of the find, W.D.
Starnes, D. W. Kirkpatrick, M. D. Jones
and other investigators from the Crimes
Against Persons section sped to the scene,
arriving almost simultaneously with the
medical examiner, Dr. Charles Hughes.

While some officers observed the
body and immediate area, others set
about to secure the area for examination.
Photographs were made and
measurements taken.

The body lay with head to the east, the
right leg stretched out straight while the
left was slightly arched. The thighs were
spread, exposing the victim’s genitals.
Between the thigh and knee on each leg
detectives observed bruises.

The girl’s throat had been deeply cut
from ear to ear, but there appeared to be
only a moderate amount of blood pre-
sent, unless some large accumulation
might be found soaked into the soil under
the body.

On the full left breast were two
wounds, one near the nipple, the other
near the center of the chest. The latter
wound held an accumulation of blood
and shredded flesh and had what
appeared to be light powder marks
around it, probably near-contact bullet
wound.

One of the girl’s arms had been drawn
over the body, the hand resting on her
bare stomach. There was a bullet wound
of the type called “through and through”
by medical personnel, that is to say the

projectile had passed completely through

- the limb. On one side of the arm, the en-

trance wound was obvious from strong
powder wounds around it.

The most appalling injury suffered by
the victim, however, was one that caused
veteran lawmen, who thought they had
seen everything that human cruelty can
devise, to turn their heads sickly away.
Whoever had killed the girl had gouged
out her eyes, collapsing the fragile
eyeballs and dragging them out to lay
over the cheekbones. Though the
medical examiner could not be certain, it
appeared from preliminary examination
that some sharp object had been thrust
into the sockets and used to actually cut
the eyeballs loose from their fragile
holdings of thin skin and flesh. This might
not necessarily be so, though, the doctor
said. The eyes might have been shot out,.
since sudden impact might have had the
effect of throwing them out onto the
cheeks. He would not know until a
thorough auotpsy could be performed.

Neither could Dr. Hughes be sure the
victim had been raped, though there was
every indication of it. The position of the
body, the bruises on thie victim’s thighs,
all would seem to indicate sex as the
motive for the crime. ,

The motive could hardly have been
robbery, anyway, detectives reasoned.
The dead girl wore good gold earrings, a
moderately expensive wristwatch, and a
ring, plus a thin gold bracelet.

As soon as the body had been
photographed by H: J. Adams, of the
City Crime Scene Search Section, it was
carefully prepared for removal to the
autopsy chamber. Those lawmen handl-
ing the body did their jobinsucha way as
to avoid handling the victim’s flesh.
Though it is not generally known, it is
possible to lift good latent fingerprints
from the naked flesh of a corpse. The
body was supported by sheets and tied
firmly down. As soon as it was lifted from
its position, experts at the science of
preserving and analyzing physical
evidence went immediately to work.

Under the victim’s body, these in-
vestigators found a pair of lightly
bloodstained blue jeans, undoubtedly the
victim’s, a white . pullover shirt and a
white bra. Near where the girl’s feet had
been were a pair of sandals. Nowhere at
the body site or in the surrounding area
could they find the panties which such a
neatly-groomed young woman had sure-
ly worn,

Though they were already convinced
that the victim had been slain at the spot
where her body was found, and probably
in the position in which she was found,
there was surprisingly little blood under
the body. Technicians paid special atten-
tion to a blood spot near where the upper
body had been, which they probed in
search of a bullet or bullets. One officer
had already spotted a splinter of metal,
thought to be part of a bullet, which had
lodged between the dead girl’s hair and

shoulder blade. This had been bagged
and tagged as evidence. The ground un-
der the body yielded nothing.

Usually, a metal detector would have
been brought out and a search for the
bullet begun. The area at the end of the
dead-end road was so littered with pop-
tops and other metal paraphernalia,
however, that such a search would have
been all but impossible.

No usable tire tracks could be found,
either, though lawmen searched diligent-
ly for them. It would have been useful if
they had been able to connect the dead
girl’s automobile with the scene, but there
were so many tire tracks and they were all
so faint as to be useless for comparison
purposes.

Meanwhile, a relative of Vickie
McKinney had come forward to mer-
cifully spare her parents the ordeal of
identifying her brutalized body. In a
separate area, the murdered girl’s dis-
traught father verified that articles of
clothing found underneath the body
belonged to his daughter.

Later, when these items of clothing
had been removed to the lab and spread
out on paper for the preservation of
evidence, it was discovered that the vic-
tim’s panties were among them. The
wispy undergarment had been forced
down into one leg of the blue jeans.

In the Charlotte detective division,
Leroy Johnson was again undergoing in-
terrogation by Detective Mike
Holmberg, who had thoroughly
familarized himself with Johnson’s

Jengthy police record. The suspect had

been out of the Huntersville state prison
unit for less than a year at the time of the
crime.

Johnson’s running battle with the law
had begun when he was only 15.
Authorities knew little of his family
background, except that his parents were
apparently irresponsible people who
never could be located for cooperation
with counselors or reformatory officials.
The hard-eyed black’s record seemed
mainly tuned to breaking and entering
and larceny, although in 1965 he had been
charged with the kidnaping and armed
robbery of a Charlotte grocer and his
wife.

The kidnap case was never
prosecuted, apparently for the reason
that the two victims had left the area and
could not be found to testify, but it did
result in thorough psychiatric profiles be-
ing prepared on the accused man at two
different state mental institutions.

Although psychiatrists at Cherry
Hospital and Dorothea Dix Asylum
found Leroy Johnson to be sane and
aware of the differénce between right
and wrong, their reports remarked him as
“hostile and irritable ... virtually il-
literate . . . persistent drug user . . . has
subnormal 1.Q. . . .” and pointed out that
Johnson was very possibly a sexual
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pervert, though it was never specified
what particular perversion doctors were
talking about.

Although the kidnaping and armed
robbery charges in the 1965 case were
dropped others were brought forward
and prosecuted, with the result that, in
1966, Johnson was committed to prison to
serve more than one lengthy sentence. He
remained institutionalized until
November of 1975. At that time, accor-
ding to prison officials, the convict had
been on work release for two-and-a-half
years and appeared to be doing well. He
had formed a relationship with a young
North Carolina woman, who wrote
prison authorities asking for his release so
that they could be married.

The marriage did indeed take place
early in 1976, slightly more than two
months before Johnson’s arrest in the
McKinney case. Detective Holmberg, in
his interrogation of the suspect, touched
upon his adjustment to marriage, and was
told that while Johnson’s sex life had
seemed normal at the outset of his
marriage, over the last few weeks he had
been practically impotent.

Though the suspect talked freely of
his personal affairs, and would discuss
everything from the state of his finances
to his religious beliefs freely, he stuck to
his story that he had only stolen the white
Pontiac, and knew nothing of the fate of
its pretty owner.

Thanks
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Holmberg decided that, since John-
son would discuss religion, he would go at

‘him from that angle. Talking in a conver-

sational style, he drew the suspect out to
declare that he believed in God and_ the
life after death, and that he was con-
vinced men would be judged for their
sins in the hereafter. He agreed with
Holmberg that men should follow the
Ten Commandments, but admitted he
had broken three of them. Which three,
Holmberg wanted to know? Johnson said
he had violated the commandments
which forbid stealing and killing, and the
one which warned against coveting a
neighbor’s wife.

Questioned first on his wife-coveting
offenses, Johnson disclosed that he was
deeply attracted to a“lovely young
woman who lived in the same apartment
building as he did, but the lady in ques-
tion would have nothing to dowith him.

As to going around the religious ad-
monition against theft, Johnson pointed
out that Holmberg could take alook at his
record and see his numerous offenses in
that line.

“And how about ‘Thou shalt not kill'’?”
Holmberg asked quietly.

Johnson replied that he had “hurt peo-
ple” before, but firmly insisted that no
such offenses had been committed on
that particular day. Asked about these
other incidences of having hurt people,
the suspect would not reply.

Leroy Johnson was soon arrested and
charged with the kidnaping and murder
of Vickie McKinney, and lodged in the
Charlotte jail without bond.

Meanwhile, the making of a case
against the jailed man was still going on at
the scene of the crime and in the
laboratory. Autopsy surgeons held the
opinion that Miss McKinney might have
been raped, and the act not completed,
and that the bullet wounds had been the
cause of death. The throat-slitting and
mutilations had probably been per-
formed after the victim was already
dead, which explained the relatively
small amount of blood at the scene.

Technicians were convinced that the
girl had been slain exactly where she was
found, but were still frustrated at not be-
ing able to find the bullets, both of which
had exited the body. On Saturday, April
24th, an event occurred which solved
their problem for them.

On that balmy day, two young house
painters decided to drive out to the dead-
end road crime scene to look around.
They had read newspaper accounts of the
crime which spcified the distance the
body had lain from the turnaround area,
and generally described the site. Step-
ping off the prescribed distance and look-
ing around at the rank growth of
honeysuckle and blackberries, the two
workmen decided they were probably
right at the spot where the girl's body had
lain. One of them took a stick in his hand
and began poking at the soil idly. Even-
tually, he turned around to his partner,

picking up a handful of soil and slowly
sifting it through his fingers. It didn’t all
fall through. Looking down at his callous-
ed palm, the young man saw a chunk of
metal there. It electrified them both.

Quick as a shot, the two were in their
car and headed for a local bait and tackle
shop, where they knew a highway
patrolman usually stopped at about that
time to have a cold soft drink. Sure
enough, the patrol car soon pulled up
behind them near the shop, and the bullet
was turned over to him and thence to
Charlotte police.

Both the guns found in possession of
Leroy Johnson when he was arrested
were found to have been stolen. The .38
magnum pistol found under a jacket on
the front seat of Vickie McKinney’s stolen
car was the piece that had done the work,
and the bullet fortunately found by the
two curious housepainters was proved by

‘ballistics tests to have come from that

weapon,

After lengthy hearings and mental
evaluations and reevaluations, Leroy
Johnson was at length found competent

‘to stand trial and brought to answer for

the alleged crime. Jury selection was
completed late on December 8, 1976,
resulting in a panel of six men and six
women, with two alternates. The jury
was ordered sequestered for the duration
of the trial.

Leroy Johnson, who had sat quietly,

through jury selection, entered a plea of
not guilty by reason of insanity.

The state’s case was a tight one. Leroy
Johnson had been identified by several
eyewitnesses as the man they had seen
force terrified Vickie McKinney from the
7th Street parking lot on April 21, 1976.
These same witnesses had identified the
defendant for Charlotte police on the day
of his arrest. He had been discovered in
possession of the slain girl's car, which
could be proved by mileage and fuel
deductions to have been driven ap-
proximately the 25 miles necessary to
have conveyed the victim to her place of
execution and returned to the spot where
the vehicle and driver were ap-
prehended. Ballistics tests proved that the
weapon in his possession was the one
which had fired the death-dealing bullet.

Defense efforts centered around the
state of mind of the defendant, who never
did make any statement regarding the
murder. Voluminous psychiatric
testimony made up the bulk of the
defense. '

On December 11, 1976, Leroy John-
son was found guilty of the murder of
Vickie McKinney, and was sentenced to
serve life in the prison system of North
Carolina. L X X

EDITOR’S NOTE.:

Nell Trentonis not the real name of
the person so named in the foregoing
story. A fictitious name has been used
because there is no reason for public
interest in the identity of this person.
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4SIaughter of
A Little Girl

(Continued from page 21)

January, 1977. Deputy King County
Prosecuting Attorneys Mike Ruark and
Robin Hunt presented witness after
witness who described the “good
samaritan” who carried Kelly’s body to
the grassy slope behind her home, and
questioned detectives about the im-
possibility that the mysterious black man
existed.

It took a jury in Judge Erle Horswill’s
court only four and a half hours to find
Green guilty. It was an agonizing decision
for the 12 jurors, for they knew a guilty
verdict would mean that a 19-year-old
youth would be sentenced to hang. But
they could not forget the pictures of the
little body of Kelly Ann, Kelly Ann who
had no trial. ..

On January 19, 1977, Judge Horswill
imposed the death sentence on Green and
set the date of hanging for April 4th.
Defense Attorney Tony Savage im-
mediately filed an appeal to the State
Supreme Court, citing recent decisions
by the U.S. Supreme Court that have

nullified similar death sentences in other
states. Yet, only three days earlier, Gary
Gilmore had died, executed for murder in
Draper, Utah. Perhaps the pendulum was
swinging back. ..

If Green’s appeal should fail, he will
be hanged on the gallows in the north end
of Wing 6, a three-story building in the
state penitentiary in Walla Walla. Built in
1932, the gallows have never been torn
down. Warden Bob Rhay commented
succiently that “they just have to be clean-
ed up.”

In a case like this, one has to wonder
“Why?” and ponder on how things might
have been different—if early signs were
taken seriously...and one must feel the
pain felt not only by Kelly Emminger’s
parents, but by the parents of Michael
Green, a boy who seemingly could have

had the world but chose, instead, tokill.
[ X X2

EDITOR’S NOTE:

Molly Sheldon, Lisa, Janis, Lance
Markham, Jane Janis and Billy Koch are
not the real names of the persons so
named in the foregoing story. Fictitious
names have been used because there is
no reason for public interest in the iden-

tities of these persons.

Missing Car Key

(Continued from page 49)

the people for whom she had been
babysitting, had driven away from home
in his father’s car early in the moming, ap-
parently taking a .22 caliber revolver with
him. Later, the car was found abandoned
near Cadillac. There was no sign of the
young man or the revolver he presumably
had been carrying.

Sheriff Jensen considered the

possibility that there was a link between
the slaying of Miss Ferro and the possible
kidnaping of Penny Smogoleski, and for a
while the missing youth wasregarded as a
suspect, but he remained among the miss-
ing and later developments in the in-
vestigation soon eliminated him as one
who might have had anything to do with
the Smogoleski case.

Meanwhile, the search for Penny con-
tinued. Still nothing of significance was
uncovered in the investigation. On
January 14th, a State Police helicopter
from Grand Haven flew over the area
where Penny’s mobile home was located
on Rasmussen Road. The pilot and his
observer could see nothing in the snow-
covered countryside resembling a human
being. After circling the surrounding area
for some time and seeing nothing, it
returned to its base.

After six weeks of intensive investiga-
tion without turning up any solid
evidence, the lawmen began to doubt
they would ever succeed in solving the
mystery of Penny’s disappearance. A
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number of detectives were taken off the
case to devote their time to more pressing
criminal investigations. It began to
appear as if the search for the young
cocktail waitress would end up in the files
as another of those unsolved cases record-
ed in the annals of the Mason County
criminal records.

But suddenly the situation changed

dramatically. On February 27th, an
employe of the Mason County Road
Commission was driving his truck along
Johnson Road when he caught a glimpse

- of what appeared to be a human leg stick-

ing out of the water in the ditch alongside
the road.

He kept on driving, telling himself it
must have been something else, but the
thought would not leave him. Finally, he
turned the truck around and drove back
to the spot where he had seen the object.
His first impression had beenright. It was
a nicely formed female leg. The body lay
half submerged in the water filled ditch.
He stepped closer to examine the corpse
and noted that it had already reached an
advanced stage of decomposition. The
dead woman was barefoot and dressed in
a housecoat.

The sight unnerved him. He wanted
to throw up. Regaining his composure, he
drove to the nearest house and called the
sheriff’s office. “I think I've found the girl
you've been looking for, the one that’s
been missing from her place on
Rasmussen Road. She’s lying in a ditch on
Johnson Road.”

Within a short time the sheriff, detec-
tives and a number of deputies arrived at
the scene. They roped off the area where

the corpse was discovered. Crime
technicians from the Michigan State
Crime Laboratory at Holland were called
to the scene to make a preliminary ex-
amination. A state police detective from
Cadillac was assigned to the case to assist
Sheriff Jensen in the investigation.

After the Mason County Medical Ex-
aminer had checked out the corpse and
noted that in its present stage of decom-
position it would be impossible to deter-
mine the cause of death or the time it had
occurred, the boys from the crimelab ex-
amined the body and the immediate
vicinity where she lay, for possible
evidence or clues that would aid the law
enforcement officers in their search for
the slayer of the young woman.

When the crime lab technicians had
completed their work, the body was
removed to the Sparrow Hospital at Lan-
sing. An autopsy would be performed by
a state police pathologist.

In releasing his report on the autopsy,
the pathologist, Dr. Lawrence Simson,
revealed that fingerprints taken at the
time of the post mortem confirmed the
impression held by the authorities that the
corpse was that of Penny Smogoleski. Her
death had been caused by exposure to the
weather. The stab wounds inflicted by
what appeared to be a small bladed knife
or similar weapon had not penetrated
into any vital organs. There were eight of
these wounds located in various parts of
her body. The report noted that in death
due to exposure to the cold, the body
temperature is lowered to such a degree
the heart is unable to function. Unless the
victim had some sort of shelter, or her
clothing was dry, she probably didn’tlive
more than an hour after being exposed to
the inclement weather.

Continuing, the report went on to say
that chemical analysis of the body tissues
and blood samples taken by the
laboratory technicians from the State
Crime Laboratory showed no traces of
drugs and only a small percentage of
alcohol. This usually accumulates within
the body after death. Because of the ad-
vanced stage of decomposition of the
corpse, it was impossible to determine if
she had been sexually assaulted.

Sheriff Jensen began an intensive
search for the slayer of the young cocktail
waitress. He still had no solid clues or any
worthwhile information. Discussing the
matter with Sprenger, they decided to in-
terview again the victim’s close friends
and the people she associated with.
Known criminals in Mason County would
also be brought in and interrogated.
Every available man on the force was
assigned to the case with the understan-
ding they would work around the clock if
necessary.

Several days were consumed in inter-
views conducted at the sheriff's head-
quarters. A number of suspects were ask-
ed to take polygraph tests at the Rockford



State Police Post. All of them agreed and
underwent the tests which turned out to
be negative.

“I can’t help but think,” observed a
detective, “that whoever abducted and
murdered Penny Smogoleski was well
acquainted with her. There was no in-
dication of a forced entry into the
building, and according to her room-
mate, they always kept the doors locked
securely. To my way of thinking, I'd say
she knew him well enough to let him in
without any hesitation.”

“We've checked out every one of her
close friends and their alibis all stand up,”
commented another detective. “As far as
I have been able to determine, the only
two boy friends either of the two girls
would let in their place would be Chester
Rice and Joseph Mathews.

“I'm satisfied that Rice is in the clear,
but Mathews—we only have his word
that he was home and in bed at the time of
Penny’s disappearance,” suggested a law-
man. “He could have left for Penny’s
place after Rice had driven him home.
Come to think of it, most of the other
suspects we interviewed took polygraph
tests. Why was Mathews overlooked? I
suggest we ask him to go on the
polygraph, too.”

Asked by detectives if he would be
willing to submit to a lie detector test,
Mathews, without any show of hesitation,
agreed. Arrangements were made to con-
duct the tests in aroom at the Holiday Inn
on Saturday, March 13th. Lynn Mercy, a
polygraph operator from Dearborn, ac-
ting as a special agent for the sheriff’s
department, read Mathews his con-
stitutional rights before beginning the
test. The session lasted from 11:15 a.m. to
10:00 p.m.

At the time the tests were being con-
ducted, Undersheriff Sprenger was pre-
sent at the Motor Lodge, but not in the
same room where Mathews was undergo-
ing the polygraph examination. When the
suspect emerged from the room, he
appeared to be in a highly emotional
state. Seeing Sprenger, Mathews asked if

~he could talk to him personally. He

suggested that they meet at Penny’s
mobile home on the following day.
Sprenger agreed.

When the undersheriff arrived,
Mathews was already there. He was sit-
ting on the kitchen counter, crying. Then
he started to talk, but before he could
proceed, Sprenger read him his rights,

after which Mathews began telling him
the events that led up to Penny’s leaving
her place during the early hours of
January 11th. After he had completed
his account of the young girl's dis-
appearance, Sprenger asked if he would
be willing to repeat his statements at
sheriff’s headquarters. Mathews greed to
the arrangement without question.

In the sheriff’s office, he was again
read his constitutional rights, before
witnesses. He stated that he was dictating
his statements voluntarily and under no
coercion by the authorities.

In his statement he said that after Rice
had driven him home, instead of going to
bed he went over to see Penny because he
wanted to protect her from certain peo-
ple in her life. She laughed at his concern
and in the argument that followed, she
threw an aluminum cup at him. He
became angry. At the time, he was clean-
ing his fingernails in the kitchen with a
pen knife. A struggle ensued and he
stabbed her several times before he lost
the knife. Penny got up and ran out of the
kitchen, slamming the door in his face.

He followed her. She fell down in
back of the house, falling against a fence.
Catching up to her, he said he was sorry
for what happened She managed to get
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up and started to run. He tried to follow
her, but lost sight of her and went back to
her car to try to find her. He drove east on
Rasmussen Road and turned south on
Meyers Drive. The car got stuck in the
snow on Johnson Road. He got the car
back on the road and saw her about 50
yards away. He jumped out of the car,
caught up with her. She kept on struggl-
ing, but somehow he managed to get her
into the car. While he was driving, she
managed to jump out and fled into the

woods. He looked around, but couldn’t
find her. Hereturned to the mobile home.
It was so cold he dropped the keys to her
car in the snow before going into the
house. He noticed his pen knife lying on

the living room floor. He picked it up and
returned home.

Late that afternoon he met Wanda
and her girl friend at Hacket’s Service
Station. They told him about Penny’s dis-
appearance and that they had no idea
what had become of her. Later, Wanda
called him and asked him te stav with her
and Viv as they both were frightened and
upsetabout what had happened to their
roommate. He went to their place and
remained with them. After Wanda and
Viv left for the Lakeside Club to work the
late shift, he went out to shovel the snow
from the front entrance where he found
the car keys he had dropped after turning
to Penny’s place when she had escaped

from him. He returned the keys to the car.
Before leaving to pick up the two
girls he unlocked the rear door to make
it appear to the returning girls that an
intruder had entered the place during
their absence from home while at the club
They arrived home about 3:30, and Wan-
da noticed that the back door was unlock-
ed. Both girls became hysterical with
fright. He returned home before the
sheriff’s deputies arrived to begin their in-
vestigation into Penny’s mysterious dis-
appearance. Arraigned in District
Court on March 17th, Mathews was
charged on an open murder count. A
preliminary hearing was scheduled for
April 5th. When the hearing was conven-

“Sign Language Dictionary” Guarantees
Due Process for Accused Deaf Persons

NEW dictionary—

possibly the most un-

usual in the United
States—has been developed with
funding from the Law Enforcement
Assistance Administration.

It is the Ameslan dictionary for
legal interpreting for the deaf.
“Ameslan” stands for American
sign language.

in its final version, the dic-
tionary will contain 650 common
sign-language signs for legal
terms.

“t is one step closer to
guaranteeing due process for deaf
persons charged with crimes,”
said Professor B.J. George, Direc-
tor of the Center for Administra-
tion of Justice at Wayne State Un-
iversity in Detroit.

“These are essentially
shorthand signs that will convey
conceptual ideas and phrases.”

Since 1974 Professor George
has been project director for a
program to train certified legal in-
terpreters for deaf persons coming
in contact with the police or courts.

The project is financed by
$165,000 in LEAA discretionary
funds.

To date, some 80 certified legal
interpreters have graduated.
Another 40 will matriculate soon.

In addition, two video tapes witl
be produced. One will be aimed at
iaw enforcement officers; the other
at the judiciary.

Both films will be designed to
tell the viewers—police, judges,
prosecutors and defense

lawyers—of problems indigenous.

to the deaf.
~Richard W. Velde, LEAA Ad-
ministrator, pointed out that there

are an estimated 500,000 deaf per-
sons in the nation with possibly
another million who are nearly
deaf.

“This project was funded
because due process of law is
guaranteed all persons—not just
those with the gift of hearing and
speech,” Mr. Velde said.

Professor George said there is
a “desperate” need for qualified
legal interpreters.

“We have reason to believe that
a higher percentage of deaf per-
sons become involved with the
judicial system than from a pop-
ulation sampling of people with
normal hearing,” Professor
George said.

“The deaf person often
becomes a more vulnerable victim
because he cannot hear.”

The project director cited an
example of the probiems in which
a deaf person can become in-
volved and which could hopefuily
be resolved by qualified inter-
preters.

“A deaf person will be stopped
for a minor traffic infraction,”
Professor George said. “He
reaches for his wallet and a card
saying he cannot hear.

“The gesture is misinterpreted
as going for a weapon. The police
officer drags him out of the car.
The driver is making high-pitched
or grunting noises common to deaf
persons.

“The cop thinks the man’s
speech is slurred and hauls him to
the slammer as a drunk.
Somewhere along the line the
police officer reads him the Miran-
da warning—advice of his rights—
unaware the person he is reading

to cannot hear him.”

Professor George said the films
will give law enforcement officers a
better facility in working with the
deaf. In addition, the newly trained
legal interpreters will be available
in emergency situations such as
the driver falsely arrested for being
drunk.

The Wayne State law instructor
said before a person can even
qualify for the three-week legal in-
terpreting course, he or she must
hold a “Comprehensive Skills Cer-
tificate.”

This certificate is issued aftera
rigid exam by any one of the
chapters of the Registry of Inter-
preters for the Deaf (RID). The
headquarters for RID is located on
the campus of Gallaudet College
in Washington, D.C.

Upon successfully completing
the legal interpreting course the
graduate receives a Legal
Specialist Certificate.

Some 40 persons, in two
seminars, were certified at Wayne
State in 1975. Another 20 took the
course at Gallaudet and 20 com-
pleted the cirriculum at California
State University at Northridge.

A class has been set at the Un-
iversity of North Florida in
Jacksonville and Wayne State will
hold another seminar.

“It is our hope that local fun-
ding will continue these courses
and keep a ready pool of certified
interpreters,” Professor George
said.

“Ultimately, our aim is that al!
courts—both state and federal—
will recognize these graduates as
the only persons properly certified
to interpret for the deaf.” (XX




ed at the appointed time, Mason County
Prosecuting Attorney Jon S. Shepherd
called several witnesses to the stand to
witness for the prosecution, among them
Dr. Lawrence Simson who performed
the autopsy. He testified that there were

eight stab wounds on her body and that.

death was due to exposure to the weather.

When Undersheriff Walter Sprenger
took the stand. he testified as to the events
occurring during the lengthy investiga-
tion, stating that he had been present at
the mobile home where the victim had
lived at the time Joseph Mathews had
confessed to attacking Miss Smogoleski
with a pen knife and her escape from the
home dressed only in her housecoat.

Wanda Howard, when she was called
to the witness stand, testified that when
she and her girl friend returned from the
Lakeside Club where the witness was
working at the time, she found the
lights on in the living room, but
could, even after calling find no sign
of Penny. She said that Penny’s clothes
were in her closet and on her bed, with
the exception of her housecoat. She said
she had met Joseph Mathews at a service
station later that afternoon, and he seem-
ed nervous when told of her roommate’s
disappearance.

When the prosecution presented a

motion asking Mathews™ eonfession be
entered in as evidence, Judge Frederick
Mather said he would take the matter un-
der advisement and recessed court until
April 14th. He also stated that he was not
completely satisfied that the defendant
had been properly informed of his rights
under the law. Should he find Mathews’
rights were not properly read to him, then
Mathews’ voluntary statement or confes-
sion would be denied as evidence in

court.
When court reconvened, Friday,

April 30th, with Judge Mather presiding,
he ruled that the defendant had been
properly informed of his constitutional
rights, and that his statement made to the
law enforcement authorities would be
considered as evidence in court. The
judge then stated that, “the Court finds
the offense of murder was committed
and there is probably cause to show the
defendanit committed the offense.”
Mathews was then bound over to Circuit
Court and was held in the Mason
County jail without bond until his circuit
court arraignment scheduled for May
11th.

Appearing in Circuit Court
on the appointed day before Judge
Charles Wickens, Mathews stood mute to
an open charge of murder in the death of

Penny Smogoleski. A plea of innocent
was entered for him by the court; he
was remanded to the county jail until a
jury trial was scheduled in his behalf.

On Tuesday, November 23, 1976,
Joseph Barry Mathews, 26, pleaded guil-
ty to a charge of manslaughter. The
reduced plea came after a plea bargain-
ing session between the prosecuting at- -
torney and the defense counsel. Judge
Wickens tentatively accepted the plea
pending a review of the transcript of the
preliminary hearing afterwhich he in-
structed Probation Officer Warren
Enyart to begin a pre-sentence investiga-
tion. By pleading guilty to the
manslaughter charge, Mathews could
receive up to 15 years in prison.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the
defendant was lodged in the Mason
County Jail while awaiting sentence for
the senseless murder of pretty Penny
Smogoleski. ‘o0

EDITOR’S NOTE:

Vivian Andrews, Wanda Howard
and Chester Rice are not the real
names of the persons so named in the
foregoing story. Fictitious names have
been used because there is no reason
for public interest in the identities of
these persons.

Bizarre Burial
For Millionaire

(Continued from page 14)

As they talked Ayers and Moller lean-
ed against the formica top of a heavy
wooden serving bar in Tubach’s recrea-
tion room. The room was one area of the
house not daubed with blood. They
thought that curious. The room appeared
that it had been freshly cleaned. Nothing
seemed out of place intheroom. The bar,
too, was hardly noticed except for its
heavy splendor. It remained then, for a
time, an unlikely tomb for a murder vic-
tim.

Two more unexplained incidents oc-
curred the next day, December 17th, one
week before Tubach’s body was found in
the bar. During the morning, an uniden-
tified man telephoned Tubach’s Spring
Valley travel agency and left a message:
“Tell Ed the earrings he ordered are
ready.” He said he was telephoning from
Tecate, Mexico, just across the inter-
national border.

Later that aftermoon, the Tiel In-
surance and Trust Company of Santa Ana
received a telegram signed by Ed Tubach
and sent from Mexico City. The message
requested that $30,000 from Tubach’s ac-
count be forwarded to the post office box
in Mexico City. But, loan company of-
ficials denied the request, explaining in a
return telegram that the money was in a
note not yet matured and not
redeemable. Ed Tubach would have

known his note was several years away
from maturing and therefore convertible
into cash. Officials at the bank became
suspicious and called police.

San Diego Police asked the FBI to
contact Mexico City and help them trace
the source of the telegrams.

Would Ed Tubach be on the other
end?

Ayers and Moller began to rehash
details of an incident that occurred on
November 5th, when Tubachreported to
police that he had been attacked at his
home after he returned from work.

What Tubach didn’t tell police was
that he believed the assailant had been
sent by his estranged wife, Isabel
However, Tubach did tell the story in
court as part of his divorce proceedings.

The two detectivés came across the
story in a statement Tubach had filed
with the court. Reading further, they
found another statement even more im-
portant. It was a sworn affadivit by
Tubach in which he said that, several
days after the robbery, he noticed three
persons watching him leave his San Diego
attorney’s downtown office.

Two were females and one was male,
Tubach stated, and continued: “I
recognized the two females as sisters of
my estranged wife. With them was a
young male of Mexican or Spanish des-
cent,” he said. “I recognized him as the
person who attacked me at my home,
November 5th.”

Ayers and Moller wondered why, if
Tubach spotted his assailant on a down-
town street, he didn’t notify the police,

particularly if he was convinced the man
with the knife had been sent by his wife.

Who was this estranged wife,
anyway?

The answers, although somewhat
murky, were found by the two detectives
in the thick divorce file.

Court records show the couple met in
Panama City in December, 1972, while
Tubach, even then, was awaiting word on
the final divorce decree from his fifth -
wife.

Isabel ZerdaBeltran had dark flashing
eyes and a zest for play. Her father, she
told Tubach, was a once prominent at-
torney from Bogota, Columbia. She,
herself, had been a successful fashion
model, and, although beginning to round
out a bit in the hips at age 32, still was
pretty, and apparently never married.

One month later, a few days after
Tubach received word that the divorce
from his fifth wife was official, he and
Isabel were married in scenic Cuer-
navaca, Mexico.

They returned one month later to
Point Loma and the Tubach home in San
Diego and Ed Tubach informed his
newest bride of his fondest desire, to
“retire” from the travel agency business,
live off his inheritance, business and real
estate holdings and take things easy on
Spain’s famed Costa del Sol.

Isabel was thrilled. She had visited
Spain and socialized with European
movers and shakers. She had tasted the
good life and wanted to share it with her
new husband and with some others. She
asked Tubach to allow her teenage
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sisters, Gloria and Patricia, to visit them in
Spain.

Tubach agreed but was not
enthusiastic. It was hardly his idea of an
extended honeymoon with two teenage
girls in the same house. The couple mov-
ed to Malaga, Spain and Tubach purchas-
ed a home not far from the beach. Gloria
and Patricia came to visit and stayed. Six
months later, after supporting the two
younger sisters for six months, Tubach
sent them packing back to Bogota.

But, both returned within several
weeks. Tubach was vexed at what, by
now, was considered an intrusion. He
ordered the girls to leave his house. Isabel
protested, but Tubach stood firm.

On August 7, 1973, Isabel Tubach left
the home in Malaga with the two girls.
But, before her exit, she confessed to her
astonished husband that their marriage
was not her first. And, she confessed
something more. The girls were not her
sisters. They were her daughters.

The next time Ed Tubach saw his two
stepdaughters was shortly after he was
beaten and threatened with a knife on the
porch of his home in San Diego. Even
when he told a court he saw the girls in
San Diego, Tubach did not refer to them
as his stepdaughters. He continued to
identify them as Isabel’s sisters.

After they left, Isabel Tubach and her
daughters, accompanied by a boyfriend
the girls had picked up inMalaga, a Swiss
named Federico Frank, far more ad-
vanced than his 19 years, fluent in French,
German, Spanish and English, moved
first to Madrid, then made forays to jet-
set spots such as Marbella and the
Mediterranean island of Ibiza off the
Spanish coast.

They also ran up thousands of dollar-
sin bills, all charged to Ed Tubach.

And, they did something else which,
Tubach claimed in his divorce
declarations, proved to be the final
flashpoint in the downfall of the
marriage.

Isabel systematically looted his
numbered Swiss bank account for more
than 60,000 francs, Tubach claimed.
Beginning in January, 1974, Isabel, ac-
companied by Frank, who acted as her
* interpreter, traveled to the Banque Privee
in Zurich and persuaded officials there to
transfer funds from her husband’s
numbered account. The funds were to be
deposited in Isabel’s dtcount at Banco
Atlantico, at Torremolinos, Spain. Her
two daughters would be entering a

private school, she told bank officials. So, -

she had to have the funds. R

She and Frank allegedly provided of-
ficials with a statement signed by
Tubach, authorizing the withdrawal.
Edward Tubach later told a San Diego
court that the note was forged.

But, Isabel would claim that $200,000
deposited in Tubach’s name in the Zurich
bank actually came from her father, and
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that it was Ed Tubach’s name in the
Zurich bank actually came from her
father, and that it was Ed Tubach who
had intended toloot the account, not she.

Isabel's bills continued to plague
Tubach throughout 1974. Creditors
demanded payment. He attempted
several times to locate her. But, one week,
it seemed, she was shopping in Madrid,
the next she would be staying in plush
hotels along the Spanish seacoast.

Searching alone proved too difficult.
Tubach hired a private investigator who
proved unsuccessful, but returned to in-
form Tubach that not only was his wife
missing, so was at least $40,000 from his
numbered Swiss bank account.

Tubach became desperate. He was
being harassed by creditors and more
bills arrived almost daily in his mailbox.
Finally, he visited the U.S. consul in
Madrid and sought advice. There was
only one thing to do, he was told: sell the
house in Malaga and returned to the Un-
ited States.

So he did, moving back to San Diego
in late 1974, humiliated, frustrated, bur-
ning with anger. Immediately, he filed
for divorce and requested the court order
no alimony or child support from him. He
also returned to work in his travel agency.

Isabel was not heard from until she
showed up last summer in San Diego.
With her was a two-and-a-half-year-old
child. She claimed the child was her son
and the son of Ed Tubach and she wanted
money.

Isabel Tubach told her side of the
story in court, filed suit against her es-
tranged husband and was granted a mo-
tion to set aside the divorce until she prov-
ed Tubach was indeed the child’s father.

Detectives Ayers and Moller read
Isabel Tubach’s version. The former
model who once claimed to Tubach that
her father was wealthy, told the judge she
was broke. She also said Tubach had
deserted her in Spain when she told him
of the pending birth of their child.

“I went to Madrid to have the child,”
she said in a written statement to the
court. “He sent me no money and when [
returned, the house had been sold. He
was gone. There was no forwarding ad-
dress. He deserted me.”

Isabel did not mention in her court
statements that she had been on expen-
sive shopping sprees and stayed in posh
hotels, as her husband alleged.

On the other hand, though, Ed
Tubach failed to mention that his wife
was pregnant when she left him, in
August of 1973.

But Isabel countered by producing an
official birth certificate showing that a
son, David, was born to Isabel Tubach on
November 22, 1973, in Madrid—only a
little more than two months after she left
her husband.

Surely, Ed Tubach knew she was
pregnant. Maybe that is why he either
kicked her out or left her. The fact is,
Tubach was incapable of having

children. He had undergone a successful
vasectomy operation. Several physicians
reported to the court in San Diego that
Tubach had undergone the operation and
that it was successful and irreversible.

So, he had no intention of paying
Isabel one dime for a child that wasn’t his
own. Nor would he pay alimony to the
woman whom he alleged to have looted
his bank accounts.

But Isabel said she would prove the
child, David, was Tubach’s son. She
would furnish the court with tests of
blood samples and other evidence. She
just needed more time to gather the infor-
mation.

Should she be granted the time, she
would also furnish the court with proof
that her father had given Tubach $200,-
000 to smuggle out of Bogota; that was the
money deposited in the Zurich bank and
it belonged to her family, she insisted.

Furthermore, she told the judge, her
husband had told her that he had more
than $250,000 in savings accounts in
Switzerland, france, Spain and Mexico.
His real estate holdings were worth about
$750,000, she told the judge. She was en-
titled to some of that money, she believ-
ed.

Charges, countercharges, desertion,
divorce, a mysterious child and lots of
money.

It was Christmas Eve. By noon, most
people began slipping away from their
jobs—hitting one last office party or mak-
ing a final run for a remembered gift.
Even in San Diego, where sunshine and
swaying palms encourage golf rather
than caroling, Christmas magic still
exists—that kind of magic that diverts the
attention from even the most earnest.

But Detectives Ayers and Moller
decided to revisit Tubach’s Point Loma
home before taking a few days off from
the case. They pulled the unmarked
sedan to the curb behind a station wagon
loaded with presents. It belonged to the
neighbors next door. The detectives tried
to be inconspicuous as they entered the
Tubach home. But a heavy stench sent
them reeling. It was the smell of a decom-
posing body. Both had smelled it before,
usually in sleazy downtown hotel rooms
where they were called to identify some
expired wino.

Gasping, the detectives followed the
stench to Tubach’s recreation room and
to the bar. Suddenly, the seven-foot long
structure took on a new identity for
Detectives Ayers and Moller. It became a
coffin.

They pried off the formica top. Inside
was the body of Ed Tubach, clad only ina
shirt shredded by multiple stabbings. Lab
men were called, as was the coroner who
examined the body and determined that
Tubach had been dead for at least 10
days, maybe 13 or 14 days.

In any case, the travel agent had been
slain before the telegram was sent from



Mexico City requesting his mail or the
telephone calls were made saying he was
alive in Mexico.

Were they strange coincidences, un-
connected to his death? Before the cor-
oner’s report that Ed Tubach had died
between December 10th and 13th, they
were strange coincidences.

Now, they became ruses, efforts by
the slayers to buy time, to throw in-
vestigators off their trail. ;

Detectives Ayers and Moller looked at
each other. “Isabel Tubach,” they said in
unison. “We've got to find her,” added
Moller.

They contacted her attorney, who
told the detectives Isabel was last seen
leaving the country on a bus bound for
Mexico. She left San Diego on October
29th.

“Look, the judge told her to get the
evidence,” the attorney explained. “So
she left for Bogota, I guess. She was broke
and had been evicted from her apart-
ment. She was desperate.”

By now, the detectives
degperate, too.

A police attorney informed Ayers and
Moller that if Isabel Tubach had crossed
the border, no matter whether she was in
Mexico or Colombia, they would find it
nearly impossible to retrieve her.

“You can't get extradition papers on
someone just because you want to ques-
tion them. You need to charge them with
a specific crime,” he said, adding, “even
then, if she’s got money, she can keep the
Mexican or Columbian police away from
her door by dispensing a little here and
there.”

Ayers and Moller knew the Latin
custom of “mordida”—pass some money
so you can pass go without going to jail.
No, they couldn’t charge her yet, not even
with stealing Tubach’s Buick or his credit
cards. Forget murder. Still, the following
Monday, they requested more help from
the FBI. They had to find out who sent
those phony communiques from Mexico.
And, was Isabel back in Bogota?

The last question was answered
quickly by Colombian authorities. She
had not passed through customs. Her
father had passed away two years earlier.
Her family was no longer in Bogota. She
had not returned.

A week went by. No word from Mex-
ico. Ayers and Moller bided their time by
talking to more witnesses, people who
knew Tubach. They concluded that he
had some money, maybe as much as a
million dollars in banks throughout the
world. But, he was being financially
drained by payments to previous wives,
even though he had apparently made
peace with them all—all except Isabel.

They also determined that Ed Tubach
was a clean liver. No drugs or gun run-
ning, even though it would have been
easy for a habitual traveler like him.

More and more, Ayers and Mollers
became convinced Isabel was their
suspect—one whom they just might

were

never actually be able to see again.

Then, a few days after New Year's,
the phone rang at Moller’s desk. It was an
FBI agent. He had been in contact with
Mexico City and authorities there
reported that several persons, including
Isabel Tubach, had been doing some
shopping. They paid with credit cards
belonging to a San Diego man named
Donald Edward Tubach.

Moller told Ayers. The two detectives
were elated at the twist the case had taken
in their favor. But, it wasn’t enough to file

- charges in court. They had located Isabel,

that’s all.

Or so they thought. They hadn’t yet

realized the fruits of a growing trend, one -

of more cooperation between police in
Mexico and the U.S. Drug crackdowns on
both sides of the border brought it on;
Mexico and U.S. authorities needed each
other.

So police in San Diego wanted Isabel
Tubach. The Mexicans said they would
see what they could do.

Detective Ayers was elected to go to
Mexico City. He is blond, well-trimmed,
with a square jaw. Ayers would appear
more at home drinking beer in a Munich
gasthouse than pouring down Margaritas
in Mexico City. But, his wife is South
American. To get along at home, Ayers
learned to speak Spanish.

He boarded a commercial jet on
January 13th. Because of international
law, Ayers left his service revolver in San
Diego. He also had no official police
authority. The only thing he had when he
landed in Mexico City was the hope that
police would cooperate. So he found
Isabel Tubach, what next?

At police headquarters the following
day, Ayers was shown copies of bills from
fashionable Mexico City stores. Most of
the items purchased were clothing, ex-
pensive garments for men and women.

They were purchased with Tubach’s
credit cards. The women’s clothing,
Ayers figured out. But, who were the
men?

The next day, he found out. Tubach’s
Buick had been spotted, pulling into a
private garage in a crowded middle class
section of the giant city. The garage, in-
vestigators told Ayers, was rented by a
man named Federico Pietro-Carl Frank.
The detective asked the Mexican in-
vestigators to repeat the name. Also, did
they knew who this Frank was? But Ayers
didn’t need an answer. He already knew
it.

Frank had to be the young manGloria
Zerda and her sister Patricia had picked
up in Malaga, the same young man who
helped Isabel negotiate with Swiss
bankers. Was he the same person who at-
tacked Tubach at his home on November
5th?
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Within 24 hours, Mexican police burst

into an apartment near the private garage
and arrested Frank, who protested in
German that he could not speak Spanish
and that he was innocent of any wrongdo-
ing. .
Several hours later, at police head-
quarters, Frank was shown the notorious
electric cattle prods Mexican police
sometimes use to elicit confessions from
suspects. Federico Frank suddenly spoke
Spanish, Mexican detectives said.

When the subsequent interrogation
ended, officials informed Ayers that
Frank had made a statement: He killed
Edward Tubach and stuffed his body
into the bar. Moreover, Ayers was told,
Frank told Mexican officials that “the
three girls knew about this.” The three
girls were Isabel Tubach and her
daughters Gloria and Patricia.

Within hours, M exican police arrested
the women when they returned to the
apartment from another shopping trip.
Ed Tubach’s credit cards were pulled
from Isabel’s purse, police said.

Ayers wired San Diego and told his
partner of the events. He also sought ad-
vice on what to do next. The consensus
was that the next move would be made
by the Mexicans. It was still their
ballgame.

Some oldfashioned hard bargaining
ensued. Ayers reminded Mexican police
how much help San Diego law enforce-
ment had done to bust mnarcotics
smugglers. The Mexicans said that was
fine, but suggested that more could be
done to crack down on gun runners from

the U.S. who bring pistols and rifles to-

terrorists and Mexican peasants. Ayers, a
one-man diplomatic corps, said U.S.
police would work on the problem.

Finally, on January 18th, Mexican of-
ficials decided to deport the four suspects
as undesirable alients because of their
alleged use of stolen credit cards and
failure to pay bills.

Again, Detective Ayers wired San
Diego and relayed the message that the
Mexicans had decided to oust the
suspects. Detective Moller waited for the
next line. It came over the teletype—
because the United States apparently was
the last previous nation in which the
suspects had resided before entering
Mexico, the wire said, they would be
deported to the U.S. They would be put
on a plane the next day for San Diego.

Within minutes, Moller and Officer
Barbara Muse packed some things and
caught a jet for Mexico City. They would
have to help Ayers. Once the suspects
were on the plane, they were under no
authority until they touched down in San
Diego and were arrested. Until then, it
would be the officers’ mission to sit
on the plane with the suspects and act as
though the players—suspects and detec-
tives alike—were no more than average
tourists. )

Officers Moller, Muse and Ayers held
a short reunion in Mexico City and board-
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ed Western Airlines Flight 692 behind
Isabel Tubach, Federico Frank and the
two daughters, and headed for San
Diego’s Lindbergh Field.

The suspects were thelast ones off the
plane after it landed at 5:57 p.m. More
San Diego police officers were waiting
and they escorted the fugitives through
customs. Detective Ray Dobbs trailed
right behind, carrying a three-year-old
child, David, the son of Isabel Tubach.
He was taken to a county juvenile care
center temporarily.

The others were booked on murder
charges and bail were set at $500,000 each
for Isabel Tubach and Frank and $250,-
000 apiece for the two daughters.

Later, Frank allegedly made a more
elaborate confession. Init, he said he was
the person who attacked Ed Tubach on
November 5th, demanded money and
told him it was for Tubach’s wife and
child. He said he was convinced by
Tubach that the travel agent had no
money. So, Frank traveled to Mexico and
reported the events to Isabel and the girls.

Isabel became furious, Frank told
police. She ordered him to return to San
Diego to accost Tubach.

The two daughters later corroborated
Frank’s story, it was reported. Only
Isabel refused to respond to questions.
She said she knew nothing of Frank’s ac-
tivities in San Diego.

&

But Frank told police that at Isabel’s
order, he returned to San Diego and the
second time, refused to take “no” for an
answer. He killed Ed Tubach.

Later, during the night, he went back
to hide the signs of foul play, he said. It
had been dark when he went back to
clean the blood from the walls and
carpet. He groped in the dark and found a
box of what he believed was dry soap.
Without turning on any lights, Frank
sprinkled the powder on the carpets
where he believed the blood from Ed
Tubach had been spilled. Then, he
scrubbed with warm water.

Investigators at the scene discovered
that what Frank believed was soap really
turned out to be plaster of paris. In fact a
plaster film had been laid throughout the
house. And, there were plenty of foot-
prints formed in the film. Casts had been
taken of the footprints. As if to stamp an
official seal on Frank’s confession, one of
the detectives brought out a cast of the
footprint.

“One more thing, Cinderella,” one of
the officers said. “Try this on.” .

Frank, Isabel Tubach and her two
daughters, Patricia and Gloria Zerda, are
due for trial in Superior Court in San
Diego in the spring. They are presumed
innocent until or unless they are found
otherwise by a jury of their peers, after
due process. XX

Kidnaper Under the Gun
(Continued from page 29)

tle under the blindfold and recognized
landmarks on the way to the Overland
Park bank. The man drove into the drive-
in facility and handed the check to the girl
at the teller’s window. The girl handed
the check back and told him she was not
permitted to cash a check in that amount
at the drive-in window. the man argued
briefly, but the girl was firm and told him
he would have to take it inside and get the
approval of a bank officer.

As they drove away from the drive-in
facility, Mrs. Tanquary told him that if he
would let her go inside she could cash the
check without difficulty. She assured him

~ she would not cause any trouble.

“I can’t take that chance. I'll have to
take you and hold you. We are going to
my apartment,” he retorted.

During the ride, she continued, the
man asked about her children. She told
him she had a son who worked at
Rothchild’s on The Plaza. He asked if her
son could get money for her and she
replied that he could. He asked her other
questions about her son, his age, his wife’s
name, how many children they had and
his address.

They returned to the Ward Parkway
Shopping Center, where the man parked
Mrs. Tanquary’s Lincoln and told her
they would transfer to his car for the rest

of the trip. Without removing the blind-
fold he led her several steps to another
car. Despite the blindfold, she noticed
that the side of it was a bright blue and
that the front seat had a blue, terry-cloth
cover.. The number “440” was inscribed
on the dashboard on the passenger side.

As they drove out of the parking lot
the man asked Mrs. Tanquary if he could
reach her son at work. She gave him a
number for the Plaza store .and he
stopped at an outside telephone booth to
make a call. The woman said she did not
hear the conversation but assumed he
called her son.

Then the trip resumed, Mrs. Tan-
quary said. When they stopped and got
out of the car she saw a street sign that
said Thirtieth Street and Walnut.

They walked a short distance then
climbed some concrete stairs to a small
landing then went up several more steps.
Doors were opened by the man and they
entered a small apartment consisting of a
living room with a bed, a kitchen and a
bathroom. Mrs. Tanquary said she was
able to see enough under the blindfold to
know that.the apartment had two win-
dows, an arm chair and divan and a small
television set. The walls were beige and
the carpet was brown.

The man turned on a floor fan and the
television set. He cautioned her to speak
in a low voice. He-told her he would not
harm her if she did what he told her. He
said if she wanted to use the bathroom to
tell him and he would lead her to it.



He did not remove the blindfold and
cautioned her to remain quiet. During the
night she was able to doze some, Mrs.
Tanquary said. Late the next afternoon
the kidnaper said he was going to make a
telephone call and that she was going to
go with him. If anyone asked why, he
was leading her he would tell them her
eyes were bad, he said.

They got into the car with the blue
terry-cloth seat again and drove a few
blocks to an outside telephone booth. He
explained to her that he wanted her to say
“Edward, do as the man tells you. I am all
right.” He wanted her to say those exact
words and nothing more, he warned her
as he handed her the telephone.

She talked briefly with her son, Mrs.
Tanquary told the agents, then the man
hung up. A couple of minutes later he told
her he was going to make another call. he
did and then they returned to the apart-
ment. She said she did not hear any of the
second conversation.

About an hour and a half later, she
continued, the man told her he was going
out.

“I don’t want you to say one word and
I don’t want you to move,” he said.

He made her lie on her back and he
tied each leg to a bed post at the foot of
the bed and her wrists to the head posts.
He placed a roll of clothinher mouth and
taped it shut so she couldn’t make a
sound. He indicated that someone would
be watching her and then he left the
apartment.

Thirty minutes later he was back. He
untied her and removed the gag but left
the blindfold in place. he got her a drink
of water and said he was going to count
the money. If it was all there, he added,
she would soon be going home.

Less than an hour later heled her from
the apartment again and put her in his car.
They drove south for a while, then
. stopped. He helped her out of the car and
told her to stand still for five minutes
before removing the blindfold. Then he
drove away, she said.

Mrs. Tanquary said she waited a few
minutes, then removed the blindfold and
walked to the dress shop to call her son.
Within minutes the FBI met her and took
her home.

She told agents she was certain the
apartment building was in the general
vicinity of Thirtieth and Walnut Streets
and she thought she could find it. Again
she assured the agents that she felt fine
despite what she’d been through.

Two FBI men, Detective Ron Grove
of the Overland Park police, Mrs. Tan-
quary and her son drove to the Kansas
City midtown area to search for the
building. As they drove around the
neighborhood Mrs. Tanquary pointed to
a red brick building at Thirtieth Street
and Grand Avenue. It was the building
where she was held captive, she said. It
was a block east of Thirtieth and Walnut
where Mrs. Tanquary saw the sign.

Mrs. Tanquary also saw a gray house

A

trailer she recalled seeing when she was
taken out of the apartment. She counted
the concrete steps leading to the landing

and then on up to the door of the apart-’

ment in the building at Thirtieth and
Grand and said they were the same.

“I'm positive it's the building,”
told agents.

Mrs. Tanquary was driven home and
other agents were called to the scene. By
now it was 11:30 p.m., about three hours
after Mrs. Tanquary was released.

Agents John Cannon and John Toale
awakened the manager of the apartment
building and asked about the occupant of
the apartment at the front of the building
near the door. The manager said the
apartment which was 104 was rented
June 4th to a man she knew as William
Douglas. He said he expected to be
transferred soon and paid his rent in ad-
vance.

she

She described Douglas as about five
feet 10 inches tall, 180 pounds, 50 years
old. He wore horn-rimmed glasses, she
said. The manager’s description of the

- furnishings in apartment 104 correspond-

ed with the description given early by
Mrs. Tanquary. No one was in the apart-
ment at the time, the agents determined.

At 11:50 p.m. the apartment building
was staked-out by FBI agents and Kansas
City police officers. At 11:10 a.m. the
agents observed a man matching
Douglas’s description approaching the
building from the south.

When the man walked up the steps to
Apartment 104 agents converged on him.
He was asked if he was William Douglas.
The man replied that he was and the
agents told him he was under arrest. He
was searched and a “panther” knife with a
5-inch blade and a wad of currency was
found.

In looking through his wallet agents
found identification cards in the name of
Donald Ellsworth Durns. The suspect,
however, insisted that his name was
Douglas.

Meanwhile, an agent had contacted
the FBI office and read the serial
numbers from the thirty-two $20 bills
taken from the man’s pocket. The serial
numbers matched numbers on the list of
bills included in the ransom package!

The suspect was taken to police head-
quarters, where his identity was establish-
ed through fingerprints as Donald
Ellsworth Durns, 49 years old. He was
booked into the Jackson County Jail.

Apartment 104 was kept under sur-
veillance for the remainder of the night.
The following morning agents obtained a
search warrant from Calvin K. Hamilton,
United States Magistrate.

Upon entering the apartment, agents
found a large cardboard box in the corner
of the apartment with a throw rug over it.
The rug was removed and under it were
two blue bank bags from the Johnson
County National Bank containing
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the packets of paper currency.

The money was counted. There was
exactly $20,000. The serial numbers
matched the list made at the bank. In-
cluding the $640 taken off Durns when he
was arrested $20,640 of the ransom was
now accounted for.

Agents also found six boxes of .30-30
shells, a hundred .38 caliber shells, and six
12-gauge shotgun shells. They also found
pieces of rope still tied to the bed posts
and a piece of cloth later determined to
be the gag stuffed in Mrs. Tanquary’s
mouth when the kidnaper left to pick up
the ransom. ;

Mrs. Tanquary was taken to the apart-
ment by agents and confirmed thatit was
where she was held. She walked around
the room pointing to various items she
remermbered.

Meanwhile, an agent checking Durns’
police record at headquarters came
across some intriguing information. A
year before, Durns was charged in con-
nection with an assault and rape on two
women. One of them, Terri Saunders,

was identified as Durns’ girl friend. The
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charges subsquently were dropped when
the women declined to prosecute.

The agent drove to the address listed
on the police report for Mrs. Saunders.
He wasn’t sure what he expected to learn
from the woman but it proved, indeed, to
be a worthwhile trip.

The first thing he encountered was a
1970 white-over-blue Dodge 4-door
parked at the rear of the apartment.

The agent recognized it as similar to
the car Agent McKenzie observed enter-
ing and leaving the McGilley parking lot
the night before. McKenzie was con-
tacted and joined the agent at the apart-
ment. He immediately recognized it as
the vehicle believed driven by the kid-
naper. The front seat had a blue terry-
cloth cover just as Mrs. Tanquary
remembered.

Next the agents interviewed Mrs.
Saunders. This, too, provided some sur-
prises. She acknowledged that she was
Durns’s girl friend and that they had lived
together on several occasions. She told
the agents that Durns originally bought
the 1970 Dodge himself but later sold it to
her. However, he continued to use it
whenever he wanted to, she added.

And, it had been in his possession on
July 8th and 9th, the days Mrs. Tanquary
was held captive. Abnout 9 o’clock the
previous night (about 40 minutes after
Mrs. Tanquary was released) Durns came
to the cocktail lounge where Mrs.
Saunders worked. He told her to hide the
Dodge back of her apartment. He also
told her there was a .357 magnum
revolver under the front seat that he
wanted her to hide. In addition to that he
gave her a valuable diamond ring, the
woman said. ‘

“Do you have the gun and the ring
now?” an agent asked.

Mrs. Saunders got the revolver out of
a closet and handed it to the agents. She
took the ring from her purse. It appeared
to be identical to the ring Mrs. Tanquary
said the kidnaper took off her finger.

Mrs. Saunders told the agents she was
deathly afraid of Durms. He had a violent
temper and had beaten her on several oc-
casions, she said.

But even that was not the last informa-
tion to come from Mrs. Saunders. Later
that afternoon she called the FBI office
and said that she just found $980 in her
purse. She recalled that while Durns was
in the lounge the night before he had gone
through her purse looking for a cigarette.
She assumed that he put the money in it
then. '

The serial numbers were checked
with the ransom list and matched. With
this money a total of $21, 620 of the $22 -
000 ransom had been recovered.

On January 10, 1977, Durns went on
trial for kidnaping before a jury and
Judge William R. Collinson in the United
States District Court in Kansas City. The
government’s case, under the skillful

handling of J. Whitfield Moody, first
Assistant U.S. Attorney, unfolded
without a flaw. .

Moody’s first witness was Ethel Tan- .
quary. She told the jury about the abduc-
tion and subsequent release when theran-
som was paid. Moody handed her the dia-
mond ring Mrs. Saunders said Durns gave
her the night the ransom was paid.

“Have you ever seen this ring before?”
Moody asked.

Mrs. Tanquary replied that it was the
ring the kidnaper took from her finger
soon after she was abducted.

She was followed on the witness stand
by her son. He described the telephone
calls and theransom drop. Federal agents
testified about the preparation of theran-
som and the arrest of Durns. Mrs.
Saunders was called as a government
witness and told about Durns telling her
to hide the Dodge and the magnum
revolver.

Moody produced one surprise
witness—an attractive young woman
who identified Durns as the man who had
attempted to kidnap her from a shopping
center parking lot in Prairie Village on
June 28, 1976.

The woman said she was grabbed by
a man as she started to get in her car. He
told her she was being kidnaped. He held
the gun to her temple threatening to shoot
her if she continued to struggle, the girl
testified.

However, she said, sherefused to give
in and finally eluded his grasp. He ran
to a white-over-blue 1970 Dodge and
fled the parking lot. The incident
was reported to the Prairie Village police
but the man’s identity remained a
mystery until the arrest of Durns July 10th
on the kidnaping charge. The police
became interested in him because of the
Dodge car and the M.O. The girl was
shown a photograph of Durns by the
police and she said it was the man who
attempted to abduct her on June 28th.

“And do you see that man in the cour-
troom today?” Moody inquired.

“Yes, that’s him sitting right there,” the
young woman said pointing to Durns.

On January 12, 1977, after
deliberating only 20 minutes, the jury
found Durns guilty on the kidnaping
charge. The defendant, seated at a
counsel table with his court-appointed at-
torney, showed no emotion when the ver-
dict was read.

Judge Collinson deferred imposition
of sentence pending a pre-sentence in-
vestigation.- Durns now is in custody
awaiting a sentence which carries a max-
imum penalty of life imprisonment. ¢ ¢ ¢

EDITOR’S NOTE:

Terri Saunders is not the real name
of the person so named in the forego-:
ing story. A fictitious name has been
used because there is no reason for
public interest in the identity of this
person.




Beauty’'s Murder
In the Orange Grove

(Continued from page 37)

much, for there had been no question of
walking home from her last date.

Lieutenant Garner G. Brown arrived
from Headquarters with instructions for
Tex Hannon to proceed to the Altadena
address, and the deputy took off at once.

Deputy Howard L. Achenbach, arriv-
ing at the same time from downtown, met
Hannon at 1:30 p.m. in front of the trim
white stucco house that stood behind a
well-kept lawn and shrubbery at 434
West Marigold. Reporters and
cameramen had preceded them and were
standing in the street.

“There’s a lady and a boy in there,”
one of the newspapermen told the
deputies, “but they won'’t let us in!”

Receiving no answer to their ring at
the front door, the officers went around
to the back. The frightened occupants of
the house took that chance to slip out the
front and dash away in a car that had
stood with motor running in the
driveway.

Hannon and Achenbach caught up
with them a few blocks away, and show-
ed their badges.

“We thought you were reporters!” ex-
plained the woman, who identified
herself as a neighbor of CoraMoore. “We
don’t want to talk to reporters!”

Taking the woman and the agitated
boy in their official car, the deputies
succeeded in eluding the press con-
tingent, and parked on a quiet road to get
the story.

The boy was the son of the murdered
beauty. It developed that he and the
neighbor hadn’t yet realized that Cora
Moore was dead; they knew only that she
hadn’t come home,. and the neighbor
thought Cora must be in “some trouble,”
and had wanted to avoid publicity.

“When did you last see her?” Hannon
asked.

Young Moore supplied the informa-
tion. “Last night, Sunday night, about9 or
9:30. She was going out with some man. I
don’t know who it was, but she said they
were going to Ear] Carroll's, over in
Hollywood. I was asleep when they left.”

After a few more probing queries, the
sheriff’s men broke the tragic news. The
boy took it in numbed silence, but the
woman broke into sobs. “I knew it!” she
cried. “I could feel it coming! I warned
Cora time and again not to go out so
much, to run around with so many
different people, some of them she hard-
ly knew!”

The officers pricked up their ears. But
when the woman calmed down and was
able to answer their questions in a choked
voice, it turned out that she had no par-
ticular suspect in mind as the killer. It was

simply that she had felt her socially-
minded friend was courting trouble by
her way of life.

Cora Ethel Moore, the deputies learn-
ed, was a widow. Her late husband had
left her fairly well-fixed financially, and
she had augmented her modest capital by
wise investments and occasional
speculations. She owned several pieces of
income property and had been proud of
the fact that her own security and the
boy’s college education were assured.

The picture the officers built up in
their minds was that of an independent

_and strong-willed young widow, capable

of taking care of herself. She had handled
most of her own business affairs, the
neighbor said. In addition, she was a
woman of restless energy which turned to
social activity and night life.

“Cora often used to say she never
wanted to get married again,” the woman
told the investigators, “but there was
always some man, or a couple of them, in
the background. She was even engaged a
few months ago, but broke it off.”

Could she name any of Cora’s boy
friends? Well, there was that elderly army
major and the young navy lieutenant and
the handsome doctor, all of whom had
wooed her ardently and tried to induce
her to marry them. But that was more
than a year ago, and Cora’s friend was
sure none of these had been around since
that time. There was a middle-aged
real estate man to whom she had been
engaged for a couple of months—his
name was Will—but he, too, seemed to
have gone with the wind. Cora’s latest
flame, as far as the informant knew, was a
young college student named Harvey,
who had been calling for her every
few days.

Young Moore was a bit more specific.
He knew the young student, Harvey, and
didn’t like him. “He was too young for
mother,” the boy said sternly. He didn’t
know Harvey’s last name, but knew that
his mother had met him through Harvey’s
activities as a budding actor with the
Pasadena Community Playhouse.

On the other hand, the boy gave his
okay to middle-aged “Uncle” Will, his
mother’s former fiance. He didn’t know
Will’s last name; he thought it began with
a K. Uncle Will had been a soldier in
World War I and used to tell tales of his
adventures in the trenches. He had
sometimes taken the boy riding along
with Cora and himself.

It was true that Mrs. Moore had
severed their engagement a month or so
ago, and given him back his ring, but she
still saw Uncle Will frequently. They
were in some business deals together, the
boy thought. In fact, only last Thursday
they’d driven over to Yuma, Arizona to

look at some ranch property they were-

thinking of buying together.

Then there was Cora’s former
boarder, Edgar Ponty, who had been a
close confidant of hers and who still
dropped around occasionally for dinner.
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There were two or three other recent
escorts whom he didn’t know; but these
were the principal ones. And he couldn’t
name anyone with whom she had had
trouble, or of whom she had expressed
fear. The fun-loving young widow had
seemed to get along fine with everyone.

- The boy didn't know with whom his
mother had gone out Sunday night.
Before kissing him goodnight she had
mentioned only that “we” were going to
Earl Carroll’s, and that she’d bring him
back a souvenir menu from the famous
Sunset Boulevard theatre-restaurant. She
had added that another couple was going
to join “us.”

He had gone to bed a little after 9
o’clock, as Cora was putting the finishing
touches to her careful coiffure. He had an
indistinct recollection of hearing voices
and laughter as he was falling off to sleep.

When his mother turned up missing in
the morning, and he saw that her bed had
not been slept in, he had decided to stay
home from school, and had gone over to
the neighbor’s house to ask her advice.
She came home with him and started
telephoning Cora’s friends, and the next
thing they knew, the horde of insistent
newsmen had descended upon them.

Tex Hannon relayed this information
to the Hall of Justice, where Captain J.
Gordon Bowers had taken over the desk

of Inspector Penprase, who had gone out .
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to the murder scene to direct operations.
Bowers carefully noted down the names
and other information on the slain
widow’s suitors.

“You fellows try and dig up this Uncle
Will,” he decided. “I’ll send out another
team to look up Harvey. Harvey looks
good to me, but meanwhile maybe the
older man can tell us something. And I'll
check on Earl Carroll’s, too.”

Driving back to Marigold Street, the
deputies checked with a couple of other
neighbor women who had known the
murdered beauty well, but were unable
to learn Uncle Will's full name or address.
All spoke highly of him. They described
him as a goodlooking, mild-mannered
man of about 55, of medium stature; with
wavy gray hair and merry blue eyes, a
meticulous dresser; he was understood to
be a well-to-do real-estate man who had
recently come to California from Arizona
to seek investments for his retirement,
and he had been advising Cora Moore
about her business affairs.

Finally, after securing permission
from the slain woman’s Los Angeles at-
torney, whose name the original neighbor
informant supplied, the sheriff’s men
searched through the neatly arranged
business and personal papers in Cora’s
desk till they came upon a clue.

“Here’s a stack of letters and
telegrams, about real estate matters, all

" recent date, signed ‘Will;” Howard

Achenbach announced. “Some from
Phoenix, Tucson, Yuma, San Bernard-
ino, Barstow—and here’s what we're
looking for.”

A dozen recent envelopes bore the

_return address of a motel near Santa Anita

Park. There was no name, only the initials
“W. F. K.,” but it was enough. The two
deputies grabbed their hats and headed
out for the motel, a popular and well-
known establishment between Altadena
and Claremont.

There the manager readily identified
Uncle Will as William Francis Kline, 52
years old, who was a permanent guest,
having occuped Cabin Number 8 for
almost six months. The manager hadn’t
seen Kline around since Saturday, but this
wasn't unusual, for, he explained, the
real-estate man was often away for
several days or a week at a time, his
business interests taking him to various
points throughout Southern California
and Arizona.

The motel man opened the door of
Cabin 8, and they looked in to confirm
that Kline was out. Everything was in
apple-pie order in the neat, masculine
cubicle, redolent of good tobacco and
shaving lotion. Several good suits hung in
the closet, and a suitcase stood in the cor-
ner.
Itdidn’tlook as though Kline had gone
away for very long, and the manager
thought he would surely be back by
dinner time. But when the detectives im-
pressed him with the urgency of locating
Kline as soon as possible to see what light

he might be able to shed on the murder,
he suggested they talk to agarage manin
downtown Pasadena, who was a friend of
Kline’s and might know where he had
gone.

So there the dogged deputies headed,
after checking in once more with Captain
Bowers.

Meanwhile other phases of the in-
vestigation were going forward. At the
murder scene, Inspector Penprase and
Lieutenant Brown headed a crew that
carefully searched every square foot of
the orange groves and road for 100 yards
around the corpse, but found no further
clue.

No footprints of any value could be
distinguished in the wetloam. But Lieute-
nant Fred Wolfe of the Criminological
Laboratory succeeded in getting a good
plaster cast as well as photographs of the
faint tire tracks in the sand, which showed
that an automobile, northbound toward
Foothill, had stopped near where the
handbag had been found, then turned
around and headed south toward U. S.
Highway 60-70.

U ~ hen nothing further could be
learned at the scene, the body wasremov-
ed to the Todd Mortuary in Pormono for
autopsy. Penprase left a pair of deputies
to canvass the ranch homes up and down
Mountain Avenue, on the chance that
someone might have seen or heard
something suspicious during the night.

Inspector W. J. Hunter and Captain
Walter H. Hoskins meanwhile had sped
out to the Pasadena Community
Playhouse to get on the track of young
Harvey. Through his description and the
drama group’s records, they quickly
identified him as Harvey Glenn, aspiring
actor and student of the arts. Head-
quarters gave him, as well as Will Kline, a
clean bill of health as far as police records
went.

They ran Glenn to earth at the college,
where he was in the middle of an after-
noon class. Much to his bewilderment
and embarrassment, the tall, weedy
youth with a crop of unruly blond hair
was called into the dean’s office to be in-
terviewed by the detectives.

Harvey shook his head helplessly
when they asked him what he knew about
Cora. He had not seen her since Fri-
day, he said. He had spent Sunday night
studying in his room, for an early-
morning examination. His roommate
could confirmit. He didn’t know with
whom she had been planning to go to Earl
Carroll’s.

He had no idea who could have
wanted to kill the beautiful widow. Yes,
he knew Will Kline, and knew Cora had
been engaged to him. In fact, Kline con-
sidered that young Harvey had come
between them, and on their last meeting
had refused to speak to the youth. “But
that wasn’t true. I didn’t come between
them. Cora had already decided she
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didn’t want to marry him.”

Advising the worried student to hold
himself available for further questioning,
Hunter called Headquarters with this
latest information, and then he and
Hoskins headed out to check up on
Glenn’s alibi.

_ Inthe meantime Penprase, Brown and
Hopkinson had gone over to Altadena,
where the murdered woman’s attorney
and a number of her relatives and friends
had arrived at the Marigold Street house,
all eager to supply what information they
could to the authorities.

The sheriff’s men quickly got on the
trail of Edgar Ponty, Cora Moore’s
former boarder, and Brown and Hopkin-
son located him at his job inPasadena. He
had just read about the murder, and his
reaction was an odd mixture of shocked
grief and bitter belligerence. His infor-
mation out to be vital. /

“If you want to know who killed her,
look for that Will Kline! He's no good. I
told her so, but he had her fooled, him
and his smooth talk.”

Kline, whom Cora had first met that
summer in a real estate deal, had im-
pressed the well-to-do widow with the
idea that he was a wealthy man and had
only her best interests at heart, according
to Edgar Ponty, and was constantly
trying to get her to let him manage all her
affairs.

Ponty had done some digging into

Kline’s past on his own account. “He
hasn’t got a biscuit,” the man assured the
attentive officers. “He’s nothing but a
bum. He claims he was shell-shocked in
the war, and he gets a little pension. He
used to live with his father in Tucson. He
caem out here with a few hundred bucks
he’d borrowed, and started dabbling in
real estate, on a shoestring without evena
state license. Then he met Cora, and she
fell for his big front. .

“Those telegrams and letters from all
over—I checked on them. Half the time
he was never in those places! he was
holed up over in his motel, broke. He had
friends of his mail the letters and send the
telegrams, just to impress her. And that
fake holdup was his biggest gag. Don’t
you know about that? He really put that
one over!”

A couple of months before, while
Kline and Cora were engaged, Ponty dis-
closed, Kline had announced one day that
he had been held up in the parking lot
behind his bank and robbed of $2,500 he
had just cashed in dividend checks. The
trusting widow volunteered to tide him
over till his next checks should come.

“The last time I talked to her, she said
they’d had a terrible fight over her going
out with that young fellow, Harvey. Kline
told her: ‘If I can’t have you, no man can!’
She thought he was really desperately in
love with her and she was afraid to break
it off for good. She was trying to let him

down easy. But for my dough, he was just
out after her bank account!”

Lieutenant Brown hastened to call the
Pasadena Police Department to check
the $2,500 “holdup” report. Sure enough,
William Francis Kline had filed such a
report on September 15th. He had chang-
ed his story several times, and the
Pasadena detectives hadn’t taken much
stock in it—especially after they found
that he hadn’t cashed any $2,500 in checks
at the bank, where he had a balance of
$45. His amended story then was that he
was robbed as he was going to deposit the
cash he had in his wallet.

And Brown learned that Tex Hannon
had called Pasadena headquarters just a
few minutes before, to check on the same
matter.

Hannon and Achenbach had located
the man who knew Kline. He hadn’t seen
the real-estater since Friday, but he
believed Kline might have gone to Tuc-
son, Arizona, where his elderly father was
ill. The man had at first assumed the of-
ficers wanted to talk to Kline in connec-
tion with the reported holdup. He con-
fided that he didn’t take much stock in the
story, and thought Will had fabricated it
“to impress that rich widow he’s been
buzzing.” The man added that Will owed
him $50. .

" When Hannon called the Altadena
house from the parking lot, Penprase
filled him in on the new development and
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had one order for him: “Get Will Kline’s
license number, and get it fast! We want
to put out a pickup for him. He drives a
green Lafayette coupe, the Moore boy
says, but nobody here knows the
number.”

The friend didn’t know the number.
Hannon phoned the motel, but the
manager couldn’t find it on record.

Then the friend had an idea. “Say, 1
remember that Will said he was getting a
loan on his car at the bank here, about a
month or so back. They ought to have the
number!”

Hannon and Achenbach hurried to the
bank, which had already closed for the
day, and caught the manager just as he
was about to leave. They hit the jackpot.
Yes, Will Kline had mortgaged his 1937
green Lafayette for $200—the first pay-
ment was already delinquent, and his in-
surance policy had been canceled for
nonpayment of $6. The license number
~ appeared on the papers: 1944 California
license 1X4-623. The mortgage applica-
tion also listed his closest relative, living in
Tucson.

In a few minutes an all-points bulletin
over the signature of Sheriff Eugene W.
Biscailuz was crackling out over the state-
wide police teletype and radio system
and being relayed to other western states.

Hannon and Achenbach sped back to
the motel, spurred by the uncomfortable
knowledge that the suspected killer had
at least a 12-hour start on them. They
searched through his belongings, hunting
for a picture of him. Such a picture was
urgently needed in the manhunt, for up to
now they had nothing but a vague
description, and Penprase had already in-
formed them that there was no picture of
Kline among Cora Moore’s effects.

They found no picture, but they
riffled through correspondence that gave
leads to a dozen friends and business
clients of the wanted man. The deputies
hit the telephone, and soon filled in a
more graphic picture of William Francis
Kline, the man with the million-dollar
front.

He was in desperate straits for money,
it appeared. The lawmen had already
learned that he was a month behind in his
rent at the motel, and now they found that
he was being threatened with a suit for
failing to keep up payments on a piece of
property he had purchased. Apparently
what Edgar Ponty said was true—Will
Kline literally hadn’t a biscuit, living
by his wits between pension checks.

Several friends were able to shed light
on his. character. The Veterans Ad-
ministration in Arizona, the deputies
were told, had tabbed him as a psy-
chopathic case. In addition to his con-
firmed habit of grandiose lying and
boasting, his deceptively mild and af-
fable manner belied the fact that he was
given to flying into violent rages when
anyone crossed htm or things didn’t go his
way.

It appeared that the worldly-wise
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widow Moore had really stepped into
something when she took up with the
benevolent “financial adviser.”

When they finally returned to the Hall
of Justice late that afternoon, the weary
sleuths found a number of new reports on
file.

The coroner’s surgeon reported that
CoraMoore had been killed instantly by a
.38 revolver bullet fired through her brain
at close range. he estimated death at
sometime between 2 and 4 a.m.

A check with Earl Carroll's had
produced nothing. None of the nightclub
staff recalled the auburn-haired beauty
with the artificial blue delphinium. In-
quiry among her friends for the “other

couple” supposed to have joined herand

her escort for the evening at Carroll's was
equally fruitless.

On the other hand, Harvey Glenn’s
alibi checked out and put him completely
in the clear, as did that of Edgar Ponty
and a couple of other male acquaintances
Captain Bowers had investigated.

The day wasn’t yet over for Tex Han-
non and Howard A chenbach. Since they
had already gained the confidence of
young Moore, they were told to go out
and interview him further at the lawyer’s
home in Altadena, where he had been
taken for the night.

Their second talk with the sleepy boy,
whose dark-shadowed eyes bore traces
of weeping, proved a gold mine. Did Un-
cle Will own a gun? Yes, he nodded readi-
ly. Will had a .38 revolver, one that broke
open in the middle, that he had bought
just recently “for protection,” after he
reported the “holdup” in the parking lot.
He'd shown it to the boy and his mother,
and he carried it in the glove compart-
ment of his car.

Did the lad know of any picture of
Uncle Will? Yes, indeed! He had taken a
reel with his own little 8-milimeter movie
camera, on an outing the three had taken
that summer to Big Bear Lake, and it in-
cluded several good shots of Uncle Will.
The boy told the eager deputies where
the reel could be found in his room at
home.

He added a macabre bit of informa-
tion: once when they had been driving
through the orange groves near Clare-
mont, and Cora remarked on how
beautiful the country was, Kline had com-
mented with a grim chuckle that

ANSWER TO THE CRYPTOGRAM
(Puzzle on page 57)

THE ILL-CONCEIVED NOTION THAT REHARILITATION
OF CRIMINALS SHOULD BE STRESSED OVER
PUNISHMENT HAS PRODUCED THE GREATEST
CRIME WAVE IN HISTORY.

Bluebeard Watson, the notorious mass
murderer of the 1920s, had buried several
of his butchered brides among those very
orange trees.

This information wasn’t quite
correct—W atson had preferred to dig his
graves out in the desert—but Cora didn’t
know the difference. The conversation
had stuck in her mind, and later she had
twitted Uncle Will about his grisly store
of information, calling him “Bluebeard”
and remarking, “After all, I know nothing
about your past. Maybe you've
butchered a dozen wives of your own out
there.”

On the trip to Big Bear, they had
stopped to visit a man in a barber shop in
San Bernardino, whom Uncle Will had in-
troduced as his best friend.

Coming away from the interview
more positive than ever of Will Kline’s
guilt, Hannon and A chenbach stopped by
the silent house on Marigold Street,
secured the precious little roll of movie
film and took it to the crime lab, to have
enlarged prints made of the suspect’s pic-
ture.

A score of deputies and police were
staken out at various places where Will
Kline might be expected to show up, but
the night passed without a report from
any quarter on him or his old green car.

In the morning, further incriminating
information was forthcoming. Pasadena
police located the sporting goods shop
where Kline had purchased the gun, a .38
Harrington & Richardson. They also
found a pawnshop where he had later
pawned both the gun and the unwanted
engagement ring, redeeming them only
the previous Wednesday. He had just
received his pension check at that time,
and possibly felt he needed the two
pledged articles as tools of his trade.

Hannon and Achenbach picked up
the son, who by this time had become an
eager young manhunter, and drove out
the valley to San Bernardino, where the
boy unerringly pointed out the barber
shop. .

The barber confirmed that he had
known Will Kline for many years. Hehad
last seen Kline late Thursday night, when
Will had dropped in at his home with
Cora on their way back from Yuma. Will
had proudly introduced the beautiful
widow as his “future wife.” She seemed
embarrassed but didn’t say anything.

“He said he had to go to Tucsonina
few days to see his sick father, and he was
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trying to get Mrs. Moore to elope with
him. He said they’d send me a card from
Tucson. As they wereleaving, he took me
aside and borrowed $5 from me, for gas.”

When by mid-afternoon there was still
no report on Will Kline, it seemed certain
that he had made good his escape from
California, and the FBI entered the hunt
for him.

Sheriff Biscailuz issued a new all-
points bulletin, this time adding that the
killer suspect was believed to have head-
ed for Tucson. He telephoned Pima
County Sheriff Ed Echols at the southern
Arizona city to be on the alert.

Another tense night passed, with Kline
still eluding the dragnet. Early the next
morning, the second day after the
murder, Sheriff Biscailuz and Inspector
Penprase decided a good bet was direct
action to pick up the cold trail. They dis-
patched Tex Hannon and Howard
Achenbach to Arizona, equipped with
photos of the elusive suspect, a photo and
plaster cast of the tire mark found at the
murder scene, and names and addresses
of Kline’s family and friends in the ad-
joining state.

r.[‘heir first stop was the border check-
ing station of the Arizona Commission of
Agriculture and Horticulture at
Ehrenberg. They explained their mission,
and Inspector Curtis Fortner handed
them the sheets listing eastbound cars that
had passed through for the past two days.

Sure enough, Will Kline’s green
Lafayette, 1X4-623, was listed as having
gone through the checking point at 3:30
a.m., Mountain Time, on Monday the
20th. The California deputies did a
double-take when they noted the time.
“Three-thirty in the morning! Two-thirty,
our time! But the coroner says Mrs.
Moore was killed between two and four
a.m.! It’s just about 200 miles from Clare-
maont to here. Unless he had wings on his
car— " Tex Hannon scratched his head.

“The coroner could be wrong, with
her lying out there on the wet ground, and
all that,” Achenbach pointed out. “Those
estimates are just rough, anyway. Let’s
say she was killed around 10 or 10:30 Sun-
day night. He could have made it over
here in four hours.”

“Could be,” Hannon agreed. “That
might fit in better, too. It'd mean she was
shot a little while after leaving home, and
they didn’t go to Earl Carroll’s at all. But
all the same, if this goes totrial, I'd hate to
be the D.A., battling this tricky time ele-
ment in court!”

Late that afternoon the roving detec-
tives arrived in Phoenix, some 400 miles
from Los Angeles, and immediately they
hit pay-dirt. The suspect’s friend told
them that Will had dropped in at 8 o’clock
Monday morning and borrowed $2.

“I'minajam inL. A.,” thehunted map
said. “I'm going to Tucson. I'm tired. I've
been driving all night. I think I'll leave my
car here and grab a bus!”
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The Los Angeles sheriff’s men made
the rounds of Phoenix garages and park-
ing lots, and at one garage found the old
green Lafayette coupe standing cold and
forlorn. It had been left there late Mon-
day afternoon. This was Wednesday. The
attendant positively identified Will Kline
from his picture.

Hannon and Achenbach, after
telephoning this latest information ahead
to Tucson as well as to their own Head-
quarters, went that night to the office of
Maricopa County Sheriff Cal Boies and
enlisted the aid of his technicians in ex-
amining and photographing the car. Then
they piled into bed for a few hours of
sleep.

In the morning the Phoenix lab men
reported that stains on the right door sill
of the green coupe, and on a folded cloth
behind the front seat, were definitely
human blood, and further, that the tires
matched the marks found at the murder
scene.

The case was cinched now: Will Kline
was the killer beyond any doubt. Inspec-
tor Penprase was jubilant when Hannon
telephoned him the news. “Good work!
We'll get a murder warrant out for him
right away! You boys had better chase

over to Tucson as soon as you can, and
keep your eyes open along the way. I'll
phone that sheriff again.”

The two detectives lingered to finish
checking on Kline’s movements in
Phoenix and to wrap up the physical
evidence, with the cooperation of local
Deputies Verne LaMoore and Ernest
Roach. They were just about to take off
on the 120-mile drive to Tucson when the
denouement came, unexpectedly swift
and dramatic.

The telephone rang just as they were
shaking hands with LaMoore and Roach.
It was Sheriff Echols, calling from Tuc-
son. “That Kline fellow you're after—he’s
just shot himself, just as we closed in on
him! He’s still alive, but they don't give
him much chance.”

Hannon and Achenbach burned up
the desert road to the southern town, but
they arrived a few minutes too late. Will
Kline had died in the hospital at 1:30 p.m.,
without regaining consciousness.

The Los Angeles officers talked to the
Tucson lawmen, the story was simple and
grim. Will had appeared at his relative’s
house at dusk Monday evening, travel-

How Nurse’s Aide
Helped Catch Rapist

(Continued from page 31)

She quickly declined the invitation
and tried, unsuccessfully, to persuade
him to leave. He only seemed to become
more aroused. He told her he “intended”
to have sex with her then and there, or else
he would kill her.

She realized then that the intruder
really did have rape on his mind. She
commenced to scream, which didn’t faze
him at all. He simply popped one hand
over her mouth and started strangling her
with the other.

During the scuffle that followed, she .

was thrown to the floor and her face was
ground into the carpet. She blacked out
and regained some consciousness,
enough to realize she was being pulled

from the living room into the bedroom. .

She was tossed onto the bed like a-
sackful of laundry. Then she was
methodically stripped of her clothing un-
til she wasnaked and brutally raped. Dur-
ing this ordeal she lost her senses several
times. When she finally regained full con-
sciousness she found the assailant had
gone.

She started for the living room to use
the telephone. In the walking area
hetween living room and bedroom she
noticed a wrist watch with a broken
band. Miss Lorenzo kicked it aside and
telephoned the Carroboro Police Depart-
ment.

The call was taken by Patrolman
Kenneth Horne and he headed for the

apartment forthwith. He found the vic-
tim with hair disheveled, throat and arms
scratched, and with blood in her eyes.

“What in the world happened?”

Without going into details, Miss
Lorenzo told him. She pointed out the
watch with the broken band and said she
thought her assailant lost it during their
struggle. Horne asked if she knew the
man.

“No, butI gotagoodlook at him. I can
give a full description, and I'll know him
again,” she was quoted.

“Wait just a minute. Let me call the
captain,” the officer said.

Patroliman Horne then called Captain
John Blackwood at the Carroboro police
station. As soon as his squad car could
take himn there, Captain Blackwood was
at the apartment. After a few soothing
words aimed at comforting and calming
the victim, Captain Blackwood started
asking questions.

He soon discovered that Katherine
Lorenzo was a person of determination
with keen powers of observation. She
declared she wanted to prosecute her
assailant, and she gave a good description
of him and his car.

She described his reddish-tinted,
pullover shirt and said he had a medium-
chocolate complexion. His car was green,
with double stripes down the trunk and
hood. She hadn’t noticed him wearing a
watch, but the one she found didn't
belong there so he must have left it.

Captain Blackwood took some notes,
then drove Miss Lorenzo to the emergen-
cy room of the hospital where she work-
ed. There she was examined and treated
by a physician and a surgical nurse. The



stained and near exhaustion. He was far
from the affable, prosperous
businessman role he had played in
Altadena. He refused to go to sleep, and
sat all night fully dressed in the living
room, peering out at the street through
the drawn curtains.

When asked what was the matter, he
snarled, “I’m okay! Just leave me alone. If
anyone asks for me, you haven't seen
me!” When tradesmen and neighbors
came to the door, he hid in a closet, a gun
in his pocket.

Sheriff Echols, preferring to play a
waiting game rather than alert Kline, had
been keeping the little house under sur-
veillance but had cautioned his men not
to approach it.

Finally that morning, Thursday, the
23rd, when his deputies reported that
they were certain the hunted killer was in-
side, the sheriff gave the word to go
ahead.

Undersheriff John Higgins and Police
Detectives James Herron and Fred Com-
acho, armed with shotguns, cautiously
approached the house, while other of-
ficers stood by with tear-gas gunsready.

As the officers stepped onto the porch
and rapped authoritatively on the door,

Kline, inside, gun in hand, cried, “They’ll
never get me!” He ran into the bathroom
and slammed the door, and a moment
later a single shot rang out.

Bursting in, the officers found Will
Kline lying unconscious and bleeding,
mortally wounded, on the bathroom
floor. He had shot himself in the right
temple and the bullet had passed through
his head.

The rest was antic-climactic. Hannon
and Achenbach brought Kline’s .38 back
to Los Angeles with them, and lab tests
proved it to be the same gun that had
killed Cora Ethel Moore. On November
27, 1944, a coroner’s jury formally decid-
ed that Mrs. Moore had died of a gunshot
wound in the head, inflicted by one

*William Francis Kline with homicidal in-

tent. Sheriff’s File-Number A-47220 was
officially stamped “Closed.” XX

EDITOR’S NOTE.:

Harvey Glenn and Edgar Ponty are
not the real names of the persons so
named in the foregoing story. Fic-
titious names have been used because
there is no reason for public interest in
the identities of these persons.

examination corroborated that she had
been ravished.

After
Blackwood asked the victim a few more
questions. Meanwhile, Patrolman Horne
was canvassing her neighborhood for
fragments of information. Then the two
officers started putting together what
they had.

There were not too many green 1971
Mavericks in the area. The number of
men matching the assailant’s description
who would have access to such
automobiles narrowed the field even
more. One of the vehicles belonged to a
woman whose last name was Noell.

C aptain Blackwood knew a great deal
about many people in the Chapel Hill-
Carroboro area. He knew, for instance,
that the woman had a son named Tommy
who fit the attacker’s description very
well.

He knew that Tommy had recently
been working as a vacuum cleaner
salesman. And it didn’t take him all day to
learn that Tommy had a police record. It
included a conviction for criminal assault
the previous May.

It also included a previous conviction
for conspiracy. And on January 6, 1973,
he had been accused of--but never
prosecuted for—forcing a woman named
Laura Morton to have sexual intercourse
with him against her consent. Laura Mor-
ton, like so many such victims, had back-
ed off from prosecuting. :

Captain Blackwood and Patrolman
Horne headed for the Greenway Trailer
Park where young Noell stayed with his

the hospital visit, Captain

wife of two months. Mrs. Noell came to
the door of their trailer and Blackwood
asked where Tommy was.

She said he was in the trailer occupied
by his brother and pointed it out. The of-
ficers started over to the other trailer.
Then Horne noticed a garment fluttering
from a clothesline beside Tommy’y
trailer.

“Look at that,” he said.

It was a dark red pullover shirt, still
wet from having just been washed. Cap-
tain Blackwood confiscated the shirt and
tossed it in his squad car. Then he went on
to the brother’s trailer and took Tommy
Noell into custody.

At the police station he was identified
by the rape victim as her assailant. She
said there was no doubt in her mind; the

attack had occured in broad daylight |

after she looked at him several times; this
was the man.

Captain Blackwood had handcuffed
the suspect for the ride to the police sta-
tion. As he took the handcuffs off he
noticed on Noell's left wrist what
appeared to be the impression of a wrist
watch.

“Where’s your watch?” asked the of-
ficer.

Noell said he’d lost it about a week
or two before. Blggkwood then question-
ed himn about his.activities of the morning,
first giving him his so-called Miranda
rights, then telling him he stood accused
of rape.

Men facing such a charge usually
come up with some sort of exonerating
story. One may claim he is the victim of
mistaken identity. Another will admit
copulation, then claim the woman con-
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] 847 James Street, Syracuse, N.Y. 13203

Gentlemen: Without obligation, send me the *'Blue

Book of Crime,"’ and list of identification Bureaus em-

l ploying your students or'lgraduates, together with
el

your low prices and Easy Terms Offer. No salesman l
will call. l
Name Age l
l Address l
City State Zip |

NOW ... WHOLE LIFE
INSURANCE FOR

BURIAL

EXPENSES

o BEQUESTS
e UNPAID BILLS

NO PHYSICAL
EXAM REQUIRED

Now, if you're between the ages
of 40 and 80, you can apply for
up to $5,000 of burial expense
life insurance without taking a
physical exam. e No waiting
period for benefits to build—
you're fully covered from the
first day. ® Cash and loan values
you can borrow. e Cover the
high cost of final expenses...
leave cash for loved ones, too.
o Send for free details today.
No obligation and no salesmen.

FIDELITY INTERSTATE LIFE
4433 W. TOUHY AVE.—Dept. 05
LINCOLNWOOD, ILL. 60646

This policy is not available in Kansas, Mas-
sachusetts, Nebraska, New Jersey, New
York or West Virginia, nor states in which
the policy or any required advertising ap-
preval has not been granted.




“At last, at last! Someone to talk to!”

TRUE DETECTIVE

sented. Others give yarns that sound
like excerpts from Alice’s Adventures in
Wonderland; they get curiouser and
curiouser as they unfold.

Tommy Noell's response was simple.
He flatly denied knowing anything about
any alleged rape. Then he came up with
an elaborate alibi for his whereabouts
during the entire morning,

On the previous day, Tuesday, he
claimed, he went to the Snelling & Snell-
ing employment agency in Chapel Hill to
seek work. There he was given an ap-
pointment for 9 a.m. that morning at
Bronson’s Tire Company in nearby
Durham.

Early that day, he said, he borrowed
his mother’s car and took her to work.
After that he took some children to a day
care center. Then he headed for the job
interview. On the way to Durham he had
a flat tire. After changing it he went on to
the tire company and waited outside until
it opened for business.

While waiting for the tire store to open
he tried to fix a malfunctioning door on
his mother’s car. Then he went inside to

_see the manager, was interviewed and
filled out a job application and signed it.

He left Bronson’s Tire Company at
9:25 a.m. and drove home. The trip being
18 miles, it took him about 25 minutes. He
helped his wife rearrange some furniture,
then decided to go work on his car, which
was broken down at his mother’s place.

After changing clothes, Noell said, he
went and worked on his car. He knew the
officers had confiscated hisred shirt. But,
he claimed, he didn’t wear it that mor-
ning. For the interview he wore maroon
pants and a flowered button-up shirt.

He professed to be thoroughly sur-
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prised at being accused of rape. Perish
the thought! He had only been out hun-
ting a job. The officers said he sounded so
innocent you would have thought hog
lard wouldn’t melt in his mouth. And he
had that involved story that amounted to
a time table of his every movement.

It was a beautiful alibi. Airtight. The
chronology he had delineated hardly left
time for alascivious thought, much less an
act of forcible rape.

But there was
threatened the alibi.

This was the fact that Captain
Blackwood didn’t believe a damned
word of it. The story was just too, too
elaborate. And therein lay its weakness.
The details made it easy to check. Cap-
tain  Blackwood went first to the

something that

employement agency.

H elocated the employment counselor
who set up the job interview. The
counselor had no way of knowing
whether Noell kept the appointment, but
it had been set up on Monday for Tues-
day, not on Tuesday for Wednesday.

It was several days before the captain
got over to Durham to check that end of
the alibi. By then the tire store manager
couldn’t remember what day Noell came
in to see him. But tileph()ne records
showed that someone™from Snelling &
Snelling had called him on Monday to say
Noell would be coming in, and the ap-
pointinent was for the following day, the
next morning, and that would have been
Tuesday. v

So Noell's beautiful, intricately-
contrived alibi was like unto a straw
basket. Tt didn’t hold water after the 24-

hour discrepancy was uncovered.

In due course, the Orange County
grand jury returned an indictment against
him for raping Katherine Lorenzo. When
he came to trial before Judge Hall it was
at the county seat in Hillsboro.

And then the wrangling and legalistic
nit-picking started. As already stated,
much of it was over jury selection. The
defense attorneys seemed to want a panel
that would almost promise not to impose
the death penalty. Solicitor Pierce
wanted the opposite.

Pierce posed the same question to all
the veniremen. It went: “Would it be im-
possible for you to bring in a verdict that
would require imposition of the death
sentence, even though the state proves by
evidence and beyond a reasonable doubt
the guilt of the defendant?”

One Venireman: “I believeit would.”

Another Venireman: “I'd have to say
ves. In a rape case I couldn’t do it.”

Still another Venireman: “I do not
believe in capital punishment in any
case.”

One by one, those veniremen with
scruples against frying rapists were
weeded out, and each was dismissed for
cause. Adding these conscientious
citizens to those unwilling to convict
because they were acquainted with
Noell's fdmily made jury selection a time-
consutning process. Finally it was over.

But the forensic hair-splitting wasn’t.
Some, of it took place while the
prosec¢utrix was on the stand. She had just
told about Captain Blackwood taking her
to the hospital emergency room. Then—

Solicitor Pierce: “What was the pur-
pose of you going to the hospital?”

Miss Lorenzo: “Because I intended to



prosecute the man that assaulted me, and
it’s necessary, I knew that, to have a
medical examiner confirm what happen-

ed. I also wanted treatment fof other
things. ..

“I had looked in the mirror and saw I
had hemorrhages in my eyes, some
bruises on my arms and back, and there
were some ruptured blood vessels in my
face. I'd had my face rubbed in the rug,
so, I was a mess.”

Solicitor Pierce: “Now, what was that
vou said about your eyes?”

Miss Lorenzo: “Subcutaneous
hemorrhages. The surgical nurse told me
they result from screaming. I don’t know
whether...”

Defense Attorney Epting: “Objection,
your honor!”

Judge Hall: “Objection sustained.”

The objection was to Miss Lorenzo
repeating what the surgical nurse told
her, which made it hearsay evidence,
even though the nurse was scheduled to
testify. The hemorrhages were around
her own eyes, but quoting the nurse as
calling them “subcutaneous” was hear-
say. Such testimony was verboten.

With just such magnificent trivial
technicalities our judicial system is
bloated, but there was to be still more of it
when the surgical nurse took the stand.
She had just been asked what medical
tests were conducted on the victim in her
presence.

Nurse: “There were slides done; surg-
ical secretion, bubble secretion, normal
mal procedure in any normal rape case.”

Lawvyer Epting: “Objection!”

“Judge Hall: “Sustained!”

Apparently the rationale behind this
objection was that an ordinary surgical
nurse wasn't qualified to classify what
had happened as a “normal rape case.” It
wasn't hearsay. She just didnt have
knowledge enough to classify the case, in
the eyes of the law, regardless of how
many she had been involved in. Nor was
she periitted to testify on results of the
examination. That could only be done by
a physician.

And so the trial staggered on through a
miasma of cretinous trivia. Eventually the
state’s evidence was all before the jury. It
was tine for the defense to shine.
Defense Attorney Epting elected to put
the defendant on the stand, maybe
because he thought it was his only chance.
At any rate, Noell testified.

e repeated his elaborate alibi for the
Wednesday morning of the rape. The
employment counselor and tire store
manager were subpoenaed as defense
witnesses to corroborate the story. They
verified Noell's testimony in most
respects. ..

But not on which day he visited the
tire store. Their testimony indicated it
could have been either Tuesday or
Wednesday. Since that part of the alibi
was crucial, the whole thing was still like a
sieve. :

Then Noell’'s wife and mother, in turn,

took the stand in his behalf. They cor-
roborated many details, like the clothing
he wore, having a flat tire, helping move
furniture, taking little children to a day
care center, and so on.

His wife agreed that Captain
Blackwood took one of Noell's shirts
from a clotheésline. But it had not been in-
troduced in evidence, and she claimed
the officer took “a gray, knit” shirt, and
said Noell's dark red “tank shirt” was
packed in a suitcase at the time.

Noell’s mother corroborated
everything he said down to the last
elaborate detail. She even dragged in the
bit about the flat tire by saying she later
found a flat tire in her car trunk. It was
like hearing two versions of the same tune
plaved in different keys.

Enull_\' the testimony was finished
and the lawyers were ready to argue. The
defense attorney didn’t have much to
argue about. He could do little more than
rast aspersions on the thoroughness of
Captain Blackwood’s investigation, then
urge the jurors to believe Noell’s story.

Prosecutor Pierce took the opposition
tack. He emphasized that Noell could
only be in one place at a time, and all the
evidence indicated he was in Durham on
Tuesday, not Wednesday. Pierce
suggested that the testimony of all three
Noells smelled strongly of mendacity.
The defense attorney objected, but Judge
Hall allowed the argument to stand.

It didn't take the jurorslong to buy the
state’s case. After brief deliberations they
found Tommy Noell guilty as charged.
Under the North Carolina laws then in
effect, he had to be sentenced to death,
which Judge Hall did forthwith.

The defense attorneys promptly filed
a writ of appeal to the North Carolina
Supreme Court. It cited 30 allegations of
trial court error. On February 25, 1974,
the high court rejected them all and af-
firmed the verdict.

Tommy Noell then went to Death
Row to be executed. That has not been
done and probably won’t. Lawsimposing
the death sentence in North Carolina are
in limbo, as they are in most of the rest of
the nation, Utah excepted, of course, and
possibly Texas.

Noell’s eventual punishment has not
been spelled out. There will probably be
more legal wrangling before it is. But it is
most unlikely he will very soon again be
cruising the highways of North Carolina,
seeking  either employment or sexual
gratification. (XX

DETECTIVE
TRAINING

HOME STUDY
COURSE

%) Easy home study course prepares

3 men and women for the exciting
and rewarding investigation
profession. SEND NOW FOR FREE
DETAILS about course, lapel pin and diploma.
No salesman wili call.

UNIVERSAL DETECTIVES
EXTENSION TRAINING DIVISION

DEPT.CC P.O. BOX 8180
L UNIVERSAL CITY. CALIF. 91608 J

Pacificlsland girls want men
to correspond with. Exotic, whole-
some girls seek friends, romance,
marriage. For information and
pictures of actual girls waiting for
you NOW, SEND $2 TODAY.

CONTINENTAL PACIFIC

PO Box 3546 — Dept. ODG

Thousand Qaks, CA 91359

NOTICE TO ALL PURCHASERS AND PERSONS IN
POSSESSION OF WEL-DEX ELECTRIC ARC WELDER

The United States Consumer Product Safety Commission
has found that the Wel-Dex Electric Arc Welder presents
substantial product hazard which could cause electric shock,
burns or fires. The Wel-Dex Efectric Arc Welder, manufactured
by Wel-Dex Welder Mifg. Co., was sold primarily by mail order
from 1968 to 1974, All persons in possession of a Wel-Dex
Electric Arc Welder, purchased during this period, are advised
to immediately stop using the product. The manufacturer has
been ordered to replace the product with a substitute whose
design has been approved by the Commission or to refund
the purchase price in percentages based on the period of
possession and use of the product. Due to potentially limited
assets, replacement or refunds may only be made on a first-
come, first-serve basis. For further information, concerning
the return of the product and the requirements for obtaining
a refund, call or write the United States Consumer Product
Safety Commission, Washington, D.C. 20207, toll free number
800-638-2666 or write Wel-Dex Welder Mig. Co., P.O. Box
10839, Houston, Texas 77018.

EDITOR’S NOTE:

Katherine Lorenzo, Laura Morton
and veniremen Allison and Carter are
not the real names of the persons so
named in the foregoing story. Fic-
titious names have been used because
there is no reason for public interest in
the identities of these persons.

Career of the Future

Earn big money; prepare for scientific depression-
proof career. Fingerprint technicians are in demand by military,
government, FBI, potice, private industry. Home study course
grants certificate on completion. FREE Fingerprint Kit with
course . . . No salesman wilt call. Write for information.

Profeés('sonal Investigators Training School
Dept. , BOX 41345, LOS ANGELES, CALIF. 90041

BACK ISSUE MAGAZINES

VER 200 Titles, 1890 to 1976: Time, Life, Look,
Ebony, Newsweek, Nat’l Geo., Fortune, People,
Esquire, Playboy, Penthouse, Ms., Gourmet, Vogue,
Oui, Photo, Movies, Art, Sports, Sci-Fi, Western, Pulp.
Send stamped env. w/issue date for price & free list.

EVERYBODY'S BOOKSHOP 0% caivorni soo1s
DETECTIVES NEEDED! ¥en.5,

Private investigators, police, security,
military. We havé thousands of satisfied
students & many graduates in highly paid
jobs. Send for FREE information, sample
lesson. Lapel pin & certificate granted.
No salesman will call. Write today to —

PROFESSIONAL INVESTIGATORS, Dept. D
Box 41345, Los Angeles, CA 90041
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Let our staff of professional
songwriters turn your words
into @ song. Send your best

.‘ poems for prompt considera-
tion.

Songs recorded - phonograph records made.

NASHVILLE MUSIC PRODUCTIONS
Box 40001, Studio K , Nash., Tn. 37204
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1 men, women in Accounting, Bookkeeping, ‘NBL.!,"u?nEPF- 4

I Tax Return_ Send for FREE “ACCOUNTING WITH

1 CAREER KIT." Approved for Veterans.
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FREE oy sTaTE L |
B BOOK NORTH AMERICAN SCHOOL OF ACCOUNTING, Dent NBOA7

81




Machiavellian Expert On Human
Behavior Comes Clean About
Hypnosis, Persuasion, And
Mind Control!"

If the thought of true unlimited personal power has ever crossed
your mind... this will be the most important letter you ever read.

For years I've been studying various forms of self improvement,

hypnosis and persuasion. Like you, I've chased the trends - the
latest "Law of Attraction" knockoff, people claiming to have
"inside information” on "secret" hypnosis groups, and all sorts
of other nonsense.



https://elitesocialcontrol.com/

The secret

of teaChlng
yourself .-

music

Why keep depriving yourself of the
thrill of making your own music?

Here’s a pleasant way to learn at
home in spare time. You play simple
familiar tunes right from the start,
then more advanced compositions.

Choose piano, guitar or spinet
organ.

No gimmicks—you learn to read
notes, play regular sheet music.

It really works! Thousands
now play who never could.

f

It may seem odd at first — the idea of teaching yourself music.
You might think you need a private teacher at $4 to $10 per
hour to stand beside you and explain everything you should do
— and to tell you when you’'ve made a mistake.

But surprising as it seems, you need no such thing. Thousands
of people just like you have taught themselves to play with the
U.S. School of Music courses. By mail. And you can too.

With our lessons, you learn to play the right way — by note
from regular sheet music. Without any gadgetry or gimmickry.
And all it costs you is just pennies a‘day.

You don’t need any previous musical training. Our lessons
start you off “from scratch” with clear word-and-picture in-
structions. A lot of the songs you practice first are simple tunes
you've heard many times. And since you already know how
these tunes are supposed to sound, you can tell immediately
when you've “got them right.”

Then you go on to more advanced pieces. By this time you
can tell if your notes and timing are right, even without ever
having heard the songs before. Sooner than you might think
possible, you’ll be able to play whatever kind of music you like.
Folk. Popular. Classical. Show and dance tunes. Hymns.

You learn in your spare time, in the privacy and comfort of
your own home. There’s no one standing over you to make you
nervous. And because you teach yourself, you can set your own
pace. You're free to spend as much time mastering any lesson
as you wish.

How effective are the lessons? Ask Jeffrey Livingston of York,
Pa. “I thought the organ course was excellent,” he writes. “I
knew almost nothing about playing an instrument before I
enrolled. Now I can play not only the organ, but the piano too.
My new music ability has enabled me to play at churches and
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small conventions. I am even considering making music my
career.”

And, Cecelia Feeney of Vineland, N.J. reports: “It’s like a
dream come true. Knowing how to play and read music has
given me new self-confidence.”

If you've ever dreamed of being able to play the piano, the
guitar, or the spinet organ, why not learn more about our con-
venient, economical way to learn? Send for our free booklet
Be Your Own Music Teacher. With it we'll include a free “Note-
Finder.” There’s no obligation. Just mail the coupon to the U.S.
SCHOOL OF MUSIC, A Home Study School Since 1898, 417
South Dearborn Street, Chicago. Illinois 60605.

©1975 U, S. SCHOOL OF MUSIC

m U.S. School of Music, Studio 17-618
& ‘“Home Study School Since 1898.”
417 South Dearborn Street, Chicago, Illinois 60605
I'm interested in learning the secret of teaching myself to play the
instrument checked below. Please send me, FREE, illustrated booklet.
(Free “Note-Finder” included with Piano or Guitar booklet.) I am under
no obligation.
] Guitar {pick style) [J Piano
] Spinet Organ (2 keyboards)
Mr.

Mrs.
Miss

e Age__

(17 OR OVER)

PRINT NAME

Address

City..

3 State Zip
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LOCKSMITH 7.

Train FAST at Home—-Earn While Learning
Get into this booming high-profit business that’s
Easy to learn — Easy to do— Easy on You!

Never before have money-making
opportunities been so great for qualified
Locksmiths. Now, lucrative regular lock
and key business has multiplied a thou-
sandfold as millions seek more protec-
tion against ever increasing crime. Yer
there’s only one Locksmith for every
17,000 people! No wonder the money
can roll in so FAST!

Start collecting cash profits
right away — Up to $12.50 an hour!

You're “‘in business” ready to earn
up to $12.50 an hour a few days after
you begin Belsaw’s shortcut training.
Special tools, equipment and supplies
plus a professional Key-Making Machine
help make your special knowledge bring
in CASH FEES even while learning.
Many students cover the full cost of
their training and SHOW A SUBSTAN-
TIAL PROFIT long before they finish.
So can YOU.

Learn at home this shortcut way

Prepare yourself to take advantage of
this tremendous money-making oppor-
tunity for steady, year-round EXTRA
INCOME in your spare time or financial
independence in a fulltime, high-profit
business of your own. Perfect for retire-
ment! You don’t have to be an expert

—J FREE BOOK

mechanic to be an ace professional in
this field. Once you know Locksmithing
all your worries about a job, more in-
come, layoffs, inflation, recession, too
many bosses will be gone forever.

Yours FREE--A burglar alarm

and security systems course

Not for sale separ-

ately, but included with

your training at No Extra
Cost!

You receive the full
course plus all special =
tools and equipment. In- n
structions and pictures
are so clear you can’t go
wrong. This rapidly expanding field goes
hand-in-hand with Locksmithing. It can
add even more to your profits.

Find out all about it
No Obligation —
NO SALESMAN WILL CALL

Discover what’s in Locksmithing for
YOU. Find out how Belsaw’s Master-
Locksmith Approved training has helped
hundreds of men to EARN MORE -
ENJOY LIFE MORE.

RUSH COUPON TODAY FOR

T0 KEEP!

This Pro Key Machine can alone
add up to $200 a month to your in-
come...and it won’t cost you a penny
extra with your training.

PLUS THESE TOOLS AND MATERIALS ...
ALL YOURS AS PART OF YOUR TRAINING!

o \’*l‘\"“‘\”\lﬁ
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BELSAW IN STITUTE

278B Field Bldg.,Kansas City, Mo.64111

ATED o
P 5,

.

GOMIVN.

2 Accredited Member
& National Home Study Council.
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MAIL THIS COUPON —NO SALESMAN WILL CALL

fBelsaw Started Me Making

Money FAST as a LOCKSMITH L & BELSAW INSTITUTE, 2788 Field Bldg., Kansas City, Missouri 64111 |
%‘,’,t’;‘ :g@"gggaav?;lcjgg?ﬂ:‘ O A amy Spare time |\ vKEYS Please send me free of cost or obligation your publication “Keys to |
raining in America Henry Rivas, Los Angeles, Calif, | TO Your Future” on how Belsaw can train me to quickly make money in |
YOUR Locksmithing and how all tools and Key Machine are given me to |
“1 CLEARED $110 LAST SATURDAY! | am doing a won- o keep. |

derful business thanks to your course in Locksmithing. FUTURE
It's a great business.” N I
R. W. Davis, St. Louis, Missouri. Telis how to ame |

Make Money in
“I HAVE ALL THE LOCKSMITH WORK | CAN HANDLE. Spave Timeor | Address |
Business is so good I'm expanding to fulltime.” Full Time — Al- |
Ed Boyle, Pittsburg, Penna. t from the i _

oyle, Pittsburg, Penna ?tgit. I&Iail Cob- City State Zip I
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pon NOW!









